
Bryant Planning Commission Meeting
Boswell Municipal Complex - City Hall Court Room

210 SW 3rd Street

YouTube: https://www.youtube.com/c/bryantarkansas

Date: April 10, 2023 - Time: 6:00 PM

Call to Order

Approval of Minutes

1. Bryant Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 3/13/2023
• 2023-03-13 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes..pdf

Announcements

Director's Report

DRC Report

2. Butler Center - 1109 N Reynolds

GarNat Engineering - Requesting the Following:

1. Approval of Variance on Side setback and Rear Setback - NO RECOMMENDATION, CONTINGENT UPON REZONING AND SITE

PLAN APPROVALS

2. Approval for Rezoning from R-E to C-2 - NO RECOMMENDATION

3. Site Plan Approval - RECOMMENDED APPROVAL, CONTINGENT UPON VARIANCE AND REZONING APPROVAL

3. Elite Volleyballl Academy - Henry Ave and Christy Ln

GarNat Engineering - Requesting the Following:

1. Approval of Variance on Rear Setback from 75' to 25' - NO RECOMMENDATION, CONTINGENT UPON REZONING AND SITE

PLAN APPROVALS

2. Approval for Rezoning from R-2 to C-2 - NO RECOMMENDATION

3. Site Plan Approval - RECOMMENDED APPROVAL, CONTINGENT UPON VARIANCE AND REZONING APPROVAL

4. 3113 Whispering Oak - Conditional Use Permit

Kelley Tucker - Requesting Approval for CUP for a duplex - RECOMMENDED APPROVAL

5. Pikewood Subdivision Lots 89r & 90r - Conditional Use Permits

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Approval for Two Conditional Use Permits for Duplexes - RECOMMENDED APPROVAL

6. 25300 I-30 N - Conditional Use Permit

Hope Consulting - Requesting Approval for Condtional Use Permit for Self-Storage Facility - NO RECOMMENDATION

https://www.youtube.com/c/bryantarkansas
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/2023-03-13_planning_commission_meeting_minutes-.pdf


7. Home 2 Outparcel - Replat - The Sullivan Place Subdivision Lots 4 & 1

Charlie Best - Requesting Approval for Replat - RECOMMENDED APPROVAL

8. Springhill Grocery - 2725 Springhill Road - Commercial Plat

Ali Hamza - Requesting Plat Approval - RECOMMENDED APPROVAL

9. Wendy's - 2206 N Reynolds - Sign Permit

Action Signs - Requesting Sign Permit Approval - STAFF APPROVED

• 0677-APP-01.pdf

10. Alliance Technical Group - 219 Brown Ln - Sign Permit

Aero Signs - Requesting Sign Permit Approval - STAFF APPROVED

• 0678-PLN-01.pdf

11. Elysian Event - 2102 Brandon Rd - Sign Permit

Arkansas Sign and Neon - Requesting Sign Permit Approval - STAFF APPROVED

• 0696-APP-01.pdf

12. Auto Glass Now - 1814 N Reynolds Road - Sign Permit

Action Signs - Requesting Sign Permit Approval - STAFF APPROVED

• 0697-APP-01.pdf

13. 507 Boone Road - New Office Addition

Jeremy McMillian - Requesting Approval for New Addition to Office Building - APPROVED, Contingent upon Stormwater In-lieu-

of fee being paid

• 0698-APP-01.pdf

14. Bryant Schools - Business Office Additions - 603 School Drive

Terry Harper - Requesting Approval for Addition to Business Office Building - APPROVED, CONTINGENT UPON STORMWATER

IN-LIEU-OF FEE BEING PAID AND FIXING OF CROSSWALK RAMPS AT BOSWELL RD INTERSECTION.

• Bryant Schools - Business Office New Addition.pdf

Public Hearing

15. Butler Center - 1109 N Reynolds - Rezone from R-E to C-2

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Approval for Rezoning from R-E to C-2

• 0686-GRR-01.pdf

• 0686-SignPicture.pdf

• 0686-PNO-01.pdf

• 0686-LTR-01.pdf

• 0686-SRV-01.pdf

• 0686-AFF-01.pdf

16. Elite Volleyballl Academy - Henry Ave and Christy Ln - Rezone from R-2 to C-2

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Approval for Rezoning from R-2 to C-2

• 0694-GRR-02.pdf

• 0694-GRR-01.pdf

• 0694-LST-01.PDF

• 0694-SignPicture.pdf

• 0694-LTR-01.pdf

• 0694-PLT-01.pdf

17. 3113 Whispering Oak - Conditional Use Permit

Kelley Tucker - Requesting Approval for CUP for a duplex

• 0672-NOT-01.pdf

https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0677-app-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0678-pln-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0696-app-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0697-app-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0698-app-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/bryant_schools_-_business_office_new_addition.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0686-grr-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0686-signpicture.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0686-pno-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0686-ltr-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0686-srv-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0686-aff-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0694-grr-02.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0694-grr-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0694-signpicture.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0694-ltr-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0694-plt-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0672-not-01.pdf


• 0672-APP-01.pdf

18. Pikewood Subdivision Lots 89r & 90r - Conditional Use Permits

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Approval for Two Conditional Use Permits for Duplexes

• 0663-PUB-01.pdf

• 0663-AFD-01.pdf

• 0663-PLT-01.pdf

• 0663-NOT-01.pdf

• 0663-LTR-01.pdf

19. 25300 I-30 N - Conditional Use Permit

Hope Consulting - Requesting Approval for Condtional Use Permit for Self-Storage Facility

• 0687-PLN-02.pdf

• 0687-APP-02.pdf

• 0687-APP-01.pdf

Old Business

New Business

20. Home 2 Outparcel - Replat - The Sullivan Place Subdivision Lots 4 & 1

Charlie Best - Requesting Approval for Replat

• 0699-RPLT-01.pdf

21. Butler Center - 1109 N Reynolds Road - Site Plan

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Site Plan Approval

• 0685-ELV-01.pdf

• 0685-PLN-03.pdf

• 0685-SWB-01.pdf

• 0685-MTP-01.pdf

• 0685-SWP-01.pdf

• 0685-SMP-01.pdf

• 0685-LTR-02.pdf

• 0685-LTR-01.pdf

• 0685-AFF-01.pdf

22. Elite Volleyball Academy - Henry Ave and Christy Ln - Site Plan

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Site Plan Approval

• 0693-LND-02.pdf

• 0693-LND-01.pdf

• 0693-PLN-03.pdf

• 0693-SMP-01.pdf

• 0693-SWP-01.pdf

• 0693-PLT-01.pdf

• 0693-LTR-01.pdf

23. Springhill Grocery - 2725 Springhill Road - Commercial Plat

Ali Hamza - Requesting Plat Approval

• 0631-PLT-02.pdf

Adjournments

https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0672-app-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0663-pub-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0663-afd-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0663-plt-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0663-not-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0663-ltr-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0687-pln-02.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0699-rplt-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0685-elv-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0685-pln-03.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0685-swb-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0685-mtp-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0685-swp-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0685-smp-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0685-ltr-02.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0685-ltr-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0685-aff-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0693-lnd-02.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0693-lnd-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0693-pln-03.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0693-smp-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0693-swp-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0693-plt-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0693-ltr-01.pdf
https://www.cityofbryant.com/grab/agendas/uploads/agenda_185/0631-plt-02.pdf


Bryant Planning Commission Meeting Minutes
Monday, March 13th, 2023

Boswell Municipal Complex – City Hall Courtroom
6:00 PM

Agenda
 

CALL TO ORDER

● Chairman Rick Johnson calls the meeting to order.
● Commissioners Present: Johnson, Penfield, Statton, Hooten, Edwards, Arey, Burgess, Erwin
● Commissioners Absent: None

ANNOUNCEMENTS

Birch Street Replat removed from the agenda by applicant, Pikewood subdivision CUP Pulled from agenda
due to not meeting public hearing requirements.

DIRECTOR’S REPORT

No Report

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

1. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 02/13/2023

Motion to Approve Minutes made by Commissioner Statton, Seconded by Commissioner Penfield. Voice

Vote, 8 Yays, 0 nays. None Absent.

Vice-chairman Burgess read the DRC Report.

DRC REPORT

2. Shady Pine Plaza - 2228 Shady Pine Ln

Richardson Engineering - Requesting Approval for Variance on rear and side setbacks, and

Recommendation for Approval of Site Plan. - NO RECOMMENDATION ON VARIANCES,

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL OF SITE PLAN



3. Pikewood Subdivision - Lots 89R & 90R - CUP For Duplexes

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Approval for Conditional Use Permits to Build Duplexes -

RECOMMENDED APPROVAL

4. Birch Street Replat - Lots 10-14 of Sherwood Forest Subdivision

Hope Consulting - Requesting Approval for Replat - RECOMMENDED APPROVAL, Contingent

upon Easement being added to plat

5. Creekside Addition Phase 1 - Lots 83, 84, & Tract C Replat

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Approval for Replat - RECOMMENDED APPROVAL

6. Marketplace East Subdivision Ph. 1 - Preliminary Plat

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Preliminary Plat Approval and Approval on Modification from

Master Transportation Plan. - RECOMMENDED APPROVAL, Contingent upon remaining items

being met.

7. Diamond Estates Subdivision - Modification from Subdivision Code

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Approval For Modification from Subdivision Code on Sidewalk

Requirement for Portion of Street. - NO RECOMMENDATION

8. Indian Springs Baptist Church - 23581 I-30 - Sign Permit

Ace Sign Company - Requesting Sign Permit Approval - APPROVED

9. Wendy's - 2206 N Reynolds - Remodel

LiveCo Construction - Requesting Approval for Remodel - APPROVED, Contingent upon Dumpster

Enclosure being built.

10. Athletico - 3231 Main Street Ste. 3 - Sign Permit

Pinnacle Signs - Requesting Sign Permit Approval - STAFF APPROVED

11. Bryant Schools Admin Building 1511 N Reynolds Road - Parking Lot Addition

Minton Engineering - Requesting Site Plan Approval - APPROVED, Contingent upon remaining

items being addressed

12. Scooter's Coffee - 1816 N Reynolds Road - Sign Permit

Shawn LaMontia - Requesting Approval of Signage - APPROVED

13. Aria Oil C-Store - Hwy 5 And Lowery Ln

Hope Consulting - Requesting Site Plan Approval - APPROVED, Contingent upon remaining items

being met.

14. Summerwood Sports Gym - 4800 Dallas Dr - Sign Permit

Arkansas Sign And Neon - Requesting Sign Permit Approval - STAFF APPROVED



15. Hibbett Sports - 7319 Alcoa Road - Sign Permit

Lumatech - Requesting Sign Permit Approval - STAFF APPROVED

PUBLIC HEARING

16. Pikewood Subdivision - Lots 89R & 90R - CUP for Duplexes

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Approval for Conditional Use Permits to Build Duplexes

Item pulled from agenda for not meeting Public Hearing requirements.

NEW BUSINESS

17. Shady Pine Plaza - 2228 Shady Pine Ln

Richardson Engineering - Requesting Site Plan Approval

After brief discussion on the item, Chairman Johnson Called for a roll call vote to approve. 8 yays,
0 nays, None absent.

18. Birch Street Replat - Lots 10-14 of Sherwood Forest Subdivision

Hope Consulting - Requesting Approval for Replat

Item pulled from agenda by request of applicant.

19. Creekside Addition Phase 1 - Lots 83, 84, Tract C - Replat

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Approval for Replat

After brief discussion on the item, Chairman Johnson Called for a roll call vote to approve. 8 yays,
0 nays, None Absent.

20. Marketplace East Subdivision Phase 1 - Preliminary Plat

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Preliminary Plat Approval and Approval on Modification from
Master Transportation Plan

After brief discussion on the item, Chairman Johnson Called for a roll call vote to approve. 7 yays,
0 nays, None Absent. Commissioner Penfield Abstained from the Vote.

21. Diamond Estates Subdivision - Modification from Subdivision Code

GarNat Engineering - Requesting Approval For Modification from Subdivision Code on Sidewalk
Requirement for Portion of Street and cul-de-sac length



After brief discussion on the item, Chairman Johnson Called for a roll call vote to approve the
Modification on the sidewalk. 8 yays, 0 nays, None Absent. He then called for a vote on the
modification for length of cul-de-sac. 7 yays, 1 nay, None Absent.
Both requests pass.

Commissioner Penfield made a motion to add the Diamond Estates Subdivison Preliminary Plat to the
Agenda. Seconded by Commissioner Arey. Voice Vote, 8 yays, 0 Nays.

22. Diamond Estates Subdivision - Preliminary Plat
GarNat Engineering - Requesting Preliminary Plat Approval

After a brief discussion, Chairman Johnson Called for a roll call vote to approve. 8 yays, 0 nays,
None Absent.

ADJOURNMENT

Motion to Adjourn made by Commissioner Burgess, Seconded by Commissioner Penfield. Voice
Vote, 8 Yays, 0 nays. None Absent.

__________________________ _______________

Chairman, Rick Johnson Date

__________________________ _______________

Secretary, Tracy Picanco Date























City of Bryant, Arkansas 

Community Development  
210 SW 3rd Street Bryant, AR 72022 

501-943-0943 

 

SIGN PERMIT APPLICATION 
 

Applicants are advised to read the Sign Ordinance prior to completing and signing this form. 

The Sign Ordinance is available at www.cityofbryant.com under the Planning and Community 

Development tab. 

 

 

Date: ______________________ 

 

Sign Co. or Sign Owner                                                         Property Owner 

 

Name_____________________________                                  Name _________________________________ 

Address____________________________                                 Address _______________________________ 

City, State, Zip______________________                                   City, State, Zip __________________________ 

Phone_____________________________                                  Phone ________________________________ 

Email Address_______________________                                  Email Address __________________________ 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Name of Business  ____________  

 

Address/Location of sign  ____________  
 

Zoning Classification   

 

Please use following page to provide details on the signs requesting approval. Along with information 

provided on this application, a Site Plan showing placement of sign(s) and any existing sign(s) on the 

property is required to be submitted. Renderings of the sign(s) showing the correct dimensions is also 

required to be submitted with the application.  A thirty-five dollar ($35) per sign payment will be 

collected at the time of permit issuance.  According to the Sign Ordinance a fee for and sign variance or 

special sign permit request shall be one hundred dollars ($100).   Additional documentation may be 

required by Sign Administrator.  

 

READ CAREFULLY BEFORE SIGNING 
 
I _____________________________________, do hereby certify that all information contained within this application is true 

and correct. I fully understand that the terms of the Sign Ordinance supersede the Sign Administrator’s approval and that all 
signs must fully comply with all terms of the Sign Ordinance regardless of approval.  I further certify that the proposed sign is 

authorized by the owner of the property and that I am authorized by the property owner to make this application. I understand 

Note: Electrical Permits may be 
Required, Please contact the 

Community Development Office 
for more information. 

3.8.23

Jacksonville, AR 72076

2700 John Harden DR

Action Signs

501.457.7391

tim@actionsignandneon.com

Auto Glass Now

1810 North Reynolds Rd

Bryant, AR 72022

610.334.0018

hannah.martin@egansign.com

Auto Glass Now

1810 North Reynolds Rd Bryant, AR 72022

http://www.cityofbryant.com/


that no sign may be placed in public right of way. I understand that I must comply with all Building and Electrical Codes and that 

it is my responsibility to obtain all necessary permits.  

 
 
 

Use table below to enter information regarding each sign for approval.  Please use each letter to 

reference each sign rendering. 
 

SIGN Type 
(Façade, Pole, 

Monument, other) 

Dimensions 
(Height, Length, Width) 

Sqft 
(Measured in 

whole as 

rectangle) 

Height of Sign 
(Measured from lot surface) 

 

Column for 

Admin 

Certifying 

Approval 

    Top of Sign Bottom of 

Sign 

 

A       

B       

C       

E       

F       

G       

 

Lit Channel Letters 45 SQ FT 97.75"129.75"

Road Sign Pylon Face 
Replacements 48"x72" 24 SQ FT

32"x200"

3'x30' 90 SQ FT

Door Vinyl 30"x34" 7 SQ FT 72" 38"

Awning

16' 12'

10' 81"



VICINITY MAP:
Site Plan

Site & Sign Location Plan
SP

NOTES
• Replace cabinet panels and LED bulbs (retrofit as needed)
• Existing poles and cabinets to be painted black
• Existing conditions vary & may affect cost due to size, material, quantity, installation,
  scope, etc.
• If electrical line/j-box is within 6' of electrical, connection to be handled by installer.
   If not, electrical handled by GC/owner.
• If roof penetrations are necessary, they are to be sealed by a roofer. Handled by GC/owner.
• Removal and disposal of existing wall signs and painting handled by GC/owner before installation.

D

B

A

Client: 

Description: 

Color Key: 

Layout Date: 

Location Address:

Revision Date:

Sign Management Made Simple

222 North Kenhorst Boulevard, Reading, PA 19607  |  (Toll Free): 844.460.6631  |  (Fax): 610.478.1332  |  www.egansign.com

File Name: 
30425_Bryant.pdf
Project Number: 30425

Auto Glass Now
440 S. Church Street
Suite 700
Charlotte NC, 28202 

Auto Glass Now
1810 North Reynolds Road
Bryant, AR 72022

01/31/2023 - SK/AR

02/21/2023 - JG



Site & Sign Location Plan
CC

Sign Code Information

Client: 

Description: 

Color Key: 

Layout Date: 

Location Address:

Revision Date:

Sign Management Made Simple

222 North Kenhorst Boulevard, Reading, PA 19607  |  (Toll Free): 844.460.6631  |  (Fax): 610.478.1332  |  www.egansign.com

File Name: 
30425_Bryant.pdf
Project Number: 30425

Auto Glass Now
440 S. Church Street
Suite 700
Charlotte NC, 28202 

Auto Glass Now
1810 North Reynolds Road
Bryant, AR 72022

01/31/2023 - SK/AR

02/21/2023 - JG



Scale: 3/16" = 1'-0'A
Illuminated Channel Letters & ACM Panel

Code: Aggregate of all signs NTE 300 sf;
signs are NTE 2sf per lf of facade that sign is on
One sign allowed per frontage
No one sign may exceed 50% of allowed sf
Calculation: 2 * 42' = 84
Allowed: 84 sf
Used: 44.4 sf
Existing: 48 sf
Allowed Total: 300 sf
Used Total:  241.4 sf
Sign A: 44.4 sf
Sign B: 36 sf
Sign C: 7.1 sf
Sign D: 90 sf

Square Footage Calculation:

Proposed

Existing 72"x96"

82
" A

FG

47
.75

"

12"

42'-0" (504") FACADE WIDTH

10
"

13
8.

0"
200"

Approx location of J-Box
to be confirmed by installer

AGN-FML-21
Illuminated Channel Letters
(44.4 Sq Ft)

Remove existing signage. Fill holes 
with clear, paintable caulk.

White

Black

SW 6958 “Dynamic Blue”

Client: 

Description: 

Color Key: 

Layout Date: 

Location Address:

Revision Date:

Sign Management Made Simple

222 North Kenhorst Boulevard, Reading, PA 19607  |  (Toll Free): 844.460.6631  |  (Fax): 610.478.1332  |  www.egansign.com

File Name: 
30425_Bryant.pdf
Project Number: 30425

Auto Glass Now
440 S. Church Street
Suite 700
Charlotte NC, 28202 

Auto Glass Now
1810 North Reynolds Road
Bryant, AR 72022

01/31/2023 - SK/AR

02/21/2023 - JG



Scale: NTSA
Illuminated Channel Letters

Y
X1

 “A
”

X

This sign is intended to be installed in accordance with the 
requirements of Article 600 of the National Electrical Code

and/or other applicable local codes.  
This includes proper grounding and bonding of the sign.

1

2

5

9

8

6

104

3

7

5”
CROSS SECTION OF UL LISTED
CHANNEL LETTERS w/ LEDS

(1)  1” PLASTIC TRIM CAP PAINTED BLACK
(2)  3/16 POLYCARBONATE FACE 
(3)  .040 ALUMINUM RETURN (.063 BACK)
      PAINTED BLACK
(4)  1/4” DRAIN HOLES (Min. 2 per letter)
(5)  LED ILLUMINATION
(6)  LED POWER SUPPLY
(7)  FACADE
(8)  LOW VOLTAGE CLASS 2 POWER LINE
(9)  MOUNTING HARDWARE (3/8”x5” Bolts)
(10) EXISTING 120 VOLT SERVICE

Illuminated Channel
Letters (Linear) X X1 Total Square 

Feet:Y

AGN-FML-21

AGN-FML-24

AGN-FML-27

AGN-FML-30

AGN-FML-33

32 21

36.5 24

41 27

45.6 30

50.2 33

200

228.4

257

285.6

314.1

AGN-FML-18 27.4 18

AGN-FML-36 54.7 36 342.7

AGN-FML-15 22.8 15 142.8

AGN-FML-39 59.3 39 371.2

AGN-FML-42 63.8 42 399.8

171.3

44.4

57.9

73.2

90.4

109.5

130.2

22.6

152.9

177.1

32.6

NIGHT RENDERING

White

AGN-FML-21
Illuminated Channel Letters
(44.4 Sq Ft)

Qty: 1

Provide LED illuminated channel 
letters per detail; flush mounted to 
facade.

Black

Client: 

Description: 

Color Key: 

Layout Date: 

Location Address:

Revision Date:

Sign Management Made Simple

222 North Kenhorst Boulevard, Reading, PA 19607  |  (Toll Free): 844.460.6631  |  (Fax): 610.478.1332  |  www.egansign.com

File Name: 
30425_Bryant.pdf
Project Number: 30425

Auto Glass Now
440 S. Church Street
Suite 700
Charlotte NC, 28202 

Auto Glass Now
1810 North Reynolds Road
Bryant, AR 72022

01/31/2023 - SK/AR

02/21/2023 - JG



29
.5

"

50.5"

45
" V

.O
. T

BV

69" V.O. TBV

47
.5

" C
ut

 S
ize

 T
BV

71.5" Cut Size TBV

4.
4"

Scale: 3/4" = 1'-0"
B

Pylon - Face Replacement

Proposed 32

Existing

Pylon - Face Replacement
(24 Sq Ft)

Qty: 2 (1 per side)

Provide 3/16"thk polycarbonate 
replacement faces w/ surface 
applied digitally printed graphics to 
match color key.

Repaint existing sign cabinet and 
pole black.

White

PMS 3538 C

Black

72"x72"

Code: Aggregate of all signs NTE 300 sf;
signs are NTE 2sf per lf of facade that sign is on
One sign allowed per frontage
No one sign may exceed 50% of allowed sf
Calculation: 2 * 42' = 84
Allowed: 84 sf
Used: 44.4 sf
Existing: 48 sf
Allowed Total: 300 sf
Used Total:  241.4 sf
Sign A: 44.4 sf
Sign B: 36 sf
Sign C: 7.1 sf
Sign D: 90 sf

Square Footage Calculation:

Client: 

Description: 

Color Key: 

Layout Date: 

Location Address:

Revision Date:

Sign Management Made Simple

222 North Kenhorst Boulevard, Reading, PA 19607  |  (Toll Free): 844.460.6631  |  (Fax): 610.478.1332  |  www.egansign.com

File Name: 
30425_Bryant.pdf
Project Number: 30425

Auto Glass Now
440 S. Church Street
Suite 700
Charlotte NC, 28202 

Auto Glass Now
1810 North Reynolds Road
Bryant, AR 72022

01/31/2023 - SK/AR

02/21/2023 - JG



Proposed 16

22”

1.7
”

LOCATION LAYOUT:
SCALE: 3/4” = 1’-0”

72
" 

(A
bo

ve
 F

in
ish

ed
 F

lo
or

)

30" (glass) 
to be applied in 
center of glass area

TO TOP OF LOGO

C
Scale: 1 ½" = 1'-0"

Door Vinyl

34
” 2”

2.
3”

10
”

10
”

30"

White

PMS 3538 C

Black

AGN-DV
Door Vinyl
(7.1 Sq Ft)

Qty: 1

Provide computer cut vinyl to 
match color key; surface applied to 
door.

Remove existing graphics.

Code: Aggregate of all signs NTE 300 sf;
signs are NTE 2sf per lf of facade that sign is on
One sign allowed per frontage
No one sign may exceed 50% of allowed sf
Calculation: 2 * 42' = 84
Allowed: 84 sf
Used: 44.4 sf
Existing: 48 sf
Allowed Total: 300 sf
Used Total:  241.4 sf
Sign A: 44.4 sf
Sign B: 36 sf
Sign C: 7.1 sf
Sign D: 90 sf

Square Footage Calculation:

Client: 

Description: 

Color Key: 

Layout Date: 

Location Address:

Revision Date:

Sign Management Made Simple

222 North Kenhorst Boulevard, Reading, PA 19607  |  (Toll Free): 844.460.6631  |  (Fax): 610.478.1332  |  www.egansign.com

File Name: 
30425_Bryant.pdf
Project Number: 30425

Auto Glass Now
440 S. Church Street
Suite 700
Charlotte NC, 28202 

Auto Glass Now
1810 North Reynolds Road
Bryant, AR 72022

01/31/2023 - SK/AR

02/21/2023 - JG



D
Awning

Sunbrella 4608-0000 Black36
" T

BV
8"

30'-0" (360")  TBV 36" TBV

Sunbrella Azure #6069-0000

Awning
(90 Sq Ft)

Qty: 1

Provide new Sunbrella awning 
fabric per color key. 

Proposed 96

Existing

Scale: 1/4" = 1'-0"

6"

CL

Code: Aggregate of all signs NTE 300 sf;
signs are NTE 2sf per lf of facade that sign is on
One sign allowed per frontage
No one sign may exceed 50% of allowed sf
Calculation: 2 * 42' = 84
Allowed: 84 sf
Used: 44.4 sf
Existing: 48 sf
Allowed Total: 300 sf
Used Total:  241.4 sf
Sign A: 44.4 sf
Sign B: 36 sf
Sign C: 7.1 sf
Sign D: 90 sf

Square Footage Calculation:

Client: 

Description: 

Color Key: 

Layout Date: 

Location Address:

Revision Date:

Sign Management Made Simple

222 North Kenhorst Boulevard, Reading, PA 19607  |  (Toll Free): 844.460.6631  |  (Fax): 610.478.1332  |  www.egansign.com

File Name: 
30425_Bryant.pdf
Project Number: 30425

Auto Glass Now
440 S. Church Street
Suite 700
Charlotte NC, 28202 

Auto Glass Now
1810 North Reynolds Road
Bryant, AR 72022

01/31/2023 - SK/AR

02/21/2023 - JG



P
Painting

Black

SW 6958 “Dynamic Blue”

SW 6002 “Essential Gray”

Client: 

Description: 

Color Key: 

Layout Date: 

Location Address:

Revision Date:

Sign Management Made Simple

222 North Kenhorst Boulevard, Reading, PA 19607  |  (Toll Free): 844.460.6631  |  (Fax): 610.478.1332  |  www.egansign.com

File Name: 
30425_Bryant.pdf
Project Number: 30425

Auto Glass Now
440 S. Church Street
Suite 700
Charlotte NC, 28202 

Auto Glass Now
1810 North Reynolds Road
Bryant, AR 72022

01/31/2023 - SK/AR

02/21/2023 - JG















RE-ZONING PETITION 

The property located at 1109-A North Reynolds Road in Bryant is being considered for re-

zoning from R-E to C-2. The property is more particularly described as follows: 

PART OF THE NORTH HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER (N1/2 SW1/4) OF 

SECTION 27, TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 14 WEST, SALINE COUNTY, ARKANSAS, 

MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A COMPUTED 

POINT IN THE CENTERLINE OF HIGHWAY #183 (NORTH REYNOLDS ROAD), WHICH 

IS 480 WEST AND 225 FEET SOUTH OF THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE SAID 

N1/2 SW1/4; THENCE S14°37'49"E - 207.85 FEET ALONG SAID CENTERLINE OF 

HIGHWAY #183 TO A COMPUTED POINT; THENCE LEAVING SAID CENTERLINE OF 

HIGHWAY #183, N88°10'53"W - 399.64 FEET TO A FOUND 5/8" REBAR; THENCE 

N1°41'58"E - 198.93 FEET TO A FOUND BENT 1/2" REBAR; THENCE S88°15'00"E - 

341.20 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 1.69 ACRES, MORE OR 

LESS. SUBJECT TO A RIGHT OF WAY FOR (HIGHWAY #183) REYNOLDS ROAD AND 

UTILITY EASEMENT ALONG EAST LINE. ALSO SUBJECT TO A 10 FOOT EASEMENT 

FOR A DRIVEWAY. 
 

 
A petition has been filed with the City of Bryant Planning Commission to re-zone the property. 
As part of this process a public hearing will be held April 10th, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. in the Bryant 
City Office Complex, 210 Southwest 3rd Street, Bryant, Arkansas 72022. 
 
Public comments will be accepted at that time regarding this re-zoning. Since you own property 
within 300 feet of the tract in consideration, you have been sent this notice via certified mail as 
required by city ordinance.  
 
Should you have any questions regarding this matter you may contact the City of Bryant at 501-
943-0301 and ask for Truett Smith or by contacting me at the information listed below. 
 
Vernon Williams, P.E.  
GarNat Engineering, LLC 
501-408-4650 
garnatengineering@gmail.com 
 



  
 

PH: (501)408-4650 FX: (888) 900-3068 www.garnatengineering.com 

P.O. Box 116  

Benton, AR 72018 

GNE 
3825 Mt Carmel Rd. 

Bryant, AR 72022 GarNat Engineering, LLC 

March 8, 2023 

 

Mr. Truett Smith 

Bryant Planning Coordinator/Planning Commission Secretary 

210 SW 3rd Street 

Bryant, AR  72022 

 

Re: Rezone Application  –  1109-A North Reynolds Road  Parcel Number 840-14297-000 

 

Dear Mr. Smith: 

 

Please allow this letter and following list of enclosures to serve as my application for rezone of 

the referenced property located at 1109-A North Reynolds Road.  We are seeking a rezone from 

R-E to C-2 to build chiropractic center on the property.  It is my desire that this matter be 

included on the agenda for your April 2023 City of Bryant Planning Commission Meeting.  
 

List of Enclosures 

 Affidavit 

 Rezone Application 

 Rezone  –  Public Notice 

 Property Survey 

 

If you have questions or need any additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

 

Sincerely, 

GarNat Engineering, LLC 

 
Vernon J. Williams, P.E., President 



N90°00'00"W  480' (M)(R)

S
0°

00
'0

0'
'W

22
5'

 (
M

)(
R

)

S
14

°3
7'

49
"E

  2
07

.8
5'

 (M
)

S
16

°2
1'

49
"E

  2
07

.4
3'

 (R
)

N
1°

41
'5

8"
E

  1
98

.9
3'

 (
M

)
N

0°
00

'0
0"

W
  1

99
.0

0'
 (

R
)

S88°15'00"E  341.20' (M)
S89°58'08"E  341.20' (R)

N88°10'53"W  399.64' (M)
N89°58'08"W  399.64' (R)

40.19'

 40.85'

FND 5/8" REBAR 1508

FND 5/8" REBARFND 5/8" REBAR

FND BENT 1/2" REBAR

FFE
=440.95'

NE CORNER
N1/2 SW1/4

SEC.27-T1S-R14W

PART OF THE NORTH HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER (N1/2 SW1/4) OF
SECTION 27, TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 14 WEST, SALINE COUNTY,
ARKANSAS, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A
COMPUTED POINT IN THE CENTERLINE OF HIGHWAY #183 (NORTH REYNOLDS
ROAD), WHICH IS 480 WEST AND 225 FEET SOUTH OF THE NORTHEAST
CORNER OF THE SAID N1/2 SW1/4; THENCE S14°37'49"E - 207.85 FEET ALONG
SAID CENTERLINE OF HIGHWAY #183 TO A COMPUTED POINT; THENCE
LEAVING SAID CENTERLINE OF HIGHWAY #183, N88°10'53"W - 399.64 FEET TO A
FOUND 5/8" REBAR; THENCE N1°41'58"E - 198.93 FEET TO A FOUND BENT 1/2"
REBAR; THENCE S88°15'00"E - 341.20 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING,
CONTAINING 1.69 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. SUBJECT TO A RIGHT OF WAY FOR
(HIGHWAY #183) REYNOLDS ROAD AND UTILITY EASEMENT ALONG EAST LINE.
ALSO SUBJECT TO A 10 FOOT EASEMENT FOR A DRIVEWAY.

P.O.B.

32'

60.3'

840-14297-000
MIDDLE MARCH, LTD.

1.69 ACRES

24
.2

'

35.2'

RIGHT
OF WAY

H
IG

H
W

A
Y #183/REYN

O
LD

S RO
A

D

(80' R/W
)

840-14290-000
BRENDA JOHNSON

840-14298-000
KATHLEEN LEWALLEN

840-14297-001
BRAD &

LEIGH OVERBEY GUTRHIE

EXISTING 10' GRAVEL DRIVE

PER PREVIOUS DRIVEWAY EASEMENT

BY HOPE DATED 10/24/95

BOOK 193 PAGE 357

BOUNDARY/
TOPOGRAPHIC

SURVEY

1109 N REYNOLDS ROAD
BRYANT, ARKANSAS

72202
SALINE COUNTY

DEC. 12, 2022

LEGEND
- Computed point
- Found monument

LEGEND
- Computed point
- Found monument

- Set #4 RB/Plas. Cap
(M)-Measured

(P)-Platted
(R)-Recorded Survey

SURVEY PLAT CODE:
500-01S-14W-0-27-300-62-1573

DOCUMENTS USED FOR THE
PREPARATION OF THIS SURVEY:

· PREVIOUS SURVEY BY HOPE CONSULTING
DATED 10/24/95

FOR THE USE &
BENEFIT OF:

KENNY WHITFIELD

22203CERTIFICATIONS:
BEARINGS ARE BASED UPON NORTH AMERICAN
DATUM 1983, ARKANSAS SOUTH ZONE, US SURVEY
FEET, GRID COORDINATES.  COORDINATES WERE
ESTABLISHED USING GPS AND WERE PROCESSED
USING THE NATIONAL GEODETIC SURVEY'S
"ONLINE POSITIONING USER SERVICE" (OPUS).

BASIS OF BEARINGS:

P.O. Box 116
Benton, AR 72018
Ph (501) 408-4650

                      3825 Mt. Carmel Rd
                          Bryant, AR 72022

garnatengineering@gmail.com

GarNat Engineering, LLCDesigning our client's successGNE

-Power Pole

-Sanitary Sewer

-Water Valve

-Storm Drain
-Telephone Ped.

-Water Meter
-Gas Meter

-Asphalt

-Gravel

-Concrete





















  
 

PH: (501)408-4650 FX: (888) 900-3068 www.garnatengineering.com 

P.O. Box 116  

Benton, AR 72018 

GNE 
3825 Mt Carmel Rd. 

Bryant, AR 72022 GarNat Engineering, LLC 

March 10, 2023 

 

Mr. Truett Smith 

Bryant Planning Coordinator/Planning Commission Secretary 

210 SW 3rd Street 

Bryant, AR  72022 

 

Re: Rezone Application – A New Elite Volleyball Academy Gym 

Parcel Number 840-11661-034 

 

Dear Mr. Smith: 

 

Please allow this letter and following list of enclosures to serve as my application for rezone of 

the referenced property located near intersection of Bryant Pkwy & Henry Ave. We are seeking a 

rezone from R-2 to C-2 to build a volleyball academy. It is my desire that this matter be included 

on the agenda for your April 2023 City of Bryant Planning Commission Meeting.  
 

List of Enclosures 

 Affidavit 

 Rezone Application 

 Rezone – Public Notice 

 Property Survey 

 

If you have questions or need any additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

 

Sincerely, 

GarNat Engineering, LLC 

 
Vernon J. Williams, P.E., President 



N87°44'28"W - 47.39' (M)

FND 5/8" RBR

FND 1/2" RBR

L=35.40' (M), R=185.26' (M), Δ=10.95° (M)
CH=N67°21'34"E - 35.35' (M)

N53°12'17"E - 42.41' (M)

N41°44'12"E - 35.22' (M)

L=140.23' (M), R=181.54' (M), Δ=44.26° (M)
CH=N64°03'28"E - 136.77' (M)

S86°48'21"E - 26.60' (M)

S02°55'14"W - 142.90' (M)

S02°48'16"W - 285.27' (M)

N
87

°1
7'

45
"W

 - 
25

6.
91

' (
M

)

N24°13'08"E - 50.00' (M)

L=89.20' (M), R=180.00' (M), Δ=28.39° (M)
CH=N10°01'23"E - 88.29' (M)

N04°10'22"W - 31.53' (M)

L=47.46' (M), R=185.26' (M), Δ=14.68° (M)
CH=N80°10'21"E - 47.33' (M)

N04°10'22"W - 9.97' (M)
N

87
°4

4'
28

"W
  2

31
.7

5'
 (

M
)

V1.0
MARC  10, 2023

22140

V
E

R
N

IA
 P

A
R

K
 N

O
R

TH
E

A
S

T
S

U
B

D
IV

IS
IO

N
 P

H
A

S
E

 1
H

E
N

R
Y

 A
V

E
N

U
E

B
R

Y
A

N
T,

 A
R

K
A

N
S

A
S

  7
20

19

De
sig

nin
g o

ur 
cli

en
t's

 su
cce

ss
GN

E gar
nat

eng
ine

eri
ng

@g
ma

il.c
om

Br
ya

nt,
 A

R 
72

02
2

38
25

 M
t C

arm
el 

Rd

Ph
 (5

01
) 4

08
-4

65
0

P.
O.

 B
ox

 11
6

Be
nto

n, 
AR

 72
01

8

Ga
rN

at
 En

gin
ee

rin
g, 

LL
C

CERTIFICATIONS:

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION:

BASIS OF BEARINGS:

BENCHMARK(S) PROVIDED ARE REBAR AND COORDINATES ON BENCHMARKS ARE NORTH AMERICAN
DATUM 1983, ARKANSAS SOUTH ZONE, US SURVEY FEET, GRID COORDINATES AND ELEVATIONS ARE

NAVD 1988.  COORDINATES AND ELEVATIONS WERE ESTABLISHED USING GPS AND WERE PROCESSED
USING THE NATIONAL GEODETIC SURVEY'S "ONLINE POSITIONING USER SERVICE" (OPUS).

VICINITY MAP

PROPERTY
LOCATION:

HENRY AVE

DOCUMENTS USED:

· VERNIA PARK SUBDIVISION PHASE 1 FINAL PLAT BY ZANE ROBBINS PLS
#1853

HWY 5 N OLD STAGECOACH

I-30

H
IL

LD
A

LE
 R

DHILLTOP RD

B
R

Y
A

N
T

P
K

W
Y

- Computed point
- Found monument

SURVEY LEGEND

- Set #4 RB/Plas. Cap
(M)-Measured

(P)-Platted
(R)-Record

A
P A

SURVEY PLAT CODE:
500-01S-14W-0-14-410-62-1573

LOT 1 - 2.12 ACRES (92,562 SQUARE FEET)
PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE
NORTHWEST QUARTER (SE1/4 NE1/4 NW1/4) AND PART OF THE NORTHEAST
QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER (NE1/4
NE1/4 NW1/4) ALL IN SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 01 SOUTH, RANGE 14 WEST, SALINE
COUNTY, ARKANSAS, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  BEGINNING
AT A FOUND 5/8" REBAR FOR THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE SAID SE1/4 NE1/4
NW1/4; THENCE S 02°48'16" W, ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SE1/4 NE1/4 NW1/4,
FOR A DISTANCE OF 285.27 FEET TO A SET 1/2" REBAR WITH CAP #1573; THENCE N
87°17'45" W, LEAVING SAID EAST LINE, A DISTANCE OF 256.91 FEET TO A SET 1/2"
REBAR WITH CAP #1573 LOCATED ON THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF CHRISTY
LANE; THENCE ALONG THE SAID EAST RIGHT OF WAY THE FOLLOWING CALLS:
THENCE ALONG A CURVE TO THE RIGHT WITH A RADIUS OF 170 FEET AND A LENGTH
OF 131.23 FEET, WHOSE CHORD BEARS N 02°06'14" E - 128.00 FEET, THENCE N
24°13'08" E - 50.00 FEET, THENCE ALONG A CURVE TO THE LEFT WITH A RADIUS OF
180 FEET AND A LENGTH OF 89.20 FEET, WHOSE CHORD BEARS N 10°01'23" E - 88.29
FEET, THENCE N 04°10'22" W - 31.53 FEET TO A SET 1/2" REBAR WITH CAP #1573
LOCATED AT THE INTERSECTION WITH THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY OF HENRY
AVENUE; THENCE ALONG THE SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY THE FOLLOWING CALLS:
THENCE ALONG A CURVE TO THE LEFT WITH A RADIUS OF 185.26 FEET AND A
LENGTH OF 35.40 FEET, WHOSE CHORD BEARS N 67°21'34"E - 35.35 FEET, THENCE N
53°12'17" E - 42.41 FEET, THENCE N 41°44'12" E - 35.22 FEET, THENCE ALONG A
CURVE TO THE RIGHT WITH A RADIUS OF 181.54 FEET AND A LENGTH OF 140.23
FEET, WHOSE CHORD BEARS N 64°03'28" E - 136.77 FEET, THENCE S 86°48'21" E -
26.60 FEET TO A FOUND 1/2" REBAR LOCATED ON THE EAST LINE OF THE SAID NE1/4
NE1/4 NW1/4; THENCE S 02°55'14" W, LEAVING SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY OF HENRY
AVENUE AND ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE SAID NE1/4 NE1/4 NW1/4  FOR A
DISTANCE OF 142.90 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 2.12 ACRES,
MORE OR LESS.  SUBJECT TO ANY EASEMENTS OF RECORD AND THE RIGHTS OF
WAY OF HENRY AVENUE AND CHRISTY LANE.  LESS AND EXCEPT RIGHT OF WAY
DEDICATION BELOW.

CERTIFICATE OF OWNER:
We, the undersigned, owners of the real estate shown and described herein do hereby certify that
we have laid off, platted and subdivided, and do hereby lay off, plat and subdivide said real estate
in accordance with the within plat.

Source of Title:
Saline County Document#

CERTIFICATE OF RECORDING:OWNER: DEVELOPER:

Name:

Address:

CERTIFICATE OF ENGINEERING ACCURACY:

I, Vernon J. Williams, hereby certify that this plat correctly represents a survey and a plan made
by me or under my supervision; that all monuments shown hereon actually exist and their
locations, size, type, and material are correctly shown; and that all requirements of the City of
Bryant Subdivision Rules and Regulations have been fully complied with.

Vernon J. Williams
Registered Professional Engineer
No. 9551, Arkansas

PLAT CERTIFICATES:

Date: Signed:

Name:

Address:

         EVA Real Estate, LLC

          P.O. Box 241273
          Little Rock, AR 72223

Date:
Rick Johnson, Chairman
Bryant Planning Commission

CERTIFICATE OF FINAL PLAT APPROVAL:

Pursuant to the City of Bryant Subdivision Rules and Regulations, this document was given
approval by the Bryant Planning Commission. All of the document is hereby accepted, and this
certificate executed under the authority of said rules and regulations.

Tanja Eckart
EVA Real Estate, LLC

SALINE COUNTY, ARKANSAS

PROPERTY SPECIFICATIONS:

BUILDING SETBACKS (SB):
FRONT - 15'
REAR - 25'
INTERIOR (SIDE) - 15' UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED
EXTERIOR - 15'

SOURCE OF WATER:  CITY OF BRYANT
SOURCE OF SEWER:  CITY OF BRYANT

ZONING CLASSIFICATION:  C-2

Date: Signed:

Signed:

CERTIFICATE OF SURVEYING ACCURACY:

I, George P. Wooden, hereby certify that this plat correctly represents a boundary survey made by
me or under my supervision; that the boundary lines shown hereon correspond with the
description in the deeds cited in the above Source of Title; and that all monuments which were
found or placed on the property are correctly described and located.

George P. Wooden
Registered Land Surveyor
No. 1573, Arkansas

Signed:Date:

LOT CORNERS: SET #4 REBAR WITH CAP

H
EN

RY AVEN
U

E (R/W
 VARIES)

CHRISTY LANE (60' R/W)

FORMERLY
TRACT 1

21,729 S.F.

FORMERLY
TRACT 2

71,019 S.F.

LINE TO BE ABANDONED

25' SETBACK

15' SETBACK

15' SETBACK

15' SETBACK

RIGHT OF WAY DEDICATION - 0.004 ACRES (187 SQUARE FEET)
PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE
NORTHWEST QUARTER (NE1/4 NE1/4 NW1/4) SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 01 SOUTH,
RANGE 14 WEST, SALINE COUNTY, ARKANSAS, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS
FOLLOWS:  COMMENCING AT A FOUND 5/8" REBAR FOR THE SOUTHEAST CORNER
OF THE SAID NE1/4 NE1/4 NW1/4; THENCE N 87°44'28" W, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF
SAID NE1/4 NE1/4 NW1/4, FOR A DISTANCE OF 231.75 FEET TO A COMPUTED POINT
ON THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY OF CHRISTY LANE FOR THE POINT OF BEGINNING;
THENCE CONTINUING N 87°44'28" W, ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE, A DISTANCE OF 47.39
FEET TO A POINT OF INTERSECTION WITH THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY OF HENRY
AVENUE; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY AND A CURVE TO THE LEFT
WITH A RADIUS OF 185.26 FEET AND A LENGTH OF 47.46 FEET, WHOSE CHORD
BEARS N 80°10'21" E - 47.33 FEET TO A SET 1/2" REBAR WITH CAP #1573; THENCE S
04°10'22" E, LEAVING SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY OF HENRY AVENUE FOR A
DISTANCE OF 9.97 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 0.004 ACRES
(187 SQUARE FEET), MORE OR LESS.

VERNIA PARK NORTHEAST
SUBDIVISION PHASE 1

FINAL PLAT

RA

RA

         EVA Real Estate, LLC

          P.O. Box 241273
          Little Rock, AR 72223

P.O.B. LOT DESCRIPTION, P.O.C.
RIGHT OF WAY DESCRIPTION
NE CORNER SE1/4 NE1/4 NW1/4
SECTION 14, T-01-S, R-14-W

840-05520-020
WHITLEY JAMES MATTHEW &

MELAINA 840-11660-101
AF PARTNERS LLC

VERNIA PARK
SUBDIVISION

PHASE 1



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING
A  public  hearing  will  be  held  on  Monday,
4/10/2023  at  6:00  P.M.  at  the  Bryant  City
Complex, 210 Southwest 3 Street. City of Bry-
ant. Saline County, for the purpose of public
comment on a conditional use request at the
site of 3113 Whispering Oak Bryant, AR 72022.
A legal description of the property can be ob-
tained by contacting the Bryant Department of
Community Development.
            Rick Johnson
            Chairman Board of Zoning Adjustment
            City of Bryant













Order

Receipt

Saline Courier

321 N. Market St.

Benton, AR 72015

Phone: 501-315-8228

URL: https://www.bentoncourier.com/

1

GarNat Engineering LLC (28)

PO Box 116

Benton, AR 72018

Acct #: 01118778

Phone: (501)408-4650

Date:

Ad #:

Salesperson: SCL Ad Taker: SC5

Description Amount

Ad Notes:Class:

03/15/2023

00158612

101

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING  A puSort Line:

AVDT LEGAL AFFIDAVIT 4.50

28 Saline Courier    2023-03-18 39.00

Total Due 43.50

Prepaid:

Net:

Tax:

Total:

Payment Reference:Ad Text:

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING

A public hearing will be held on Monday, April 10, 2023 at 6:00 P.M. at
the Bryant City Office Complex, 210 Southwest 3rd Street, City of
Bryant, Saline County, for the purpose of public comment on a
conditional use request at 520 and 522 Valley View Drive.  A legal
description of this property can be obtained by contacting the Bryant
Department of Community Development.

Rick Johnson
Chairman Board of Zoning Adjustment
City of Bryant

43.50

0.00

43.50

0.00





S
0°

00
'3

2"
W

  6
5.

25
' (

M
)

65
' (

P
)

S
0°

00
'3

2"
W

  1
34

.4
7'

 (
M

)
13

5'
 (

P
)

FND 1/2" REBAR
FND 1/2" REBAR

FND 1/2" REBAR

FND 3/4" CTP

FND 1/2" REBAR

FND 1/2" REBAR

FND 1/2" SQ BOLT

N87°44'13"W  64.85' (M)
65' (P)

S87°49'34"E  64.99' (M)
65' (P)

S87°38'07"E  80.07' (M)
80' (P)

N88°03'53"W  65.13' (M)
65' (P)

N
0°

01
'3

2"
W

  1
35

.0
7'

 (
M

)
13

5'
 (

P
)

N
0°

02
'3

0"
E

  1
35

.3
3'

 (
M

)
13

5'
 (

P
)

N88°03'53"W  79.97' (M)
80' (P)

VALLEY VIEW DRIVE - (40' R/W)

LA
V

E
RN

 D
RI

V
E

 - 
(4

0' 
R/

W
)

15
' B

.S
.L

.

25' B.S.L.

840-07268-000
BOBBY G WRIGHT &

MARY L WRIGHT
TRUST

LOT 90-R
8791 SQ FEET
0.20 ACRES

840-07267-000
BOBBY G WRIGHT &

MARY L WRIGHT
TRUST

LOT 89-R
10777 SQ FEET

0.25 ACRES

840-07269-000
BRYANT HOME 518

TRUST
LOT 91-R

840-07266-000
GLENDA WILLIS

PART OF
LOT 88-R

(CRIMPED TOP PIPE)

INSIDE WATER
METER BOX

25' B.S.L.

8' 
B.

S.
L.

8' 
B.

S.
L.8' 

B.
S.

L.

20' B.S.L. 20' B.S.L.

LOT
SURVEY

520 & 522
VALLEY VIEW DRIVE
BRYANT, ARKANSAS

72022
SALINE COUNTY

FEB. 03, 2023

LEGEND
- Computed point
- Found monument

LEGEND
- Computed point
- Found monument

- Set #4 RB/Plas. Cap
(M)-Measured

(P)-Platted
(R)-Record

SURVEY PLAT CODE:
500-01S-15W-0-18-440-62-1573

DOCUMENTS USED FOR THE
PREPARATION OF THIS SURVEY:

· REPLAT OF LOTS 88, 89, 90, AND 91, PIKEWOOD
SUBDIVISION

FOR THE USE &
BENEFIT OF:

BOBBY WRIGHT

23016

CERTIFICATIONS:
BEARINGS ARE BASED UPON NORTH AMERICAN
DATUM 1983, ARKANSAS SOUTH ZONE, US SURVEY
FEET, GRID COORDINATES.  COORDINATES WERE
ESTABLISHED USING GPS AND WERE PROCESSED
USING THE NATIONAL GEODETIC SURVEY'S
"ONLINE POSITIONING USER SERVICE" (OPUS).

BASIS OF BEARINGS:

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION:

· LOTS 89-R AND 90-R OF THE JANUARY 1991
REPLAT OF LOTS 88, 89, 90, AND 91 AND THE
EAST 10 FEET OF LOT 92, PIKEWOOD
SUBDIVISION, TO SALINE COUNTY, ARKANSAS

GarNat Engineering, LLCDesigning our client's successGNE
P.O. Box 116
Benton, AR 72018
Ph (501) 408-4650

3825 Mt Carmel Rd
Bryant, AR 72022
garnatengineering@gmail.com



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 

A public hearing will be held on Monday, March 13, 2023 at 6:00 P.M. at the Bryant City Office 
Complex, 210 Southwest 3rd Street, City of Bryant, Saline County, for the purpose of public 
comment on a conditional use request at 520 and 522 Valley View Drive.  A legal description of 
this property can be obtained by contacting the Bryant Department of Community Development. 
 
 
 
      Rick Johnson                                                                                       

      Chairman Board of Zoning Adjustment 

      City of Bryant 

 



  
 

PH: (501)408-4650 FX: (888) 900-3068 www.garnatengineering.com 

P.O. Box 116  
Benton, AR 72018 

GNE 
3825 Mt Carmel Rd. 
Bryant, AR 72022 GarNat Engineering, LLC 

February 8, 2023 
 
Mr. Truett Smith 
Bryant Planning Coordinator/Planning Commission Secretary 
210 SW 3rd Street 
Bryant, AR  72022 
 
Re: Conditional Use Application  –  Lots 89R and 90R of Pikewood Subdivision  
 
Dear Mr. Smith: 
 
Please allow this letter and following list of enclosures to serve as my application for conditional 
use of the referenced lots located at 520 and 522 Valley View Drive.  We are seeking conditional 
use to build duplexes on the property.  It is my desire that this matter be included on the agenda 
for your March 2023 City of Bryant Planning Commission Meeting.  
 

List of Enclosures 
 Affidavit 
 Conditional Use Application 
 Conditional Use Application Fees  $250.00 
 Conditional Use – Public Notice 
 Property Survey 

 
If you have questions or need any additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 
Sincerely, 
GarNat Engineering, LLC 

 
Vernon J. Williams, P.E., President 



24
0.

0'

25' BUILDING SETBACK LINE

15
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

E
TB

A
CK

 L
IN

E

25' BUILDING SETBACK LINE

50' BUILDING SETBACK LINE

75
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

E
TB

A
CK

 L
IN

E

75' BUILDING SETBACK LINE

ADVERTISEMENT SIGN
EASEMENT

80.0'

40
.0

'
40

.0
' 300.0'

80
.0

'

150.0'

195.0'

60
.0

'

45.0'

24
0.

0'

50.0'

24
0.

0'

80.0'

15
0.

0'

80.0'

15
0.

0'

80.0'

15
0.

0'

80.0'

15
0.

0'

80.0'

15
0.

0'

19
2.

0'

300.0'

80.0'

80.0'

80.0'
80.0'

79.2'

80.0'

20
'

20
'

20
'

20
'

20
'

20
'

80.0'

80.0'

60.0'

60.0'

19
5.

0'
20

'

14
4.

0'

60.0'

90.0'

90.0'

90.0'

12
6.

0'
12

6.
0'

12
6.

0'
12

6.
0'

90.0'

20
'

20
'

80.0'

20
'

20
'11340 Sq. Ft.

11340 Sq. Ft.

11340 Sq. Ft.

10080 Sq. Ft.

86
40

 S
q.

 F
t.

11
70

0 
Sq

. F
t.

11
52

0 
Sq

. F
t.

11700 Sq. Ft.

11920 Sq. Ft.

11960 Sq. Ft.

11960 Sq. Ft.

11920 Sq. Ft.

DETENTION AREA

2.71 ACRES
118078 Sq. Ft.

21.61 ACRES
941185 Sq. Ft.

80.0'

15
0.

0'

19
2.

0'

60.0'

20
'

11
52

0 
Sq

. F
t.

19
2.

0'

60.0'

20
'

11
52

0 
Sq

. F
t.

80.0'

13
5.

0'

10720 Sq. Ft.

20
'

EXISTING DRIVEWAY

CURRENT ZONING
R-E

CURRENT ZONING
C-2

CURRENT ZONING R-1

CU
RR

E
N

T 
Z

O
N

IN
G

 C
-3

CURRENT ZONING
C-3

11920 Sq. Ft.

11920 Sq. Ft.

11920 Sq. Ft.

11920 Sq. Ft.

11920 Sq. Ft.

11920 Sq. Ft.

11920 Sq. Ft.

10577 Sq. Ft.

2400 Sq. Ft.

11950 Sq. Ft.

11965 Sq. Ft.

11950 Sq. Ft.

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

8W

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

GAS

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

26
.0

'

29
.9

'

57
.6

'

53
.9

'

EXISTING  TREE BUFFER

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 T
RE

E
 B

U
FF

E
R

40.0'

40.0'

80.4'

79.5'

K
:\

La
nd

 P
ro

jec
ts

 2
00

4\
Su

bd
iv

isi
on

s\
20

22
\2

2-
08

00
 S

tu
ar

t F
in

ley
 H

w
y 

5 
D

up
lex

\2
2-

08
00

-O
PT

IO
N

-A
.d

w
g

REVISED:
DATE: C.A.D. BY:

CHECKED BY:
SCALE:

DRAWING NUMBER:

.

FOR USE AND BENEFIT OF:

117 S. Market Street,
Benton, Arkansas 72015
PH.  (501)315-2626
FAX (501) 315-0024
www.hopeconsulting.com

500 0 1762
SHEET:

01S 14W 21 300 62

02-08-2023

STUART FINLEY

B.JOHNSON

22-0800

VICINITY MAP:

BA
SI

S 
O

F 
BE

A
RI

N
G

:
G

RI
D

 N
O

RT
H

, A
RK

A
N

SA
S

CO
O

RD
IN

A
TE

 S
Y

ST
E

M
, S

O
U

TH
 Z

O
N

E
BY

 G
PS

 O
BS

E
RV

A
TI

O
N

PROJECT
LOCATION

1" = 60'

TOTAL BUILDING SQ.FT. = 291,302 SQ. FT.

I-30 SELF STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIGHT POST WITH T4 OPTICS WITH DIRECTIONAL TOWARD DRIVEWAYS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIGHT POST WITH T4 OPTICS WITH DIRECTIONAL TOWARD DRIVEWAYS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIGHT POST WITH T4 OPTICS WITH DIRECTIONAL TOWARD DRIVEWAYS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIGHT POST WITH T4 OPTICS WITH DIRECTIONAL TOWARD DRIVEWAYS

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'





SCHEME #1

SCHEME #2

SCHEME #3



RIGHT
OF WAY

H
IG

H
W

A
Y #183/REYN

O
LD

S RO
A

D

(80' R/W
)

33
.4

5'

S75°33'38"W  31.69'
N88°15'00"W  279.89'

SSMH
RIM=432.16'
8' MP OUT (N)=427.91'
8' MP IN (S)=427.97'

SDMH
RIM=436.18'
18" RCP (OUT)=432.90'

SDMH
RIM=436.13'
18" RCP (IN)=432.00'

H
IG

H
W

A
Y #183/REYN

O
LD

S RO
A

D

(80' R/W
)43

2

43
4

43
6

440

BUILDING 2
AREA= 6,750 SF

FF= 437.50

BUILDING 1
AREA= 6,750 SF

FF= 435.0

C1.0

E P A

PARKING SPACES:

50 CUSTOMER PARKING SPACES
4 HANDICAP PARKING SPACES
54 PARKING SPACES TOTAL

De
sig

nin
g o

ur 
cli

en
t's

 su
cce

ss
GN

E gar
nat

eng
ine

eri
ng

@g
ma

il.c
om

Br
ya

nt,
 A

R 
72

02
2

38
25

 M
t C

arm
el 

Rd

Ph
 (5

01
) 4

08
-4

65
0

P.
O.

 B
ox

 11
6

Be
nto

n, 
AR

 72
01

8

Ga
rN

at
 En

gin
ee

rin
g, 

LL
C

22203

FEB 2023

NE
W 

FA
CIL

ITY
 FO

R:
BU

TL
ER

 CE
NT

ER
CIT

Y O
F B

RY
AN

T, 
AR

NOTES:

1. CONSTRUCT AHTD TYPE 'A' CURB &
GUTTER IN ALL AREAS EXCEPT AS
NOTED ON PLANS.

PROPOSED CONCRETE

PROPOSED ASPHALT

EXISTING ASPHALT

LEGEND:

20.0'
20.0'

26.0'

9.0' (TYP)

20.0'

26.0'

20.0'

DUMPSTER
ENCLOSURE

NEW 10'
SIDEWALK (TYP)

26' ARDOT DR-1
DRIVEWAY

26.0'

R10'

R5'

NEW 10'
SIDEWALK (TYP)

R5'R5'

R4.5'

R13'

R13'

R4.5'

R6'R3'

NEW SIDEWALK & CURB
(MATCH EXISTING CURB
& GUTTER X-SECTION)

ARDOT
TYPE 5
RAMP

ARDOT
TYPE 5
RAMP

R4.5'

OPAQUE WOOD
FENCE (6' TALL)

OPAQUE WOOD
FENCE (6' TALL) DEVELOPER MAY PROVIDE LETTER FROM

ADJACENT PROPERTY OWNER TO ALLOW
EXISTING WHITE PICKET FENCE TO REMAIN

BUILDING CONSTRUCTION/FACADE WILL COMPLY
WITH CITY OF BRYANT COMMERCIAL BUILDING CODE
REQUIREMENTS.

**

**
**

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
WM

AutoCAD SHX Text
GM

AutoCAD SHX Text
GM

AutoCAD SHX Text
GM

AutoCAD SHX Text
GM

AutoCAD SHX Text
GM

AutoCAD SHX Text
GM

AutoCAD SHX Text
GM

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTENTS:

AutoCAD SHX Text
J:\Projects\2022 Projects\22203 Butler Center 1109 North Reynolds Road Kenny Whitfield\Drawings\DWGs\Design\22203 1109 N Reynolds Rd Design - R2.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY



City of Bryant Stormwater Department                           

1019 SW 2nd St.                             

Bryant, Arkansas 72022                             

Office (501) 943-0453; Fax (501) 943-0851 

                                                                                                                    

WARRANTY BOND PROCEDURES                                                                       

For Stormwater Infrastructure Public & Private  

These procedures are applicable to Stormwater Infrastructure that is to be dedicated to the public and maintained 

by the City of Bryant and for Private Stormwater Infrastructure that will be connected to overall City of Bryant 

Stormwater Infrastructure.  

In accordance with Ordinance No. 2019-32 Article V., The City of Bryant Stormwater Department will require a 

Maintenance Warranty Bond as part of the process for approving Stormwater Infrastructure. The purpose of the 

bond is to cover the cost of correcting deficiencies not addressed by the developer during the warranty period and 

to insure no adverse effects will occur to the overall function of the City of Bryant Stormwater Infrastructure. 

ORDINANCE 2019-32 ARTICLE V. STORMWATER INFRASTRUCTURE WARRANTY BOND. 

1. Stormwater Infrastructure Warranty Bond.   A one year maintenance bond against defects in 

 workmanship shall be required by the Administrative Authority for any portion of the stormwater 

 management facilities privately owned or stormwater management improvements dedicated to the city, 

 said maintenance bond is to be provide by cashier’s check, irrevocable letter of credit or acceptable surety 
 authorized to do business in the State of Arkansas. All forms of maintenance bonds shall be subject to 

 approval by the Administrative Authority. The value of the bond shall be an amount equal to 100% of the 

 value of the privately owned stormwater management facilities or stormwater system improvements 

 being privately owned or dedicated to the city. A cost list must be provide to prove and verify the amount 

 of the maintenance bond. The cost list shall include cost of stormwater infrastructure construction and 

 components (piping, weirs, spillway structures, junction boxes, trickle channels, inlets, grates, riprap and

 site stabilization). 

2. Procedurals.  These procedures are applicable to Stormwater Infrastructure that is to be dedicated to the 

 public and maintained by the City of Bryant and for Private Stormwater Infrastructure that will be 

 connected to overall City of Bryant Stormwater Infrastructure.  

 In accordance with Ordinance No. 2019-32 Article V., City of Bryant Stormwater Department will require 

 a Maintenance Warranty Bond as part of the process for approving Stormwater Infrastructure. The bond 

 will be equal to 100% of the cost of construction of the Stormwater Infrastructure System at the time of 

 completion of the Stormwater Infrastructure System. The purpose of the bond is to cover the cost of 

 correcting deficiencies not addressed by the developer during the warranty period and to insure no 

 adverse effects will occur to the overall function of the City of Bryant Stormwater Infrastructure. 

 3. Determining the Maintenance Warranty Bond Amount.  During the final inspection process, the City of 

 Bryant Stormwater Department will verify and approve the Warranty Bond estimate for all Stormwater 

 Infrastructure within the proposed unit using: 

  



 (a) The Warranty Bond cost list estimate shall be presented to the City of Bryant Stormwater  

  Department by formal letter. The formal letter shall include project name, developer contact  

  information and “Cost List for Construction of Stormwater Infrastructure Components” including  
  but not limited to piping, weirs, spillway structures, junction boxes, trickle channels, riprap,  

  inlets, grates, weirs and site stabilization; 

 (b) The Bond amount will need to be re-evaluated if more than 18 months have passed from the  

  time of the estimate review to the time of providing the bond to the City of Bryant Stormwater  

  Department;  

 4. Submitting the bond to the city.  After requesting a final inspection of the Stormwater Infrastructure and 

 approval of completion by the City of Bryant Stormwater Department, the developer must provide the 

 City of Bryant Stormwater Department with a bond equal to amount determined in Article V. Section 3. of 

 this document. The Bond must be for a period of 12 months and be a financial guarantee in the form of a 

 bond, letter of credit, or trust agreement executed by a surety company authorized to do business in 

 the State of Arkansas. The Bond must be payable to the City of Bryant Public Works Department, 

 conditioned that the developer will maintain the Stormwater Infrastructure in accordance with the 

 Stormwater Management Manual Ordinance No. 2019-31 and the Stormwater Management Ordinance 

 No. 2019-32. 

5. Warranty period.   After the Stormwater Infrastructure construction passes the final inspection  and the 

 one year warranty bond is received, the one year maintenance warranty period will begin. The one-year 

 warranty period will start on the date the Maintenance Warranty Bond is received and accepted. There 

 shall be no separate warranty period start dates for Stormwater Infrastructure within a single unit.  

6. Follow-up inspection.  The City of Bryant Stormwater Department will conduct a follow-up inspection 

 within the tenth month of the warranty period but in no event any later than two months prior to the 

 bond expiring. The City of Bryant Stormwater Department will issue a punch list of deficiencies that will be 

 sent to the developer or contractor for the unit. If no deficiencies are found and camera video passes 

 inspection, release of the bond will proceed as set out and as listed in Article V. Section 10 of this 

 document. 

7. Correcting Deficiencies and Camera Video.  The developer must contact the City of Bryant Stormwater 

 Department at least 24 hours before correcting any decencies or performing camera video. The developer 

 shall also camera all stormwater infrastructure to ensure that there is no sediment laden infrastructure. 

 Upon notification by the developer that all deficiencies have been corrected and camera video has been 

 completed, the City of Bryant Stormwater Department will re-inspect to verify compliance with correction 

 of deficiencies and reviewing the camera video to assure the stormwater infrastructure is not sediment 

 laden or defective. 

8. Calling in the bond.   If the developer does not contact the City of Bryant Stormwater Department, 

 deficiencies have not been corrected and the stormwater infrastructures has not been camera videoed by 

 the end of the 11th month or one (1) month prior to the expiration of the Bond, the City of Bryant 

 Stormwater Department will prepare an estimate and list of work to be done to bring the stormwater 

 infrastructure into compliance. The City of Bryant Stormwater Department will  contact the bonding 

 agency to submit the cost estimates for correcting the deficiencies. 

9. Requesting Acceptance.   Once all deficiencies have been corrected, the City of Bryant Stormwater 

 Department will prepare the paperwork for the Stormwater Infrastructure within the unit accepted for 

 maintenance by the City of Bryant ‘if dedicated’, or paperwork will be prepared to release the bond if 

 infrastructure is a private unit. 







INSPECTION REPORT
DATE:   /    /
BUTLER CENTER

COMMENTOUTLET DETENTION PIPE







Table of Contents 

New Facility for: Butler Center 

Bryant, Arkansas 

 

SWPPP for Construction Activity for Small Construction Sites 

 Appendix A- ARR150000 Inspection Form 

SWPPP Figures 

New Facility for: Butler Center Erosion Control Plan 

AHTD Standard Drawings: 

TEC-1 – Temporary Erosion Control Devices 

 TEC-4 – Temporary Erosion Control Devices 

NPDES ARR150000 

















ARR150000 Inspection Form                  Appendix A 

Revised date: 10/20/2016 

Inspector Name:        Date of Inspection:     

Inspector Title:         

 

Date of Rainfall:       Duration of Rainfall:       

Days Since Last Rain Event:     days  Rainfall Since Last Rain Event:    inches  

 

Description of any Discharges During Inspection:           

Location of Discharges of Sediment/Other Pollutant (specify pollutant & location):      

                

 

Locations in Need of Additional BMPs:             

 

Information on Location of Construction Activities 

 

Information on BMPs in Need of Maintenance 

Location  In Working 

Order? 

Maintenance Scheduled 

Date 

Maintenance Completed 

Date 

Maintenance to be 

Performed By 

     

     

     

     

 

Changes required to the SWPPP:    

       

        

Reasons for changes:      

       

        

SWPPP changes completed (date):     

 

"I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments such as Inspection Form were prepared under my 

direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to ensure that qualified personnel properly gather and evaluate 

the information submitted.  Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly 

responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, 

and complete.  I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine 

and imprisonment for knowing violations." 

 

Signature of Responsible or Cognizant Official:            Date:    

 

Title:         

  

Location Activity 

Begin Date 

Activity 

Occuring 

Now (y/n)? 

Activity 

Ceased 

Date 

Stabilization 

Initiated Date 

Stabilization 

Complete 

Date 

      

      

      

      



SSMH
RIM=432.16'
8' MP OUT (N)=427.91'
8' MP IN (S)=427.97'

SDMH
RIM=436.18'
18" RCP (OUT)=432.90'

SDMH
RIM=436.13'
18" RCP (IN)=432.00'

FFE
=440.95'

H
IG

H
W

A
Y #183/REYN

O
LD

S RO
A

D

(80' R/W
)43

2

43
4

43
6

44032'

60.3'

TPOST
TPOST

3.4E/8" TREE

3.4N/14" HACKBERRY TREE
3-6" SPLIT TREES

16" HACKBERRY TREES

4N/24" HACKBERRY TREE

2.8S/16" TREE

4N/12" WATER OAK TREE

5N/26" CEDAR TREE

8" MIMOSA TREE

8" ELM TREE2.8S/10" HACKBERRY TREE30" SPLIT TREE

4S/26" SWEETGUM TREE

4.3S/22" SWEETGUM TREE

5.7N/40" HACKBERRY TREE

3.8N/26" SWEETGUM TREE

6" HACKBERRY TREE

6" TREE
6" TREE

6" TREE

6" TREE6" TREE

6.5N/30" SWEETGUM TREE

4.2N/14" TREE

6.5S/24" TREE

16"&12" TREE

6.1S/38" PINE TREE

6S/32" PINE TREE

8.2S/38" PINE TREE

12" PEAR TREE

3.5N/18" SPLIT MAGNOLIA TREE3.4N/20" HACKBERRY TREE

C4.0

ERO O
CO RO  P A

BMP NOTES:

1. ALL WASH WATER (CONCRETE TRUCKS, VEHICLE CLEANING, EQUIPMENT
CLEANING, ETC.) SHALL BE DETAINED AND PROPERLY TREATED OR
DISPOSED.

2. DUST ON THE SITE SHALL BE CONTROLLED.  THE USE OF MOTOR OILS
AND OTHER PETROLEUM BASED OR TOXIC LIQUIDS FOR DUST
SUPPRESSION OPERATIONS IS PROHIBITED.

3. RUBBISH, TRASH, GARBAGE, LITTER, OR OTHER SUCH MATERIALS SHALL
BE DEPOSITED INTO SEALED CONTAINERS.  MATERIAL SHALL BE
PREVENTED FROM LEAVING THE PREMISES THROUGH THE ACTION OF
WIND OR STORMWATER DISCHARGE INTO DRAINAGE DITCHES OR
WATERS OF THE STATE.

4. DISTURBED PORTIONS OF THE SITE WHERE CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY HAS
STOPPED FOR AT LEAST 14 DAYS, SHALL BE TEMPORARILY SEEDED.
THESE AREAS SHALL BE SEEDED NO LATER THAN 14 DAYS FROM THE
LAST CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY OCCURRING IN THESE AREAS.

5. DISTURBED PORTIONS OF THE SITE WHERE CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY HAS
PERMANENTLY STOPPED SHALL BE PERMANENTLY SEEDED.  THESE
AREAS SHALL BE SEEDED NO LATER THAN 14 DAYS AFTER THE LAST
CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY OCCURRING IN THESE AREAS.  REFER TO THE
GRADING PLAN AND/OR LANDSCAPE PLAN.

6. IF THE ACTION OF VEHICLES TRAVELING OVER THE SITE IS NOT
SUFFICIENT TO REMOVE THE MAJORITY OF DIRT OR MUD, THEN THE
TIRES MUST BE WASHED BEFORE THE VEHICLES ENTER A PUBLIC ROAD.
IF WASHING IS USED, PROVISIONS MUST BE MADE TO INTERCEPT THE
WASH WATER AND TRAP THE SEDIMENT BEFORE IT IS CARRIED OFF OF
THE SITE.

7. ALL MATERIALS SPILLED, DROPPED, WASHED OR TRACKED FROM
VEHICLES ONTO ROADWAYS OR INTO STORM DRAINS MUST BE REMOVED
IMMEDIATELY.

8. CONTRACTORS OR SUBCONTRACTORS WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR
REMOVING SEDIMENT IN THE DETENTION POND AND ANY SEDIMENT THAT
MAY HAVE COLLECTED IN THE STORM SEWER DRAINAGE SYSTEMS IN
CONJUNCTION WITH THE STABILIZATION OF THE SITE.

9. ON-SITE & OFF SITE SOIL STOCKPILE AND BORROW AREAS SHALL BE
PROTECTED FROM EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION THROUGH
IMPLEMENTATION OF BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES.  STOCKPILE AND
BORROW AREA LOCATIONS SHALL BE NOTED ON THE SITE MAP AND
PERMITTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GENERAL PERMIT REQUIREMENTS.

10. ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE STABILIZED AT THE END OF EACH
WORKING DAY, THIS INCLUDES BACKFILLING OF TRENCHES FOR UTILITY
CONSTRUCTION AND PLACEMENT OF GRAVEL OR BITUMINOUS PAVING
FOR ROAD CONSTRUCTION.

TOTAL SITE:  1.69 ACRES (INCLUDES R-0-W)

TOTAL DISTURBED AREA:  1.51 ACRES (INCLUDES R-O-W)

De
sig

nin
g o

ur 
cli

en
t's

 su
cce

ss
GN

E gar
nat

eng
ine

eri
ng

@g
ma

il.c
om

Br
ya

nt,
 A

R 
72

02
2

38
25

 M
t C

arm
el 

Rd

Ph
 (5

01
) 4

08
-4

65
0

P.
O.

 B
ox

 11
6

Be
nto

n, 
AR

 72
01

8

Ga
rN

at
 En

gin
ee

rin
g, 

LL
C

22203

FEB 2023

NE
W 

FA
CIL

ITY
 FO

R:
BU

TL
ER

 CE
NT

ER
CIT

Y O
F B

RY
AN

T, 
AR

CONCRETE
WASHOUT AREA

PORTABLE
TOILET

STABILIZED ENTRANCE

J HOOK (TYP.)

J HOOK (TYP.)

J HOOK (TYP.)

J HOOK (TYP.)

J HOOK (TYP.)

J HOOK (TYP.)

J HOOK (TYP.)

J HOOK (TYP.)



EMBED 12’’ MIN.

3’MAX. SPACING

WOOD POSTS

2’’X4’’ NOMINAL

(TYPE 3)

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

EMBED 12’’ MIN.

3’MAX. SPACING

WOOD POSTS

2’’X4’’ NOMINAL

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC; APPROX.8’’ BURIED IN TRENCH

DROP INLET SILT FENCE (E-7)

WITH SECTION 625

(TYPE 3) IN ACCORDANCE

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

WITH SECTION 625

(TYPE 4) IN ACCORDANCE

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

WITH SECTION 625

(TYPE 3) IN ACCORDANCE

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

DATE REVISION FILMED

8-2-76 ISSUED R.D.M. 298-7-28-76

ARKANSAS STATE HIGHWAY COMMISSION

STANDARD DRAWING TEC-1

TEMPORARY EROSION

CONTROL DEVICES

WITH ON-SITE CONDITIONS.

AND ARRANGEMENT VARIABLE

NUMBER OF SAND BAGS

SAND BAGS SAND BAGS

FLOW LINE OF DITCH

CHECK

DITCH

LIMITS OF PAYMENT

R/W FENCE

ELEVATION

SLOPE 
OF 

FI
LL

R/W FENCE

30’’
RUNOFF

(TIE TO FENCE)

GROUND L
INE

  

10-1-92 REDRAWN

SAND BAG DITCH CHECK (E-5)

WATER LEVEL

IN AREA OF OVERFLOW

AT BASE OF DITCH CHECK

PLACE SAND BAGS

SECTION B-BSECTION A-A

SECTION B-BSECTION A-A

FLOW LINE OF DITCH

WATER LEVEL

ROCK DITCH CHECK (E-6)

ROCK FILTER

IN AREA OF OVERFLOW

OF DITCH CHECK

PLACE ROCK AT BASE

APPROX. 2:1 SLOPE

D.I.

PLAN

CC

SECTION C-C

FLOW

D.I.

6’’ MIN.6’’ MIN.

18’’ TO 24’’ NORMAL

VARIABLE

6’’ MIN.6’’ MIN.

18’’ TO 24’’ NORMAL

VARIABLE

WOOD FRAME

2’’X4’’ NOMINAL

CLOTH; COMPACT THOROUGHLY.

FILL TRENCH TO ANCHOR BOTTOM OF

TRENCH APPROX. 4’’ DEEP X 4’’ WIDE;

WOOD FRAME

2’’X4’’ NOMINAL

WOOD FRAME

2’’X4’’ NOMINAL

18’’ MAX.

15’’ MIN.

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

BACKFILL

EARTH

COMPACTED

COMPACTED EARTH

BACKFILL

RUNOFF

4-1-93 REDRAWN

8’’

SILT FENCE ON R/W FENCE (E-4)

POST (EMBED 2’ MIN.)

6’ MAX.

30"

8"

SILT FENCE (E-11)

6’’ MIN.

2’ MIN.

2’+
-

2’+-

END OF FABRIC

6’’ MIN. BURIED

END OF FABRIC

6" MIN. BURIED

EMBANK.

EMBANK.

CONSTR.
TRAFFIC

24’ MIN. (2 LANES)

BALED STRAW

STAKE (2 PER BALE)

GENERAL NOTES

1. STRAW BALES SHALL BE INSTALLED SO THAT THE BINDINGS ARE

2. NO GAPS SHALL BE LEFT BETWEEN BALES.

(E-2)

FILTER BARRIER

BALED STRAW

3. BALED STRAW FILTER BARRIERS COMPLETED AND ACCEPTED

WILL BE MEASURED BY THE BALE IN PLACE AS AUTHORIZED

BY THE ENGINEER AND WILL BE PAID FOR AT THE CONTRACT

UNIT PRICE BID PER BALE FOR BALED STRAW DITCH CHECKS.

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SHALL BE SPLICED TOGETHER WITH A SEWN SEAM

ONLY AT A SUPPORT POST, OR TWO SECTIONS OF FENCE MAY BE

OVERLAPPED INSTEAD.  PAYMENT OF ADDITIONAL MATERIAL FOR OVERLAP

WILL NOT BE MADE.

GENERAL NOTES

GENERAL NOTES

ORIENTED AROUND THE SIDES RATHER THAN ALONG THE TOPS

AND BOTTOMS OF THE BALES. THE BALES SHALL BE A MINIMUM

OF 30 INCHES IN LENGTH. 

6-2-94

7-15-94

7-20-95

7-02-98

11-18-98

12-15-11

REVISED E-1,4.7 & 11; DELETED E-2 & 3

REV. E-4 & E-11 MIN. 13" BURIED END OF FABRIC

REVISED SILT FENCE E-4 AND E-11

ADDED BALED STRAW FILTER BARRIER (E-2)

ADDED NOTES

DELETED BALED STRAW DITCH CHECK & ADDED WATTLE DITCH CHECK

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SHALL BE SPLICED TOGETHER WITH A SEWN SEAM

ONLY AT A SUPPORT POST OR TWO SECTIONS OF FENCE MAY BE

OVERLAPPED INSTEAD.  PAYMENT OF ADDITIONAL MATERIAL FOR OVERLAP

WILL NOT BE MADE.

6-2-94

7-20-95

STAKES

2’  DOWNSLOPE

STAKES

2’  UPSLOPE

GENERAL NOTES

STAKES

2’  DOWNSLOPE

STAKES

2’  UPSLOPE

INSTALL A MINIMUM OF 2 UPSLOPE STAKES AND 4 DOWNSLOPE STAKES

AT AN ANGLE TO WEDGE WATTLE TO BOTTOM OF DITCH.

WATTLE DITCH CHECK (E-1)

NATURAL GROUND

FLAT BOTTOM

DITCH

A

A

B

B

(FLAT-BOTTOM TYPE)

ROADSIDE DITCHES

SECTION B-B

2’ MAX.

DITCH CHECK

WATTLE

DITCH CHECK

WATTLE

(V-TYPE)

ROADSIDE DITCHES

SECTION A-A

2’ MAX.

2 IN.

PER CITY OF 

BRYANT 

REQUIREMENTS,  

REQUIRES 

WIRED BACK 

FENCE.







      Page 1 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

PART I 

PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

 

Information in Part I is organized as follows: 
 

Section A:  Definitions with Included Commentary 

Section B:  Coverage Under this Permit: 
1. Permitted Area 
2. Eligibility 
3. Responsibilities of the Operator 
4. Where to Submit 
5. Requirements for Qualifying Local Program (QLP) 
6. Requirements for Coverage 

7. Notice of Intent (NOI) Requirements 

8. Posting Notice of Coverage (NOC) 
9. Applicable Federal, State or Local Requirements 

10. Allowable Non-Stormwater Discharges 

11. Limitations on Coverage (Exclusions) 
12. Short Term Activity Authorization (STAA) 
13. Effluent Limitation Guidelines (ELG) 
14. Natural Buffer Zones 

15. Waivers from Permit Coverage 

16. Notice of Termination (NOT) 
17. Responsibilities of the Operator of a Larger Common Plan of Development for a Subdivision 

18. Change in Operator 
19. Late Notifications 

20. Failure to Notify 

21. Maintenance 

22. Releases in Excess of Reportable Quantities 

23. Attainment of Water Quality Standards 

24. Requiring an Individual Permit 
 
 
 

 
 



      Page 2 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

SECTION A: DEFINITIONS WITH INCLUDED COMMENTARY 
 

 

1. "Arkansas Pollution Control and Ecology Commission" shall be referred to as APC&EC throughout this permit. 
 

2. "Automatic Coverage" is a term used to define the method of coverage for a small construction site. 

 

3. "Best Management Practices (BMPs)" schedules of activities, prohibitions of practices, maintenance procedures, and 
other management practices to prevent or reduce the discharge of pollutants to waters of the State.  BMPs also include treatment 
requirements, operating procedures, and practices to control construction site runoff, spillage or leaks, sludge or waste disposal, 
or drainage from raw material storage.  According to the EPA BMP manual, the use of hay-bales in concentrated flow areas is 
not recommended as a BMP. 

 

4. "Cognizant Official" is a duly authorized representative, as defined in Part II.B.9.B. 
 

5. "Commencement of Construction" is the initial disturbance of soils (or breaking ground) associated with clearing, 
grading, or excavating activities or other construction-related activities (e.g., stockpiling of fill material; placement of raw 
materials at the site). 

 

6. "Contaminated" is a substance the entry of which into the MS4, waters of the State, or Waters of the United States may 
cause or contribute to a violation of Arkansas water quality standards.  

 

7. "Control Measure" as used in this permit, refers to any Best Management Practice or other method used to prevent or 
reduce the discharge of pollutants to waters of the State. 
 

8. "Construction Activity" earth-disturbing activities, such as the clearing, grading, and excavation of land, and other 
construction–related activities (e.g., stockpiling of fill material; placement of raw materials at the site) that could lead to the 
generation of pollutants. 

 

9. "Construction Site" is an area upon which one or more land disturbing construction activities occur that in total will 
disturb one acre or more of land, including areas that are part of a larger common plan of development or sale that may be less 
than one acre where multiple separate and distinct land disturbing construction activities may be taking place at different times 
on different schedules but under one plan such that the total disturbed area is one acre or more. 
 

10. "Construction Support Activity"  a construction-related activity that specifically supports the construction activity and 
involves earth disturbance of pollutant-generating activities of its own, and can include, but not limited to, activities associated 
with concrete or asphalt batch plants, equipment staging yards, materials storage areas, excavated material disposal areas, and 
burrow areas. 

 

11. "CWA" is the Clean Water Act or the Federal Water Pollution Control Act. 
  

12. "Department" is referencing the Department of Energy and Environment. 

 

13. "DEQ" or "Division" is referencing the Division of Environmental Quality.  The Division is the governing authority for 
the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System program in the state of Arkansas. 
 



      Page 3 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

14. "Detention Basin" is an area where excess stormwater is stored or held temporarily and then slowly drains when water 
levels in the receiving channel recede. In essence, the water in a detention basin is temporarily detained until additional room 
becomes available in the receiving channel. 
 

15. "Director" is the Director of the Division of Environmental Quality, or a designated representative. 
 

16. "Discharge" is when used without qualification means the “discharge of a pollutant”. 
 

17. "Disturbed area" is the total area of the site where any construction activity is expected to disturb the ground surface. 
This includes any activity that could increase the rate of erosion, including, but not limited to, clearing, grubbing, grading, 
excavation, demolition activities, haul roads, and areas used for staging. Also included are stockpiles of topsoil, fill material and 
any other stockpiles with a potential to create additional runoff. 
 

18. “Drainageway” is an open linear depression, whether constructed or natural, that functions for the collection and 
drainage of surface water. 

 

19. “Duly Authorized Representative” is a representative of the Responsible Official meeting the requirements specified in 
Part II.B.9.B. 

 

20. "Eligible" refers to being qualified for authorization to discharge stormwater under this general permit. 
 

21. "Erosion" is the process by which the land’s surface is worn away by the action of wind, water, ice or gravity. 
 

22. "ERW" Extraordinary Resource Water, in accordance with Rule 2. 
 

23. "ESW" Ecologically Sensitive Waterbodies, in accordance with Rule 2. 

 

24. "Facility" or "Activity" is any NPDES “point source” or any other facility or activity (including land or appurtenances 
thereto) that is subject to regulation under the NPDES program. 
 

25. "Final Stabilization":  
 

A. All soil disturbing activities at the site have been completed and either of the two following criteria are met: 
 

1) A uniform (e.g., evenly distributed, without large bare areas) perennial vegetative cover with a density of 80% 
or more of the native background vegetative cover for the area has been established on all unpaved areas and 
areas not covered by permanent structures, or 

2) Equivalent permanent stabilization measures (such as the use of riprap, gabions, or geotextiles) have been 
employed. 

 
B. When background native vegetation will cover less than 100% of the ground (e.g., arid areas, beaches), the 80% 

coverage criteria is adjusted as follows: if the native vegetation covers 50% of the ground, 80% of 50% (0.80 x 0.50 = 
0.40) would require 40% total cover for final stabilization.  On a beach with no natural vegetation, no stabilization is 
required.  

 
C. For individual lots in residential construction, final stabilization means that either: 

 
1) The homebuilder has completed final stabilization as specified above, or 



      Page 4 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

2) The homebuilder has established temporary stabilization including perimeter controls for an individual lot 
prior to occupation of the home by the homeowner and informing the homeowner of the need for, and 
benefits of, final stabilization. 

 
D. For construction projects on land used for agricultural purposes (e.g., pipelines across crop or range land, staging areas 

for highway construction, etc.), final stabilization may be accomplished by returning the disturbed land to its pre-
construction agricultural use.  Areas disturbed that were not previously used for agricultural activities, such as buffer 
strips immediately adjacent to “waters of the State”, and areas which are not being returned to their pre-construction 

agricultural use shall meet the final stabilization criteria in A, B, or C above. 
 

26. "Grading Activities" as used in this permit are those actions that disturb the surface layer of the ground to change the 
contouring, surface drainage pattern, or any other slope characteristics of the land without significantly adding or removing on-
site rock, soil, and other materials.  This can include demolition, excavation, and filling. 
 

27. "Impaired Water" is a waterbody listed in the current, approved Arkansas 303(d) list. 

28. "Infrastructure" refers to streets, drainage, curbs, utilities, etc. 
 

29. "Landscaping" is improving the natural beauty of a piece of land (i.e. entrance of subdivision) through plantings or 
altering the contours of the ground.   
 

30. "Large Construction Site" is a construction site in which construction activity including clearing, grading and 
excavation. Construction activity also includes the disturbance of less than five acres of total land area that is a part of a larger 
common plan of development or sale if the larger common plan will ultimately disturb five acres or greater. (Please see Part 
I.B.15 for partial waivers.) 
 

31. "Larger Common Plan of Development or Sale" is a contiguous (sharing a boundary or edge; adjacent; touching) area 
where multiple and distinct construction activities may be taking place at different times on different schedules under one plan.  
Such a plan might consist of many small projects (e.g. a common plan of development for a residential subdivision might lay out 
the streets, house lots, and areas for parks, schools and commercial development that the developer plans to build or sell to 
others for development).  All these areas would remain part of the common plan of development or sale.  The following items 
can be used as guidance for deciding what might or might not be considered a “Common Plan of Development or Sale.”  The 
‘‘plan’’ in a common plan of development or sale is broadly defined as any announcement or piece of documentation (including 
a sign, public notice or hearing, sales pitch, advertisement, drawing, permit application, zoning request, computer design, etc.) 
or physical demarcation (including boundary signs, lot stakes, surveyor markings, etc.) indicating construction activities may 
occur on a specific plot.  The applicant shall still meet the definition of operator in order to be required to get permit coverage, 
regardless of the acreage that is personally disturbed. 
 
If a smaller project (i.e., less than 1 acre) is part of a larger common plan of development or sale (e.g., you are building a 
residential home on a ½ acre lot in a 40 acre subdivision or are putting in a fast food restaurant on a ¾ acre pad that is part of a 
20 acre retail center), permit coverage is required.   
 

32. “Losing Stream Segment” a stream segment which, beginning at the point of existing or proposed discharge and 
extending two (2) miles downstream, contribute thirty percent (30%) or more of its flow at a 7Q10 flow or one (1) cfs, 
whichever is greater, through natural processes such as permeable subsoil or cavernous bedrock into an aquifer. 
 

33. “Natural Buffer” for purposes of this permit, an area of undisturbed natural cover surrounding waters of the State.  
Natural cover includes vegetation, exposed rock, or barren ground that exists prior to commencement of construction activities 



      Page 5 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

at the site. 
 

34. "NOC" Notice of Coverage. 
 

35. "NOI" Notice of Intent to be covered by this permit. 
 

36. "NOT" Notice of Termination. 
 

37. "NSW" Natural and Scenic Waterways, in accordance with Rule 2. 

 

38. "Operator"/“Permittee” for the purpose of this permit and in the context of stormwater associated with construction 
activity, means any person(s),an individual, association, partnership, corporation, municipality, state or federal agency, 
associated with a construction project that has financial and operational control over construction plans and specifications, 
including the ability to make modifications to those plans and specifications; additionally, the Division may require any 
person(s), an individual, association, partnership, corporation, municipality, state or federal agency, associated with a 
construction project that has day-to-day operational control of those activities at a project that are necessary to ensure 
compliance with the permit conditions can be named as a co-permittee. 

 

In addition, for purposes of this permit and determining who is an operator, ‘‘owner’’ refers to the party that owns the structure 
being built.  Ownership of the land where construction is occurring does not necessarily imply the property owner is an operator 
(e.g., a landowner whose property is being disturbed by construction of a gas pipeline or a landowner who allows a mining 
company to remove dirt, shale, clay, sand, gravel, etc. from a portion of his property).  Likewise, if the erection of a structure has 
been contracted for, but possession of the title or lease to the land or structure is not to occur until after construction, the would-
be owner may not be considered an operator (e.g., having a house built by a residential homebuilder). 
 

39. "Outfall" a point source where stormwater leaves the construction site. 
 

40. "Owner" refers to the owner or operator of any “facility or activity” subject to regulation under the NPDES program.  In 
addition, for purposes of this permit and determining who is an operator, ‘‘owner’’ refers to the party that owns the structure 
being built.  Ownership of the land where construction is occurring does not necessarily imply the property owner is an operator 
(e.g., a landowner whose property is being disturbed by construction of a gas pipeline).  Likewise, if the erection of a structure 
has been contracted for, but possession of the title or lease to the land or structure is not to occur until after construction, the 
would-be owner may not be considered an operator (e.g. having a house built by a residential homebuilder). 
 

41. "Physically Interconnected" means that one municipal separate storm sewer system is connected to a second municipal 
separate storm sewer system in such a way that it allows for direct discharges into the second system. 
 

42. "Point Source" is any discernible, confined, and discrete conveyance, including but not limited to, any pipe, ditch, 
channel, tunnel, conduit, well, discrete fissure, container, rolling stock, concentrated animal feeding operation, landfill leachate 
collection system, vessel or other floating craft from which pollutants are or may be discharged.  This term does not include 
return flows from irrigated agriculture or agricultural stormwater runoff. 
 

43. "Qualified Local Program" is a municipal program for stormwater discharges associated with construction sites that has 
been formally approved by DEQ. 
 

44. "Qualified personnel" a person knowledgeable in the principles and practice of erosion and sediment controls who 
possesses the skills to assess conditions at the construction site that could impact stormwater quality and to assess the 
effectiveness of any sediment and erosion control measures selected to control the quality of stormwater discharges from the 



      Page 6 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

construction activity.  
 

45. "Regulated Small Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System" are all municipal separate storm sewer systems that are 
either: 
 

A. Located within the boundaries of an “urbanized area” with a population of 50,000 or more as determined by the latest 
Decennial Census by the Bureau of Census; or 

B. Owned or operated by a municipality other than those described in paragraph A and that serve a jurisdiction with a 
population of at least 10,000 and a population density of at least 1,000 people per square mile; or 

C. Owned or operated by a municipality other than those described in paragraphs A and B and that contributes 
substantially to the pollutant loadings of a “physically interconnected” municipal separate storm sewer system. 

 

46. "Responsible Official" is the authorized representative, as defined in Part II.B.9.A. 
 

47. "Retention Basin" a basin that is designed to hold the stormwater from a rain event and allow the water to infiltrate 
through the bottom of the basin.  A retention basin also stores stormwater, but the storage of the stormwater would be on a more 
permanent basis. In fact, water often remains in a retention basin indefinitely, with the exception of the volume lost to 
evaporation and the volume absorbed into the soils. This differs greatly from a detention basin, which typically drains after the 
peak of the storm flow has passed, sometimes while it is still raining. 
 

48. "Runoff Coefficient" is the fraction of total rainfall that will appear at the conveyance as runoff. 
 

49. "Sediment" is material that settles to the bottom of a liquid. 
 

50. "Sediment Basin" is a basin that is designed to maintain a 10 year-24 hour storm event for a minimum of 24-hours in 
order to allow sediment to settle out of the water. 
 

51. "Small Construction Site" is a construction site in which construction activities including clearing, grading, and 
excavating that result in land disturbance of equal to or greater than one acre and less than five acres. Small construction activity 
also includes the disturbance of less than one acre of total land area that is part of a larger common plan of development or sale 
if the larger common plan will ultimately disturb equal to or greater than one and less than five acres. Small construction activity 
does not include routine maintenance that is performed to maintain the original line and grade, hydraulic capacity, or original 
purpose of the facility. 
 

52. "Stormwater" is stormwater runoff from rainfall, snow melt runoff, and surface runoff and drainage. 
 

53. "Stormwater Discharge Associated with Construction Activity" refers to the discharge of runoff from any conveyance 
which is used for collecting and conveying stormwater and which is directly related to construction activity.   
 

54. "Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP or SWP3)" is a plan that includes site map(s), an identification of 
construction/contractor, activities that could cause pollutants in the stormwater, and a description of measures or practices to 
control these pollutants.  
 

55. "Temporary Sediment Controls" are controls that are installed to control sediment runoff from the site during 
construction activity.  These could be silt fencing, rock check dams, etc. 
 

56. "Total Maximum Daily Load" or "TMDL" is the sum of the individual wasteload allocations (WLAs) for point 
sources and load allocations (LAs) for non-point sources and natural background.  If the receiving water has only one point 



      Page 7 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

source discharger, the TMDL is the sum of that point source WLA plus the LAs for any non-point sources of pollution and 
natural background sources, tributaries, or adjacent segments.  TMDLs can be expressed in terms of mass per time, toxicity, or 
other appropriate measure. 
 

57. "Uncontaminated" means that the water will not exceed the water quality standards as set forth in APC&EC Rule 2; 
also not containing a harmful quantity of any substance. 
 

58. “Urbanized Area” means the areas of urban population density delineated by the Bureau of the Census for statistical 
purposes and generally consisting of the land area comprising one or more central place(s) and the adjacent densely settled 
surrounding area that together have a residential population of at least 50,000 and an overall population density of at least 1,000 
people per square mile as determined by the latest Decennial Census by the Bureau of Census. 

 

59. "Waters of the State" waters of the State means all streams, lakes, marshes, ponds, watercourses, waterways, wells, 
springs, irrigation systems, drainage systems, and all other bodies or accumulations of water, surface and underground, natural 
or artificial, public or private, which are contained within, flow through, or border upon this state or any portion of the state. 

 
 



      Page 8 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

SECTION B:  COVERAGE UNDER THIS PERMIT 

 

Introduction 

 
This Construction General Permit (CGP) authorizes stormwater discharges from large and small construction activities that 
result in a total land disturbance of equal to or greater than one acre or less than one acre of total land area that is part of a larger 
common plan of development or sale if the larger common plan will ultimately disturb equal to or greater than one acre. This 
permit also authorizes stormwater discharges from any other construction activity designated by DEQ where DEQ makes that 
designation based on the potential for contribution to an excursion of a water quality standard or for significant contribution of 
pollutants to waters of the State. This permit replaces the permit issued in 2016. The goal of this permit is to minimize the 
discharge of stormwater pollutants from construction activity into waters of the State.  The operator shall read and understand 
the conditions of the permit. A copy of the CGP is available on the DEQ web site at 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/. A hard copy may be obtained by contacting the DEQ’s General 
Permits Section at (501) 682-0623. 
 

1. Permitted Area.  If a large or small construction activity is located within the State of Arkansas, the operator may be 
eligible to obtain coverage under this permit.  

 

2. Eligibility.  Permit eligibility is limited to discharges from “large” and “small” construction activity, or as otherwise 
designated by DEQ. This general permit contains eligibility restrictions, as well as permit conditions and requirements. 
Operators shall meet the requirements of Part I.B.6.A or Part I.B.6.B to be eligible for coverage under this permit. In such 
cases, operators shall continue to satisfy those eligibility provisions to maintain permit authorization. If operators do not 
meet the requirements that are a pre-condition to eligibility, then resulting discharges constitute unpermitted discharges. By 
contrast, if operators are eligible for coverage under this permit and do not comply with the requirements of the general 
permit, they may be in violation of the general permit for otherwise eligible discharges.   

 
A. This general permit authorizes discharges from construction activities as defined in 40 C.F.R. §122.26(a), 40 C.F.R. 

§122.26(b)(14)(x), 40 C.F.R. §122.26(b)(15)(i)-(ii) and 40 C.F.R. §450. 
 
B. This permit also authorizes stormwater discharges from support activities (e.g., concrete or asphalt batch plants, concrete 

truck washout, fueling, equipment staging yards, materials storage areas, excavated material disposal areas, stockpiles 
of top soil, borrow areas) provided: 

 
1) The support activity is directly related to a specific construction site that is required to have NPDES permit 

coverage for discharges of stormwater associated with the construction activity;  
2) The support activity is not a commercial operation, nor does it serve multiple unrelated construction projects; and 

does not continue to operate beyond the completion of the construction activity at the project it supports;  
3) Pollutant discharges from support activity areas are minimized in compliance with conditions of this permit; and  
4) Discharges from the support activity areas shall be identified in a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) 

stating appropriate controls and measures for the areas off the construction site. 
 

C. Other activities may be considered for this permit at the discretion of the Director as defined in 40 C.F.R. 
§122.26(b)(15)(ii). 
 



      Page 9 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

3. Responsibilities of the Operator.  Permittees with operational control are responsible for compliance with all applicable 
terms and conditions of this permit as it relates to their activities on the construction site including construction support 
activities off site, including protection of endangered species and implementation of BMPs and other controls required by 
the SWPPP.  Receipt of this general permit does not relieve any operator of the responsibility to comply with any other 
applicable federal, state or local statute, ordinance or regulation. 

 

4. Where to Submit.  The operator shall submit a complete and signed Notice of Intent (NOI) and SWPPP to DEQ through 
ePortal, unless the operator receives a waiver from DEQ, which can be found on the following website:  

 
https://eportal.adeq.state.ar.us/  

  
A. The operator shall submit the application fee to DEQ through ePortal (when available), submit an email requesting an 

invoice to be created to pay online, or mail in invoice from ePortal with a check (listing the invoice number on the 
check) to the follow address: 

 
Division of Environmental Quality 
ATTN: Fiscal  
5301 Northshore Drive 
North Little Rock, AR 72118-5317 
 

 NOTE: Notice of Coverage (NOC) will NOT be issued until payment has been received by DEQ. 
 
B. Waivers from electronic reporting may be granted based on one of the following conditions: 

 
1) If the operational headquarters is physically located in a geographic area (i.e. Zip code or census tract) that is 

identified as under-served for broadcast internet access in the most recent report from the Federal Communications 
Commission;   

2) If available computer access or computer capability is limited; or 
3) If the operator is a religious community that choose not to use certain modern technologies pursuant to 40 C.F.R. 

§127.15(c)(1). 
 

C. In order to apply for a waiver from the electronic reporting, the operator must submit the required information outlined 
in 40 C.F.R. §127.15(b)(2). 

 

D. If DEQ grants a waiver approval to use a paper NOI, and operator elects to use it, the operator must use the approved 
form developed by DEQ.  

 

5. Requirements for Qualifying Local Program (QLP). DEQ reviews and approves the QLPs to ensure that they meet or 
supersede both state and federal requirements outlined in this permit and 40 C.F.R. §122.44(s).  DEQ will review the QLP 
at least every 5 years for recertification.  If DEQ approves a QLP, then the QLP requirements shall at the minimum meet the 
DEQ’s requirements.  This includes all templates and forms.  This permit may be modified to add new QLPs or modify 
existing QLPs at DEQ’s discretion.  All public notice and other applicable costs incurred by the modification of the permit 
for the addition or modification of a QLP will be paid by the QLP. 

 
If a small construction site is within the jurisdiction of a QLP, the operator of the small construction site is authorized to 
discharge stormwater associated with construction activity under QLP permit requirements only.      

 
At the time of issuance of this permit, only the City of Hot Springs is meeting the DEQ minimum requirements.  



      Page 10 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

  

6. Requirements for Coverage. 

 
A. Small Construction Sites. An operator of a small construction site will be considered to have automatic coverage under 

this general permit and may discharge without submitting a NOI, SWPPP or fee if the following conditions are met:  
 
1) A completed Notice of Coverage (NOC) must be posted at the site prior to commencing construction and remain 

posted until final stabilization is completed;   
2) A Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan must be prepared in accordance with good engineering practice as 

described in Rule 6.203(B), completed prior to posting the NOC, implemented upon commencement of 
construction activities, and the latest copy must be maintained at the construction site; 

3) All permit conditions set forth in this general permit must be followed; and 
4) The operator is responsible for ensuring that the site is in compliance with any changes or updates of this 

general permit, by either contacting DEQ or reviewing the DEQ website:  
 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/ 

 
B. Large Construction Sites. An operator of a large construction site discharging under this general permit shall submit the 

following items at least ten (10) business days prior to the commencement of construction activities: 
 

1) A complete NOI in accordance with the requirements of Part I.B.7 of this permit. 

2) A complete SWPPP in accordance with the requirements of Part II.A of this permit. 

3) An initial permit fee shall accompany the NOI under the provisions of APC&EC Rule 9.  Subsequent annual fees 
will be billed by DEQ until the operator has requested a termination of coverage by submitting a Notice of 
Termination (NOT).  Failure to remit the required initial permit fee shall be grounds for the Director to deny 
coverage under this general permit.  Failure to remit the required annual fees shall be grounds for the Director to 
revoke coverage under this permit. 

 
C. Modification of Permit Coverage to Include Additional Acreage. Any request to increase the total acreage of a 

construction site shall be accompanied by a $200 permit modification fee and an updated SWPPP. Any request to only 
increase the disturbed acreage without changing the total acreage shall be accompanied by an updated SWPPP.  A $200 
permit modification fee is not required with an increase in disturbed acreage.  The operator shall submit a complete and 
signed Additional Acreage Request Form to DEQ through ePortal, which can be found on the following website: 
 

https://eportal.adeq.state.ar.us/  
 

7. Notice of Intent (NOI) Requirements.  

 
A. NOI Form.  Large construction site operators who intend to seek coverage for a stormwater discharge under this general 

permit shall submit a complete and accurate DEQ NOI form through the ePortal system (at 
https://eportal.adeq.state.ar.us/) at least ten (10) business days prior to the date coverage under this permit is desired, 

unless granted a waiver in accordance with Part I.B.4.D. The NOI form completed must be the current version obtained 
from ePortal. 

 
If the NOI is deemed incomplete, DEQ will notify the applicant with regard to the deficiencies by a letter, email, or 
phone within ten (10) business days of the receipt of the NOI.  If the operator does not receive a notification of 
deficiencies from DEQ’s receipt of the NOI, the NOI is deemed complete.  If the applicant does not provide DEQ with 
the requested deficiencies within the deadline set by DEQ, then DEQ will return the NOI, fee and SWPPP back to the 



      Page 11 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

applicant.   
 

B. Contents of the NOI.  The NOI form contains, at a minimum, the following information: 
 

1) Operator (Permittee) information (name, mailing address, telephone, and E-mail address) 
2) Whether the operator is a federal, state, private, public, corporation, or other entity 
3) Invoice mailing information (name, address, and telephone and fax numbers) 
4) Project Construction site information (name, county, address, contact person, directions to the site, latitude and 

longitude for the entrance of the site or the endpoints for linear project (in degrees, minutes, and seconds), 
estimated construction start date and completion date through site final stabilization, the total project acreage and 
the acreage to be disturbed by the operator submitting the NOI, type of the project (subdivision, school, etc), 
whether the project is part of a larger common plan of development or sale.)  

5) Discharge information (name of the receiving stream, ultimate receiving stream, name of municipal storm sewer 
system) 

6) List of current permits  
7) The Certification statement and signature of a qualified signatory person in accordance with 40 CFR 122.22, as 

adopted by reference in APC&EC Rule 6 
8) The certification of the facility corporation 
9) Other information (location of the SWPPP) 
10) And the SIC Code. 
 

C. Notice of Coverage (NOC).  Unless notified by the Director to the contrary, operators who submit a complete NOI and 
SWPPP in accordance with the requirements of this permit are authorized to discharge stormwater from the 
construction sites under the terms and conditions of this permit ten (10) business days after the date the NOI is deemed 
complete (which may not be the original submission date if revisions or additions were necessary) by DEQ.    If the 
NOC has not been received by the permittee ten (10) business days after the date the NOI is deemed complete by DEQ, 
the NOI may be posted until the NOC is received.  Upon review of the NOI and other available information, the 
Director may deny coverage under this permit and require submittal of an application for an individual NPDES permit. 

 

8. Posting Notice of Coverage (NOC).   

 

A. Automatic Coverage Sites.  The NOC for small sites, as defined in Part I.A.51, shall be obtained from the DEQ’s 
Stormwater website: 

 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/ .   

 

The NOC must be posted at the site prior to commencing construction.  In addition, a copy of the latest signed and 
certified SWPPP must be available at the construction site in accordance with Part II.A.2.B and D prior to commencing 
construction. 

 

B. Large Sites: NOC Posting for Large Construction Sites.  The posting for large construction sites shall be obtained from 
DEQ only after the permittee has submitted the required NOI, permit fee and complete SWPPP to DEQ for the 
coverage. 

 

C. Linear Projects.  If the construction project is a linear construction project (e.g., pipeline, highway, etc.), the notice 
shall be placed in a publicly accessible location near where construction is actively underway and moved as necessary. 

 

Please note, this permit does not provide the public with any right to trespass on a construction site for any reason, including 
inspection of a site; nor does this permit require that the permittee allow members of the public access to a construction site. 



      Page 12 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

9. Applicable Federal, State or Local Requirements.  The operator shall ensure that the stormwater controls implemented at 
the site are consistent with all applicable federal, state, or local requirements.  Additionally, an operator who is operating 
under approved local erosion and sediment plans, grading plans, local stormwater permits, or stormwater management plans 
shall submit signed copies of the NOI to the local agency (or authority) upon the local agency’s request. 

 

10. Allowable Non-Stormwater Discharges.   
 

A. The following non-stormwater discharges as part of the construction activity may be authorized by this permit through 
appropriate controls.  Non-stormwater discharges shall be addressed in the stormwater pollution prevention plan and 
measures to minimize or eliminate non-stormwater discharge should be taken if reasonably possible. 
1) Fire-fighting activities; 
2) Fire hydrant flushings; 
3) Water used to wash vehicles and equipment (where detergents, soaps, solvents or other chemicals are not used) or 

to control dust in accordance with Part II.A.4.J.2;  
4) Potable water sources including uncontaminated waterline flushings; 
5) Uncontaminated landscape irrigation; 
6) Uncontaminated routine external building wash down which does not use detergents, soaps, solvents or other 

chemicals; 
7) Uncontaminated pavement wash waters where spills or leaks of toxic or hazardous materials have not occurred 

(unless all spilled materials have been removed) and where detergents, soaps. solvents or other chemicals are not 
used); 

8) Uncontaminated air conditioning compressor condensate (See Part I.B.13.C of this permit); 
9) Uncontaminated springs, excavation dewatering and uncontaminated groundwater (See Part I.B.13.C of this 

permit); 
10) Foundation or footing drains where flows are not contaminated with process materials such as solvents or 

contaminated groundwater (See Part I.B.13.C of this permit). 
 

11. Limitations on Coverage (Exclusions).  The following stormwater discharges associated with construction activity are not 
covered by this permit: 

 

A. Post Construction Discharge.  Stormwater discharges associated with construction activities that originate from the site, 
as well as construction support activities located off site, after construction activities have been completed, the site has 
undergone final stabilization, and the permit has been terminated. 

 
B. Discharges Mixed with Non-Stormwater.  Stormwater discharges that are mixed with sources of non-stormwater other 

than those identified in Part I.B.10.   
 

C. Discharges Covered by another Permit.  Stormwater discharges associated with construction activity that are covered 
under an individual or an alternative general permit may be authorized by this permit after an existing permit expires, 
provided the expired permit did not establish numeric effluent limitations for such discharges. 

 
D. Discharges into Receiving Waters with an Approved TMDL.  Discharges from a site into receiving waters for which 

there is an established total maximum daily load (TMDL) allocation 
(https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/planning/integrated/tmdl/) are not eligible for coverage under this permit unless the 
permittee develops and certifies a SWPPP that is consistent with the assumptions and requirements in the EPA 
approved TMDL.  To be eligible for coverage under this general permit, operators shall incorporate into their SWPPP 
all conditions applicable to their discharges necessary for consistency with the assumptions and requirements of the 
TMDL within the timeframes established in the TMDL.  If a specific numeric allocation has been established that 



      Page 13 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

applies to the project’s discharges, the operator shall incorporate that allocation into its SWPPP and implement 
necessary steps to meet that allocation. If a numeric limit has been assigned to the facility, quarterly monitoring shall be 
submitted to DEQ demonstrating compliance with the assigned Waste Load Allocation established in the TMDL.  
Please note that DEQ will be reviewing this information.  If it is determined that the project will discharge into a 
receiving stream with a TMDL, then DEQ may require additional BMPs. 

 
E. Discharges into Impaired Receiving Waters (303(d) List).  If stormwater discharges from a construction site enters the 

receiving water listed as impaired under Section 303(d) of the Clean Water Act 
(https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/planning/integrated/), the permittee shall incorporate into the SWPPP the additional 
BMPs needed to sufficiently protect water quality.  Please note that DEQ will be reviewing this information.  If it is 
determined that the project will discharge to an impaired water body, then DEQ may require additional BMPs. 
 

F. Discharges into an Extraordinary Resource Water (ERW), Natural and Scenic Waterway (NSW), or Ecologically 

Sensitive Waterbody (ESW).  Discharges from a construction site located within the watershed of any water body or 
waterway designated as an Outstanding Resource Water as defined in the APC&EC Rule 2.203, including ERWs, 
NSWs, or ESWs are not eligible for coverage under this permit unless the permittee develops and certifies a SWPPP 
that includes additional BMPs needed to prevent to the maximum extent possible exposure to precipitation and to 
stormwater of pollutants that could potentially impact water quality.  For the purposes of this permit, the watershed of 
an Outstanding Resource Water will be identified by the United States Geological Survey’s twelve (12) digit 
Hydrological Unit Code (HUC).  Please note that DEQ will be reviewing this information.  If the site will discharge to 
an ERW, NSW, or ESW, then DEQ may determine that additional requirements are necessary. 
 

G. Discharges into an area of the state which includes potential losing stream and/or sensitive aquatic species native to 

these areas. Discharges from a construction site located within the watershed of any potential losing stream and/or 
sensitive aquatic species native to the area are not eligible for coverage under this permit unless the permittee develops 
and certifies a SWPPP that includes additional BMPs needed to prevent to the maximum extent possible exposure to 
precipitation and to stormwater of pollutants that could potentially impact water quality.  In accordance with Part I.B.3, 
it is the responsibility of the permittee to prevent activity which may take or otherwise risk harm to endangered species. 
Please note that DEQ will be reviewing this information.  If the site will discharge to an area of the state which includes 
potential losing stream and/or sensitive aquatic species native to these areas, then DEQ may determine that additional 
requirements are necessary. 

 

12. Short Term Activity Authorization (STAA).  Any work being conducted in waters of the State will require a STAA from 
DEQ in accordance with Rule 2.305.  An STAA is necessary for any in-stream activity that has the potential to exceed the 
water quality standards, including, but not limited to: gravel removal, bridge or crossing repair/maintenance, bank 
stabilization, debris removal, culvert replacement, flood control projects, and stream relocation.  Any work being conducted 
in Waters of the United States may require a Section 404 permit from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.  This permit does 
not authorize any activity under an STAA, Individual 401 Certification, or Section 404 permit. The necessary forms to 
apply for coverage under an STAA or Individual 401 Certification can be found on the following website: 
 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/planning/instream/ 
 
The SWPPP shall be updated to include a copy of the STAA letter (and Individual 401 Certification if needed) upon 
receipt. Re-submittal of the SWPPP is not required unless specifically requested by DEQ. 
 

13. Effluent Limitation Guidelines (ELG). All permittees shall comply with the following effluent limits: 
 
A. Erosion and Sediment Controls. Design, install, and maintain effective erosion controls and sediment controls to 

minimize the discharge of pollutants. At a minimum, such controls shall be designed, installed and maintained to: 



      Page 14 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 
1) Control stormwater volume and velocity to minimize soil erosion in order to minimize pollutant discharges; 
2) Control stormwater discharges, including both peak flowrates and total stormwater volume, to minimize channel 

and streambank erosion and scour in the immediate vicinity of discharge points; 
3) Minimize the amount of soil exposed during construction activity; 
4) Minimize the disturbance of steep slopes; 
5) Minimize sediment discharges from the site. The design, installation and maintenance of erosion and sediment 

controls shall address factors such as the amount, frequency, intensity and duration of precipitation, the nature of 
resulting stormwater runoff, and soil characteristics, including the range of soil particle sizes expected to be present 
on the site; 

6) Provide and maintain natural buffers around waters of the State, direct stormwater to vegetated areas and maximize 
stormwater infiltration to reduce pollutant discharges, unless infeasible; 

7) Minimize soil compaction.  Minimizing soil compaction is not required where the intended function of a specific 
area of the site dictates that it be compacted; and   

8) Unless infeasible, preserve topsoil.  Preserving topsoil is not required where the intended function of a specific area 
of the site dictates that the topsoil be disturbed or removed. 

 
B. Soil Stabilization. Stabilization of disturbed areas must, at a minimum, be initiated immediately (unless weather 

conditions do not allow immediate initiation) whenever any clearing, grading, excavating or other earth disturbing 
activities have permanently ceased on any portion of the site, or temporarily ceased on any portion of the site and will 
not resume for a period exceeding fourteen (14) calendar days. In arid, semiarid, and drought-stricken areas where 
initiating vegetative stabilization measures immediately is infeasible, alternative stabilization measures must be 
employed as specified by the permitting authority. Stabilization must be completed within fourteen (14) calendar days. 
In limited circumstances, stabilization may not be required if the intended function of a specific area of the site 
necessitates that it remain disturbed. 

 
C. Dewatering. Discharges from dewatering activities, including discharges from dewatering of trenches and excavations, 

are prohibited unless managed by appropriate controls. There shall be no turbid discharges to waters of the State 
resulting from dewatering activities. If trench or ground waters contain sediment, it shall pass through a sediment 
settling pond or other equally effective sediment control device, prior to being discharged from the construction site. 
Alternatively, sediment may be removed by settling in place or by dewatering into a sump pit, filter bag, or comparable 
practice. Ground water dewatering which does not contain sediment or other pollutants is not required to be treated 
prior to discharge. However, care shall be taken when discharging ground water to ensure that it does not become 
pollutant-laden by traversing over disturbed soils or other pollutant sources. 

 
D. Pollution Prevention Measures. Design, install, implement, and maintain effective pollution prevention measures to 

minimize the discharge of pollutants. At a minimum, such measures shall be designed, installed, implemented and 
maintained to: 

 
1) Minimize the discharge of pollutants from equipment and vehicle washing, wheel wash water, and other wash 

waters. Wash waters shall be treated in a sediment basin or BMP control that provides equivalent or better 
treatment prior to discharge; 

2) Minimize the exposure of building materials, building products, construction wastes, trash, landscape materials, 
fertilizers, pesticides, herbicides, detergents, sanitary waste and other materials present on the site to precipitation 
and to stormwater.  Minimization of exposure is not required in cases where the exposure to precipitation and to 
stormwater will not result in a discharge of pollutants, or where exposure of a specific material or product poses 
little risk of stormwater contamination (such as final products and materials intended for outdoor use); and 

3) Minimize the discharge of pollutants from spills and leaks and implement chemical spill and leak prevention and 
response procedures. 



      Page 15 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 
E. Prohibited discharges. The following discharges are prohibited: 
 

1) Wastewater from washout of concrete, unless managed by an appropriate control; 
2) Wastewater from washout and cleanout of stucco, paint, form release oils, curing compounds and other 

construction materials; 
3) Fuels, oils, or other pollutants used in vehicle and equipment operation and maintenance; and 
4) Soaps, solvents, or detergents used in vehicle, equipment washing, or external building washdown. 
5) Toxic or hazardous substances from a spill or release. 

 
F. Surface Outlets. When discharging from basins and impoundments, utilize outlet structures that withdraw water from 

the surface, unless infeasible. 
 

14. Natural Buffer Zones. A natural buffer zone as stated below shall be maintained at all times and direct stormwater to 
vegetated areas and maximize stormwater infiltration to reduce pollutant discharges, unless infeasible.  Exceptions from this 
requirement for areas such as water crossings, limited water access, and restoration of the buffer are allowed if the permittee 
fully documents in the SWPPP the circumstances and reasons for the buffer zone encroachment. Additionally, 
this requirement is not intended to interfere with any other ordinance, rule or regulation, statute or other provision of law.   
 
A. For construction projects where construction activities or construction support activities occur, the SWPPP shall 

provide at least twenty-five (25) feet of natural buffer zone, as measured horizontally from the top of the bank to the 
disturbed area, from any waters of the State. 

 
B. DEQ will require at least fifty (50) feet of natural buffer zone, as measured horizontally from the top of the bank to the 

disturbed area, from established TMDL water bodies, streams listed on the 303(d) list, an Extraordinary Resource 
Water (ERW), Ecologically Sensitive Waterbody (ESW), Natural and Scenic Waterway (NSW), or any other uses at the 
discretion of the Director.   

 
C. Linear projects will be evaluated individually by DEQ to determine natural buffer zone setbacks. 

 
15. Waivers from Permit Coverage. The Director may waive the otherwise applicable requirements of this general permit for 

stormwater discharges from construction activities under the terms and conditions described in this section. 
 

A. Waiver Applicability and Coverage.  Based upon 40 C.F.R. §122.26.b.15.i.A, operators of small construction activities 
may apply for and receive a waiver from the requirements to obtain this permit. 

 

B. No Stormwater Leaving the Site.  If all of the stormwater from the construction activity is captured on-site under any 
size storm event and allowed to evaporate, soak into the ground on-site, or is used for irrigation, a permit is not needed. 

 

C. TMDL Waivers. This waiver is available for sites with automatic coverage if the DEQ has established or approved a 
TMDL that addresses the pollutant(s) of concern and has determined that controls on stormwater discharges from small 
construction activity are not needed to protect water quality. The pollutant(s) of concern include sediment (such as total 
suspended solids, turbidity or siltation) and any other pollutant that has been identified as a cause of impairment of any 
water body that will receive a discharge from the construction activity. The operator must certify to the Director that 
construction activity will take place, and storm water discharges will occur within the drainage area addressed by the 
TMDL or equivalent analysis. Information on approved TMDLs is available on DEQ’s website: 
 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/planning/integrated/tmdl/. 



      Page 16 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

16. Notice of Termination (NOT).  When all construction activities that disturbed soil are complete, the site has reached final 
stabilization (100% stabilization with 80% density or greater, or as defined in Part I.A.25.B for sites where background 
native vegetation will cover less than 100% of the ground), all stormwater discharges from construction activities authorized 
by this permit are eliminated and all temporary sediment controls are removed and properly disposed, the operator of the 
facility may submit a complete Notice of Termination (NOT) to the Director.  Along with the NOT, pictures that represent 
the entire site shall be submitted for review. Final stabilization is not required if the land is returned to its pre-construction 
agriculture use. Operators of small construction sites are not required to submit NOTs for their construction sites.  However, 
final stabilization is required on all sites. If a NOT is not submitted when the project is completed, the operator will be 
responsible for annual fees. 

 

17. Responsibilities of the Operator of a Larger Common Plan of Development or Sale. 

 

A. The operator is ultimately responsible for the runoff from the perimeter of the entire development. Regardless of the 
reason for the runoff, the operator is responsible for ensuring sufficient overall controls of the development. 

 

B. The operator shall not terminate the permit coverage until the following conditions have been met: 
 
1) After all construction activities including landscaping and lot development has been completed; and 
2) All lots are sold and developed.   

 
The following exceptions to this requirement may apply: 

 
a. Less than 100% sold and developed at the discretion of the Director, or 
b. Separation of the larger common plan if twenty-four (24) months have passed with no construction activity, or 
c. All lots are developed and there are no temporary common controls for subdivision outfalls, i.e. sediment 

basins, large sediment traps, check dams, etc. 
 

3) If lots are sold and then re-sold to a third party, permit coverage shall be obtained by each of the operators while 
they have ownership of the lots.  The second owner is responsible for obtaining the same certification from the 
third owner (i.e. the certification shall pass from owner to owner). 
 

C. The operator shall not terminate permit coverage until the operators of all of the individual lots within the larger 
common plan of development or sale are notified of their permitting requirements under this general permit. In this 
case, the signed certification statements from each operator of individual lots shall be maintained in the stormwater 
pollution prevention plan for the larger common plan of development or sale. A copy of the signed certifications shall 
be submitted to DEQ with the NOT. The certification shall be as follows: 
 
“I, ________________________________, operator of an individual lot #______, block #_______ of 
________________ subdivision, certify under penalty of law that I was notified by the operator of the larger common 
plan of the stormwater permitting requirements for my construction site(s). I understand prior to commencement of any 
construction activity I have to prepare and comply with a SWPPP and post the Construction Site Notice . I understand 
that prior to the sale of this lot to another party; I must notify the new owner of DEQ requirements and obtain this 
certification from the new owner.” 

 
Signature ______________________________________ 

 
D. The following examples are provided as clarification:  



      Page 17 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 
1) If a small portion of the original common plan of development remains undeveloped and there has been a period of 

time (i.e., more than 24 months) where there are no ongoing construction activities (i.e., all areas are either 
undisturbed or have been finally stabilized), operators may re-evaluate the original project based on the acreage 
remaining from the original “larger common plan of development or sale.”  If less than five (5) but more than one 
(1) acre remains to build out the original “common plan”, coverage under the large permit may not be required.  
However, operators will need to comply with the terms and conditions for Small Construction Sites in the 
Construction General Permit.  If less than one acre remains of the original common plan, the individual project may 
be treated as a part of a less than one acre development and no permit would be required. 

2) If operators have a long-range master plan of development or sale where some portions of the master plan are 
conceptual rather than a specific plan of future development and the future construction activities would, if they 
occur at all, happen over an extended period of time (i.e., more than 24 months), operators may consider the 
“conceptual” phases of development to be separate “common plans” provided the periods of construction for the 
physically interconnected phases will not overlap. 

3) Where discrete construction projects within a larger common plan of development or sale are located ¼ mile or 
more apart and the area between the projects is not being disturbed, each individual project can be treated as a 
separate plan of development or sale provided any interconnecting road, pipeline or utility project that is part of the 
same “common plan” is not concurrently being disturbed. For example, if an interconnecting access road or 
pipeline were under construction at the same time, they would generally be considered as a part of a single 
“common plan” for permitting purposes. 

4) If the operator sells all the lots in the subdivision to one or more multi-lot homebuilder(s), provisions shall be made 
to obtain stormwater permit coverage by one of the following options: 
a. The permit may be transferred from the first “operator” to the new/second “operator”. 
b. A new, separate permit coverage may be obtained by the second “operator”. 

NOTE: If a new permit coverage is to be obtained, then it shall be obtained before the first/original permit is 
terminated. 

5) If the operator retains ownership of any lots in the subdivision, the operator shall maintain permit coverage for 
those lots under the original permit coverage.  The operator shall modify the SWPPP by stating which lots are 
owned and marking the lots on the site map.  If there are one (1) or two (2) lots remaining and the total acreage is 
less than five (5) acres, the original permit coverage could be terminated and those lots could be covered as a small 
site. 

 

18. Change in Operator.  For stormwater discharges from large construction sites where the operator changes, including 
instances where an operator is added after the initial NOI has been submitted, the new operator shall ensure that a permit 
transfer form is received by DEQ at least two (2) weeks prior to the new operator beginning work at the site. 

 

19. Late Notifications.  A discharger is not precluded from submitting an NOI in accordance with the requirements of this part 
after the dates provided in Part I.B.7 of this permit.  In such instances, the Director may bring an enforcement action for 
failure to submit an NOI in a timely manner or for any unauthorized discharges of stormwater associated with construction 
activity that have occurred on or after the dates specified in this permit. 

 

20. Failure to Notify.  The operator of a construction site who fails to notify the Director of their intent to be covered under 
this permit, and who potentially discharges pollutants (sediment, debris, etc.) to waters of the State without an NPDES 
permit, is in violation of the Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control Act.  

 

21. Maintenance.  Determination of the acreage of disturbance does not typically include disturbance for routine maintenance 
activities on existing roads where the original line and grade, hydraulic capacity, or original purpose of the road is not being 
altered, nor does it include the paving of existing roads.  Maintenance activities (returning to original conditions) are not 



      Page 18 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

regulated under this permit unless one or more acres of underlying or surrounding soil are cleared, graded, or excavated as 
part of the operation.   

 

22. Releases in Excess of Reportable Quantities. 

 

A. The discharge of hazardous substances or oil in the stormwater discharge(s) from a facility shall be prevented or 
minimized in accordance with the applicable stormwater pollution prevention plan for the facility.  This permit does not 
relieve the operator of the reporting requirements of 40 C.F.R. §110, §117 and §302.  Where a release containing a 
hazardous substance or oil in an amount equal to or in excess of a reporting quantity established under either 40 C.F.R. 
§110, 40 C.F.R. §117, or 40 C.F.R. §302, occurs during a twenty-four (24) hour period, the following action shall be 
taken: 

 
1) Any person in charge of the facility is required to notify the National Response Center (NRC) (800-424-8802) in 

accordance with the requirements of 40 C.F.R. §110, 40 C.F.R. §117, or 40 C.F.R. §302 as soon as he/she has 
knowledge of the discharge; 

2) The operator shall submit within five (5) calendar days of knowledge of the release a written description of the 
release (including the type and estimate of the amount of material released), the date that such release occurred, and 
the circumstances leading to the release, and steps to be taken in accordance with Part II.B.17 of this permit to the 
DEQ. 

3) The SWPPP described in Part II.A of this permit shall be modified within fourteen (14) calendar days of 
knowledge of the release to: 

 
a. Provide a description of the release and the circumstances leading to the release; and 
b. The date of the release; 

 
4) Additionally, the SWPPP shall be reviewed to identify measures to prevent the reoccurrence of such releases and to 

respond to such releases, and the plan shall be modified where appropriate. 
 

B. Spills.  This permit does not authorize the discharge of hazardous substances or oil resulting from an on-site spill. 
 

23.  Attainment of Water Quality Standards.  

 

The operator shall select, install, implement, and maintain control measures at the construction site and construction support 
activities off site that minimize the discharge of pollutants for which a stream is impaired at the discretion of the Director as 
necessary to protect water quality.  In general, except in situations explained below, the stormwater controls developed, 
implemented, and updated to be considered stringent enough to ensure that discharges do not cause, have the reasonable 
potential to cause, or contribute to an excursion above any applicable water quality standard.  
 
At any time after authorization, DEQ may determine that the stormwater discharges may cause, have reasonable potential to 
cause, or contribute to an excursion above any applicable water quality standard.  If such a determination is made, DEQ will 
require the permittee to:  

 
A. Develop a supplemental BMP action plan describing SWPPP modifications to address adequately the identified water 

quality concerns and submit valid and verifiable data and information that are representative of ambient conditions and 
indicate that the receiving water is attaining water quality standards; or 

 
B. Cease discharges of pollutants from construction activity and submit an individual permit application. 

 



      Page 19 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

All written responses required under this part shall include a signed certification consistent with Part II.B.9. 
 

24. Requiring an Individual Permit 

 

The Director may require any person eligible for coverage under the general permit to apply for and obtain an individual 
permit. In addition, any interested person(s) may submit an application for an individual permit.  The Director may consider 
the issuance of individual permits according to the criteria in 40 C.F.R. §122.28(b)(3).  

 
Coverage of the facility under this general permit is may be terminated by DEQ if the operator fails to submit or respond to 
the permitting process or requests for information in a timely manner. 
 
Any operator covered under this general permit may request to be excluded from the coverage of this permit by applying for 
an APC&EC Rule 6 individual permit. The operator shall submit an application for an individual permit with the reasons 
supporting the application to DEQ.  If a final, individual NPDES permit is issued to an operator otherwise subject to this 
general permit, the operator is required to submit a NOT. Coverage under this general permit will then be  terminated no 
earlier than the effective date of the individual NPDES permit. Otherwise, the applicability of this general permit to the 
facility remains in full force and effect. 



     Page 1 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

 

PART II 

STANDARD CONDITIONS 

 

Information in Part II is organized as follows: 
 

Section A:  Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plans (SWPPP): 

     1. Deadlines for Plan Preparation and Compliance 
     2. Signature, SWPPP, Inspection Reports, and Notice of Coverage (NOC)  
     3. Keeping SWPPP Current 
     4. Contents of the Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 
     5. Plan Certification 
 

Section B:  Standard Permit Conditions: 
1. Retention of Records 
2. Duty to Comply 
3. Penalties for Violations of Permit Conditions 
4. Continuance of the General Permit 
5. Need to Halt or Reduce Activity Not a Defense 
6. Duty to Mitigate 
7. Duty to Provide Information 
8. Other Information 
9. Signatory Requirements 
10. Certification 
11. Penalties for Falsification of Reports 
12. Penalties for Tampering 
13. Oil and Hazardous Substance Liability 
14. Property Rights 
15. Severability 
16. Transfers 
17. Proper Operation and Maintenance 
18. Inspection and Entry 
19. Permit Actions 
20. Re-Opener Clause 
21. Local Requirements  
22. Applicable Federal, State Requirements  
 

 
 

 



     Page 2 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

SECTION A:  STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLANS (SWPPP) 
 
The operator shall prepare a SWPPP before permit coverage. The SWPPP shall follow the order outlined in Part II.A.4 & 5 
below. This basic DEQ format is available through DEQ’s website 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/.  Other formats may be used at the discretion of the Director if the 
format has been approved by DEQ prior to use.  The operator shall implement the SWPPP as written from initial 
commencement of construction activity until final stabilization is complete, with changes being made as deemed necessary by 
the permittee, local, state or federal officials.  The plan shall be prepared in accordance with good engineering practices, by 
qualified personnel and shall: 

 

• Identify potential sources of pollution which may reasonably be expected to affect the quality of stormwater 
discharges from the construction site and construction support activities off site; 

• Identify, describe and ensure the implementation of BMPs, with emphasis on initial site stabilization, which are to 
be used to reduce pollutants in stormwater discharges from the construction site and construction support activities 
off site; 

• Be site specific to what is taking place on a particular construction site; 

• Ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of this permit; and 

• Identify the responsible party for on-site SWPPP implementation. 
 

1. Deadlines for Plan Preparation and Compliance.   
 

A. Automatic Coverage Sites. 

 
The plan shall be completed prior to obtaining permit coverage and commencement of construction activities and 
updated as appropriate.  Submittal of the NOI, permit fee and SWPPP is not required. All conditions set forth in Part 
II.A must be followed, and the NOC must be posted at the site prior to commencing construction activities.  In addition, 
a copy of the SWPPP must be available at the construction site in accordance with Part II.A.2.B and D prior to 
commencing construction. 
 

B. Large Construction Sites. 

 
The plan shall be completed and submitted for review, along with an NOI and initial permit fee ten (10) business days 
prior to the commencement of construction activities.  Submittals of updates to the plan during the construction process 
are required in accordance with Part I.B.6.C or if requested by the Director. 
 

C. Existing Permittees. 

 
Existing permittees that were permitted prior to the issuance of this renewal permit are required to update their plan as 
appropriate to come into compliance with the requirements contained in Part II.A.4 by the effective date of this permit. 

 

2. Signature, SWPPP, Inspection Reports and Notice of Coverage (NOC). 

 
A. The SWPPP and inspection reports shall be signed by the operator (or cognizant official) in accordance with Part II.B.9 

and be retained at the construction site during normal business hours (8:00 A.M. – 5:00 P.M.). The inspections 
frequency shall be conducted in accordance with Part II.A.4.N.1.    

 
B. The operator shall make SWPPP and inspection reports available, upon request, to the Director, the EPA, or a State or 

local agency reviewing sediment and erosion plans, grading plans, or stormwater management plans, or, in the case of a 
stormwater discharge associated with construction activity which discharges through a municipal separate storm sewer 
system with an NPDES permit, to the municipal operator of the system. 

 



     Page 3 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

C. The Director, or authorized representative, may notify the operator at any time that the plan does not meet one or more 
of the minimum requirements of this Part.  Within seven (7) business days of such notification from the Director (or as 
otherwise provided by the Director) or authorized representative, the operator shall make the required changes to the 
plan and submit to the Director a written certification that the requested changes have been made.  DEQ may request re-
submittal of the SWPPP to confirm that all deficiencies have been adequately addressed.  DEQ may also take 
appropriate enforcement action for the period of time the operator was operating under SWPPP that did not meet the 
minimum requirements of this permit. 

 
D. The operator shall post the NOC near the main entrance of the construction site and visible to the public.  The NOC 

shall indicate the location of the SWPPP.  If the SWPPP location is changed from the initial location, the NOC shall be 
updated to reflect the correct location of the SWPPP. 

 

3. Keeping SWPPP Current.  The operator shall amend the SWPPP within seven (7) business days or whenever there is a 
change in design, construction, operation, or maintenance at the construction site which has or could have a significant 
effect on the potential for the discharge of pollutants to the waters of the State that has not been previously addressed in the 
SWPPP.  The SWPPP shall also be modified if a determination has been made through inspections, monitoring (if 

required), or investigation by the operator, local, state, or federal officials that the discharges are causing or contributing to 
water quality violation or the plan proves to be ineffective in eliminating or significantly minimizing pollutants from sources 
identified in stormwater discharges from the construction site. 
 

4. Contents of the SWPPP.  The SWPPP shall include the following items: 
 

A. Site Description.  SWPPP shall provide a description of the following: 
 

1) A description of the nature of the construction activity and its intended use after the NOI is filed (i.e., residential 
subdivision, shopping mall, etc.); 

2) A description of the intended sequence of major activities which disturb soils for major portions of the site (e.g. 
grubbing, excavation, grading, infrastructure installation, etc.); 

3) Estimates of the total area of the site including off-site borrow and fill areas and the total area of the site that is 
expected to be disturbed by excavation, grading or other activities; and 

4) An estimate of the runoff coefficient of the site for pre- and post-construction activities and existing data describing 
the soil or the quality of any discharge from the site. 
 

B. Responsible Parties.  The SWPPP shall identify (as soon as this information is known) all parties (i.e., General 
Contractors, Landscapers, Project Designers, and Inspectors) responsible for particular construction activities and 
services they provide to the operator to comply with the requirements of the SWPPP for the project site and 
construction support activities off site, and areas over which each party has control.  If these parties change over the life 
of the permit, or new parties are added, the SWPPP shall be updated to reflect these changes. 
 

C. Receiving Waters.  The SWPPP shall include a clear description of the nearest receiving water(s), or if the discharge is 
to a MS4, the name of the operator of the municipal system, and the ultimate receiving water(s). 
 

D. Documentation of Permit Eligibility Related to the 303(d) list and Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDL).  The SWPPP 
shall include information on whether or not the stormwater discharges from the site enter a waterbody that is on the 
most recent 303(d) list or with an approved TMDL.  If the stormwater discharge does enter a waterbody that is on the 
most recent 303(d) list or with an approved TMDL, then the SWPPP shall address the following items: 

 
1) Identification of the pollutants that the 303(d) list or TMDL addresses, specifically whether the 303(d) list or 

TMDL addresses sediment or a parameter that addresses sediment (such as total suspended solids, turbidity, or 
siltation);  

2) Identification of whether the operator’s discharge is identified, either specifically or generally, on the 303(d) list or 



     Page 4 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

any associated assumptions and allocations identified in the TMDL for the discharge; and 
3) Measures taken by the operator to ensure that its discharge of pollutants from the site is consistent with the 

assumptions and allocations of the TMDL. 
 

If DEQ determines during the review process that the proposed project will be discharging to a receiving water that is 
on the most recent 303(d) list or with an approved TMDL, then DEQ may notify the applicant to include additional 
Best Management Practices in the SWPPP.    

 
E. Documentation of Permit Eligibility Related to Discharges into an ERW, NSW, or ESW.  The SWPPP shall include 

information whether or not the construction site located within a watershed of an ERW, ESW, or NSW. If the 
construction site is located within a watershed of an ERW, ESW, or NSW, then the SWPPP should consider using 
additional BMPs for these areas. The practices shall be considered during the progression of site activities and updates 
to the construction site SWPPP for continued protection of underground water resources. 
 

F. Documentation of Permit Eligibility related to potential losing stream and/or sensitive aquatic species native to these 

areas. The SWPPP shall include information whether or not the construction site located within a watershed of a 
potential losing stream, and/or sensitive aquatic species native to these areas. If the construction site is located within a 
watershed of a potential losing stream and/or sensitive aquatic species native to these areas, then the SWPPP shall 
consider using BMPs for losing stream areas. The practices should be considered during the progression of site 
activities and updates to the facility SWPPP for continued protection of underground water resources. 
 

G. Attainment of Water Quality Standards After Authorization. 
 
1) The permittee shall select, install, implement, and maintain BMPs at the construction site and at the construction 

support activities off site that minimize pollutants in the discharge as necessary to meet applicable water quality 
standards.  In general, except in situations explained below, the SWPPP shall be developed, implemented, and 
updated to be considered as stringent as necessary to ensure that the discharges do not cause, have the reasonable 
potential to cause, or contribute to an excursion above any applicable water quality standard. 

 
2) At any time after authorization, DEQ may determine that the stormwater discharges may cause, have reasonable 

potential to cause, or contribute to an excursion above any applicable water quality standard.  If such a 
determination is made, DEQ will require the permittee to: 

 
a. Develop a supplemental BMP action plan describing SWPPP modifications to adequately address the 

identified water quality concerns and submit valid and verifiable data and information that are representative of 
ambient conditions and indicate that the receiving water is attaining water quality standards; or 

 
b. Cease discharges of pollutants from construction activity and submit an individual permit application. 

 
3) All written responses required under this part shall include a signed certification (Part II.B.9). 
 

H. Site Map.  The SWPPP shall contain a legible site map (or multiple maps, if necessary) complete to scale, showing the 
entire site, that identifies, at a minimum, the following: 
 
1) Pre-construction topographic view; 
2) Direction of stormwater flow (i.e., use arrows to show which direction stormwater will flow) and approximate 

slopes anticipated after grading activities; 
3) Delineate on the site map areas of soil disturbance and areas that will not be disturbed with regards to the 

construction activities and construction support activities off site under the coverage of this permit; 
4) Location of major structural and nonstructural controls identified in the plan; 
5) Location of main construction entrance and exit; 



     Page 5 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

6) Location where stabilization practices are expected to occur; 
7) Locations of all construction support activities off-site (i.e. materials, waste, borrow area, or equipment storage 

areas); 
8) Location of areas used for concrete wash-out; 
9) Location of all waters of the State with associated natural buffer boundary lines.  Identify floodplain and floodway 

boundaries, if available; 
10) Locations where stormwater is discharged to waters of the State or a municipal separate storm sewer system if 

applicable, 
11) Locations where stormwater is discharged off-site (shall be continuously updated); 
12) Areas where final stabilization has been accomplished and no further construction phase permit requirements 

apply; 
13) A legend that clearly specifies any erosion and sediment control measure symbols/labels used in the site map and/or 

detail sheet; and 
14) Locations of any storm drain inlets on the site and in the immediate vicinity of the site. 
 

I. Stormwater Controls.  Each plan shall include a description of appropriate controls and measures that will be installed 
and implemented at the construction site.  The plan shall clearly describe each construction activity identified in the 
project description control measures associated with the construction activity and the schedule during the construction 
process that the measures will be implemented.  Perimeter controls for the site shall be installed after the clearing and 
grubbing necessary for installation of the measure, but before the clearing and grubbing for the remaining portions of 
the site.  Perimeter controls shall be actively maintained until final stabilization of those portions of the site upward of 
the perimeter control.  Temporary controls shall be removed and properly disposed of after final stabilization.  The 
description and implementation of controls shall address the following minimum components: 
 

1) Initial Site Stabilization, Erosion, and Sediment Controls and Best Management Practices.  Design, install, 
implement, and maintain effective erosion and sediment controls to minimize the discharge of pollutants. At a 
minimum the following controls and BMPs shall be designed, installed, implemented, and maintained.  Therefore, 
the SWPPP shall address, at a minimum, the following: 

 
a. For larger common plans of development or sale, only streets, drainage, utility areas, areas needed for initial 

construction of streets (e.g., borrow pits, parking areas, etc.) and areas needed for stormwater structures may be 
disturbed initially.  Upon stabilization of the initial areas, additional areas may be disturbed. 

b. The construction-phase erosion (such as site stabilization) and sediment controls (such as check dams) shall be 
designed to retain sediment on-site to the extent practicable. 

c. All control measures shall be properly selected, installed, and maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s specifications, good engineering, and construction practices.  If periodic inspections or other 
information indicates a control has been used inappropriately or incorrectly, the permittee shall replace or 
modify the control for site situations. 

d. If sediment escapes the construction site, off site accumulations of sediment shall be removed before the next 
business day to minimize off-site impacts (e.g., to prevent fugitive sediment in a street could be washed into 
storm sewers by the next rain or pose a safety hazard to users of public streets).  This permit does not give the 
authority to trespass onto other property; therefore this condition should be carried out along with the 
permission of neighboring land owners to remove sediment. 

e. Sediment shall be removed from sediment traps (if used, please specify what type) or sedimentation ponds 
when design capacity has been reduced by 50%. 

f. Litter, construction debris, and construction chemicals exposed to precipitation and to stormwater shall be 
prevented from becoming a pollutant source for stormwater discharges (e.g., screening outfalls picked up 
daily). 

g. Construction support activities off site (i.e. material storage areas, overburden and stockpiles of dirt, borrow 
areas, etc.) used solely by the permitted project are considered a part of the project and shall be addressed in 
the SWPPP. 



     Page 6 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

 
2) Stabilization practices.  The SWPPP shall include, at a minimum, the following information: 

 
a. Description and Schedule:  A description of initial, interim, and permanent stabilization practices, including 

site-specific scheduling of the implementation of the practices.  Site plans shall ensure that existing vegetation 
is preserved where attainable and that disturbed areas are stabilized.  Stabilization practices may include, but 
not limited to: mulching, temporary seeding, permanent seeding, geotextiles, sod stabilization, natural buffer 
strips, protection of trees, and preservation of mature vegetation and other appropriate measures. 

 
b. Description of natural buffer areas:  DEQ requires that a natural buffer zone be established between the top of 

stream bank and the disturbed area.  The SWPPP shall contain a description of how the site will maintain 
natural buffer zones.  For construction projects where clearing and grading activities will occur, SWPPP shall 
provide at least twenty-five (25) feet of natural buffer zone from any named or unnamed streams, creeks, rivers, 
lakes or other water bodies.  The plan shall also provide at least fifty (50) feet of natural buffer zone from 
established TMDL waterbodies, waterbodies listed on the 303(d) list, an ERW, ESW, NSW, or other uses at 
the discretion of the Director.  If the site will be disturbed within the recommended buffer zone, then the buffer 
zone area shall be stabilized as soon as possible.  Exceptions from this requirement for areas such as water 
crossings, limited water access, and restoration of the buffer are allowed if the permittee fully documents in the 
SWPPP the circumstances and reasons for the buffer zone encroachment.  Additionally, this requirement is not 
intended to interfere with any other ordinance, rule or regulation, statute or other provision of law.  Please note 
that above-grade clearing that does not disturb the soil in the buffer zone area does not have to comply with 
buffer zone requirements.  

 
c. Records of Stabilization:  A record of the dates when grading activities occur, when construction activities 

temporarily or permanently cease on a portion of the site, and when stabilization measures are initiated shall be 
included in the plan. 

 
d. Deadlines for Stabilization After Construction Activity Temporarily Ceases:  Stabilization measures shall be 

initiated as soon as practicable in portions of the site where construction activities have temporarily ceased, but 
in no case more than fourteen (14) calendar days after the construction activity in that portion of the site has 
temporarily ceased, except: 

 
(1) Where the initiation of stabilization measures by the fourteenth (14th) calendar day after construction 

activity temporarily ceases is precluded by snow cover, stabilization measures shall be initiated as soon as 
practicable. 
 

(2) In arid, semiarid, and drought-stricken areas where initiating vegetative stabilization measures immediately 
is infeasible, alternative stabilization measures shall be employed as specified by the permitting authority. 

 
e. Deadline for Stabilization After Construction Activity Permanently Ceases:  Stabilization measures shall be 

initiated immediately in portions of the site where construction activities have permanently ceased, except: 
 

(1) Where the initiation of stabilization measures immediately after construction activity permanently ceases is 
precluded by snow cover, stabilization measures shall be initiated as soon as practicable. 
 

(2) In arid, semiarid, and drought-stricken areas where initiating vegetative stabilization measures immediately 
is infeasible, alternative stabilization measures shall be employed as specified by the permitting authority. 

 
3) Structural Practices.  A description of structural practices to divert flows from exposed soils, store flows, or 

otherwise limit runoff and the discharge of pollutants from exposed areas of the site to the degree attainable.  
Structural practices should be placed on upland soils to the degree attainable.  The installation of these devices may 



     Page 7 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

be subject to Section 404 of the Clean Water Act.  Such practices may include but are not limited to: 
 

- silt fences (installed and maintained); 
- earthen dikes to prevent run-on; 
- drainage swales to prevent run-on; 
- check dams; 
- subsurface drains; 
- pipe slope drains; 
- storm drain inlet protection; 
- rock outlet protection; 
- sediment traps; 
- reinforced soil retaining systems; 
- gabions; 
- temporary or permanent sediment basins. 

 
A combination of erosion and sediment control measures is encouraged to achieve maximum pollutant removal.  
Adequate spillway cross-sectional area and re-enforcement shall be provided for check dams, sediment traps, and 
sediment basins. 

 
a. Sediment Basins: 

 
(1) For common drainage locations that serve an area with ten (10) or more acres (including run-on from other 

areas) draining to a common point, a temporary or permanent sediment basin that provides storage based 
on either the smaller of 3600 cubic feet per acre, or a size based on the runoff volume of a 10 year, 24 hour 
storm, shall be provided where attainable (so as not to adversely impact water quality) until final 
stabilization of the site. In determining whether installing a sediment basin is attainable, the operator may 
consider factors such as site soils, slope, available area on site, etc. Proper hydraulic design of the outlet is 
critical to achieving the desired performance of the basin. The outlet should be designed to drain the basin 
within twenty-four (24) to seventy-two (72) hours. (A rule of thumb is one square foot per acre for a 
spillway design.) The 24-hour limit is specified to provide adequate settling time; the seventy-two (72) 
hour limit is specified to mitigate vector control concerns. If a pipe outlet design is chosen for the outfall, 
then an emergency spillway is required. If “non-attainability” is claimed, then an explanation of non-

attainability shall be included in the SWPPP. Where a sediment basin is not attainable, smaller sediment 
basins or sediment traps shall be used. Where a sediment basin is un-attainable, natural buffer strips or 
other suitable controls which are effective are required for all side slopes and down slope boundaries of the 
construction area. The plans for removal or final usage of the sediment basin shall be included with the 
description of the basin in the SWPPP. 

 
(2) For drainage locations serving an area less than ten (10) acres, sediment traps, silt fences, or equivalent 

sediment controls are required for all side slope and down slope boundaries of the construction area unless 
a sediment basin providing storage based on either the smaller of 3600 cubic feet per acre, or a size based 
on the run off volume of a 10 year, 24 hour storm is provided.  The outlet should be designed to drain the 
basin within twenty-four (24) to seventy-two (72) hours. (A rule of thumb is one square foot per acre for a 
spillway design.) The 24-hour limit is specified to provide adequate settling time; the seventy-two (72) 
hour limit is specified to mitigate vector control concerns. If a pipe outlet design is chosen for the outfall, 
then an emergency spillway is required.  However, in order to protect the waters of the State, the Director, 
at their discretion, may require a sediment basin for any drainage areas draining to a common point. 

 
b. Velocity Dissipation Devices: 
 

Velocity dissipation devices shall be placed at discharge locations, within concentrated flow areas serving two 



     Page 8 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

or more acres, and along the length of any outfall channel to provide a non-erosive flow velocity from the 
structure to a water course so that the natural physical and biological characteristics and functions are 
maintained and protected (i.e., no significant changes in the hydrological regime of the receiving water).  
Please note that the use of hay-bales is not recommended in areas of concentrated flow. 
 

J. Other Controls. 
 

1) No solid materials identified in Part I.B.13.D shall be discharged to waters of the State or offsite. 
2) Off-site vehicle tracking of sediments and the generation of dust shall be minimized through the use of a stabilized 

construction entrance and exit or vehicle tire washing. 
3) For lots that are less than one (1) acre in size an alternative method may be used in addition to a stabilized 

construction entrance.  An example of an alternative method could be daily street sweeping.  This could allow for 
the shortening of the construction entrance. 

4) The plan shall ensure and demonstrate compliance with applicable State or local waste disposal, temporary and 
permanent sanitary sewer or septic system regulations. 

5) No liquid concrete waste shall be discharged to waters of the State.  Appropriate controls to prevent the discharge 
of concrete washout waters shall be implemented if concrete washout will occur on-site.  

6) No contaminants from fuel storage areas, hazardous waste storage and truck wash areas shall be discharged to 
waters of the State or offsite.  Methods for protecting these areas shall be identified and implemented.  These areas 
shall not be located near a waterbody, if there is a water body on or near the project. 

 
K. Non-stormwater discharges.  Sources of non-stormwater listed in Part I.B.10 of this permit that are combined with 

stormwater discharges associated with construction activity shall be identified in the plan.  This list shall be site specific 
non-stormwater discharges. 
 

L. Post-Construction Stormwater Management.  The operator is required to provide a description of measures that will be 
installed during the construction process to control pollutants in stormwater discharges that will occur after construction 
operations have been completed.  Structural measures shall be placed on upland soils to the degree attainable. The 
installation of these devices may be subject to Section 404 (Corps of Engineers) of the Clean Water Act. This permit 
only addresses the installation of stormwater management measures, and not the ultimate operation and maintenance of 
such structures after the construction activities have been completed and the site has undergone final stabilization.  
However, post-construction stormwater BMPs that discharge pollutants from a point source once construction is 
completed may need authorization under a separate DEQ NPDES permit. Such practices may include but are not 
limited to: 
 

- infiltration of runoff onsite; 
- flow attenuation by use of open vegetated swales and natural depressions; 
- stormwater retention structures; 
- stormwater detention structures (including wet ponds); 
- sequential systems, which combine several practices. 
 

A goal of at least eighty percent 80 % removal of total suspended solids from these flows which exceed predevelopment 
levels should be used in designing and installing stormwater management controls (where practicable).  Where this goal 
is not met, the operator shall provide justification for rejecting each practice listed above based on site conditions. 
 

M. Applicable State or Local Programs.  The SWPPP shall be updated as necessary to reflect any revisions to applicable 
federal, state, or local requirements that affect the stormwater controls implemented at the site. 
 

N. Inspections.  Inspections shall be conducted by qualified personnel (provided by the operator).  Inspections shall 
include all areas of the site disturbed by construction activity and construction support activities located off site that are 
exposed to precipitation and to stormwater. Inspectors shall look for evidence of, or the potential for, pollutants entering 



     Page 9 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

the stormwater conveyance system.  All stormwater control measures shall be observed to ensure proper installation, 
operation, and maintenance.  Discharge locations shall be inspected to determine whether all stormwater control 
measures are effective in preventing significant impacts to waters of the State or offsite, where accessible.  Where 
discharge locations are inaccessible, nearby downstream locations shall be inspected to the extent that such inspections 
are practicable.  Locations where vehicles enter or exit the site shall be inspected for evidence of off-site sediment 
tracking.  Inspections may not be required if the remaining lot(s) within a larger common plan of development or sale 
disturb less than one acre of land  In addition, inspections may not be required on a completed section of a linear project 
if final stabilization has been completed for that section.  Stabilized areas of the project shall be indicated in the SWPPP 
and site map and show what date they were stabilized.  The operator shall ensure that no sediment will leave the lot(s) 
that are stabilized.  These lots shall be identified within the SWPPP and show what date they were stabilized.  If the 
operator is unable to ensure this, then inspections shall continue. 

 
1) Inspection Frequency.  Inspections shall be conducted in accordance with one of the following schedules listed 

below. The schedule must be specified in the SWPPP. 
 

a. At least once every seven (7) calendar days, or 
b. At least once every fourteen (14) calendar days and within twenty-four (24) hours of the end of a storm event 

of 0.25 inches or greater (a rain gauge must be maintained on-site).  
 

2) Inspection Form.  The DEQ inspection form should be used for all inspections.  The inspection form shall include 
all stormwater controls that are being used on site as well as at construction support activities off site.  The form is 
available on DEQ’s website www.adeq.state.ar.us.  If a different form is used, it shall at a minimum contain the 
following information: 

 
a. Inspector name and title; 
b. Date of Inspection; 
c. Amount of rainfall and days since last rain event (only applicable to Part II.A.4.N.1.b); 
d. Approximate beginning and duration of the storm event; 
e. Description of any discharges during inspection; 
f. Locations of discharges of sediment/other pollutants; 
g. Locations of BMPs in need of maintenance or where maintenance was performed; 
h. If the BMPs are in working order and if maintenance is required (including when scheduled and completed); 
i. Locations that are in need of additional controls; 
j. Location and dates when major construction activities begin, occur or cease;  
k. Signature of qualified signatory official, in accordance with Part II.B.9. 

 
Additional information may be added to the inspection report at the permittee’s discretion. 
 

3) Inspection Records. Each report shall be retained as part of the SWPPP for at least three (3) years from the date the 
site is finally stabilized. Each report shall be signed and have a certification statement in accordance with Parts 
II.B.9 and 10 of this permit. 

 
4) Winter Conditions.  Inspections will not be required at construction sites nor the construction support activities 

located off site where snow cover exists over the entire site for an extended period, and melting conditions do not 
exist.  If there is any runoff from the site at any time during snow cover, melting conditions are considered to be 
existent at the site and this inspection waiver does not apply.  Regular inspections, as required by this permit, are 
required at all other times as specified in this permit.  If winter conditions prevent compliance with the permit, 
documentation of the beginning and ending date of winter conditions shall be included in the SWPPP.   

 
5) Adverse Weather Conditions. Adverse conditions are those that are dangerous or create inaccessibility for 

personnel, such as local flooding, high winds, or electrical storms, or situations that otherwise make inspections 



     Page 10 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

impractical, such as extended frozen conditions. When adverse weather conditions prevent the inspection of the 
site, an inspection shall be completed as soon as is safe and feasible.  If adverse weather conditions prevent 
compliance with the permit, documentation of the beginning and ending date of adverse weather conditions shall be 
included in the SWPPP. 

 
O. Maintenance.  A description of procedures to maintain vegetation, erosion and sediment control measures and other 

protective measures in good, effective operating condition shall be outlined in the plan.  Any repairs that are needed 
based on an inspection shall be completed, when practicable, before the next storm event, but not to exceed a period of 
three (3) business days of discovery, or as otherwise directed by state or local officials.  However, if conditions do not 
permit large equipment to be used, a longer time frame is allowed if the condition is thoroughly documented on the 
inspection form.  Maintenance for manufactured controls shall be done at a minimum of the manufacturer’s 
specifications.  Maintenance for non-manufactured controls, i.e. check dams and sediment traps, shall be done when 
50% of treatment capacity remains. 
 

P. Employee Training. The permittee/operator is responsible for training personnel, who are responsible for implementing 
activities identified in the SWPPP, on the components and requirements of the SWPPP and the requirements of the 
general permit. This includes contractors and subcontractors. Training shall be given by a knowledgeable and qualified 
trainer. The SWPPP shall identify periodic dates for such training for all personnel and records of training shall be 
maintained with the SWPPP. Training records that are maintained electronically (i.e. database, etc.) do not need to be 
maintained with the SWPPP, but shall be accessible upon request.  Formal training classes given by Universities or 
other third-party organizations are not required but recommended for qualified trainers; the permittee is responsible for 
the content of the training being adequate for personnel to implement the requirements of the permit. 
 

5. Plan Certification. The SWPPP Certification shall be signed by either the operator or the cognizant official identified on 
the NOI. All documents required by the permit and other information requested by the Director shall be signed by operator 
or by a duly authorized representative of the operator (Please see Part II.B.10 below for certification). 
 

 



     Page 11 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

SECTION B:  STANDARD PERMIT CONDITIONS 
 

1. Retention of Records. 

 
A. The operator shall retain records of all Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plans, all inspection reports required by this 

permit, and records of all data used to complete the NOI to be covered by this permit for a period of at least three (3) 
years from the date the NOT letter is signed by DEQ.  This period may be extended by request of the Director at any 
time. 

 
B. The operator shall retain a signed copy of the SWPPP and inspection reports required by this permit at the construction 

site from the date of project initiation to the date of final stabilization. 
 

2. Duty to Comply.  The operator shall comply with all conditions of this permit.  Any permit noncompliance constitutes a 
violation of the federal Clean Water Act and the Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control Act and is grounds for: 
enforcement action; permit termination, revocation and re-issuance, or modification; or denial of a permit renewal 
application. 

 

3. Penalties for Violations of Permit Conditions.  The Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control Act (Ark. Code Ann. 8-4-
101 et seq.) provides that any person who violates any provisions of a permit issued under the Act shall be guilty of a 
misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to imprisonment for not more than one (1) year, or a criminal 
penalty of not more than twenty five thousand dollars ($25,000) or by both such fine and imprisonment for each day of such 
violation.  Any person who violates any provision of a permit issued under the Act may also be subject to civil penalty in 
such amount as the court shall find appropriate, not to exceed ten thousand dollars ($10,000) for each day of such violation. 
 The fact that any such violation may constitute a misdemeanor shall not be a bar to the maintenance of such civil action. 
Any person that purposely, knowingly, or recklessly causes pollution of the water of the state in a manner not otherwise 
permitted by law and thereby places another person in imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury shall be guilty of a 
felony and shall be subject to imprisonment, a fine not more than two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000), or both 
such fine and imprisonment. 

 

4. Continuance of the General Permit.  Permittees wishing to continue coverage under this general permit shall submit a 
Renewal NOI (see Part I.B.4 for where to submit documentation) up to 180 days prior to the expiration date, but no later 
than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration date. No additional fee is required to be submitted along with the Renewal NOI. 

 
An expired general permit continues in force and effect until a new general permit is issued.  If this permit is not re-issued 
or replaced prior to the expiration date, it will be administratively continued in accordance with Ark. Code Ann. § 8-4-
203(m) and remain in force and effect.  If a permittee was granted permit coverage prior to the expiration date, the permittee 
will remain covered by the continued permit until the earliest of:  

 
A. The effective date of the re-issuance or replacement of this permit and a timely submittal of a renewal NOI by the 

operator; or 
 

B. The operator’s submittal and DEQ approval of a NOT; or 
 
C. Issuance and effectiveness of an individual permit for the project’s discharges and completion of item B of this section 

(see Part I.B.24); or 
 
D. A formal permit decision by DEQ to not re-issue this general permit, at which time operators must seek coverage under 

an alternative permit (see Part I.B.24). 
 
Small site operators are responsible for ensuring that the site is in compliance with any changes or updates of this 
general permit by reviewing DEQ’s website at:  



     Page 12 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/ 
 
 

5. Need to Halt or Reduce Activity Not a Defense.  It shall not be a defense for an operator in an enforcement action that it 
would have been necessary to halt or reduce the permitted activity in order to maintain compliance with the conditions of 
this permit.   

 

6. Duty to Mitigate.  The operator shall take all reasonable steps to minimize or prevent any discharge or sludge use or 
disposal in violation of this permit which has reasonable likelihood of adversely affecting human health or the environment. 

 

7. Duty to Provide Information.  The operator shall furnish to the Director, an authorized representative of the Director, the 
EPA, a State or local agency reviewing sediment and erosion plans, grading plans, or stormwater management plans, or in 
the case of a stormwater discharge associated with industrial activity which discharges through a MS4 with an NPDES 
permit, to the municipal operator of the system, within a reasonable time, any information which is requested to determine 
compliance with this permit. 

 

8. Other Information.  When the operator becomes aware that he or she failed to submit any relevant facts or submitted 
incorrect information in the NOI or in any other report to the Director, he or she shall promptly submit such facts or 
information. 

 

9. Signatory Requirements.  All NOIs, reports, or information submitted to the Director shall be signed and certified by the 
operator. 

 
A. All NOI shall be signed as follows: 

 
1) For a corporation: by a responsible corporate officer.  For purposes of this section, a responsible corporate officer 

means: 
 

a. A president, treasurer, or vice-president of the corporation in charge of a principal business function, or any 
other person who performs similar policy or decision-making functions for the corporation; or 

 
b. The manager of one or more manufacturing, production, or operating facilities, provided, the manager is 

authorized to make management decisions which govern the operation of the regulated facility including 
having the explicit or implicit duty of making major capital investment recommendations, and initiating and 
directing other comprehensive measures to ensure long term environmental compliance with environmental 
laws and regulations; the manager can ensure that the necessary systems are established or actions taken to 
gather complete and accurate information for permit application requirements; and where authority to sign 
documents has been assigned or delegated to the manager in accordance with corporate procedures. 

 
2) For a partnership or sole proprietorship: by a general partner or the proprietor, respectively;  

 
3) For a municipality, State, Federal or other public agency: by either a principal executive or ranking elected official. 

 For purposes of this section, a principal executive officer of a Federal agency includes: 
 

a. The chief executive officer of the agency; or 
 

b. A senior executive officer having responsibility for the overall operations of a principal geographic unit of the 
agency. 

 
B. All reports required by the permit and other information requested by the Director shall be signed by a person described 



     Page 13 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

above or by a duly authorized representative of that person. A person is a duly authorized representative only if: 
 

1) The authorization is made in writing by a person described above and submitted to the Director; 
 

2) The authorization specifies either an individual or a person having responsibility for the overall operation of the 
regulated facility or activity, such as the position of plant manager, operator of a well or a well field, 
superintendent, or position of equivalent responsibility, or position of equivalent responsibility for environmental 
matters for the company (A duly authorized representative may thus be either a named individual or any individual 
occupying a named position); and 

 
3) Changes to authorization.  If an authorization under this Part is no longer accurate because a different individual or 

position has responsibility for the overall operation of the facility, a new authorization satisfying the above 
requirements shall be submitted to the Director prior to or together with any reports, information, or applications to 
be signed by an authorized representative. 

 

10. Certification.  Any person signing a document under this section shall make the following certification: 
 

"I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments such as Inspection Form were prepared under my 
direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to ensure that qualified personnel properly gather and 
evaluate the information submitted.  Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons 
directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
true, accurate, and complete.  I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the 
possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing violations." 

 

Note: For this permit only, “this document” refers to the Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan, “attachments” refers to the 
site map and inspection forms, and “system” is referencing the project site.   
 

11. Penalties for Falsification of Reports.  The Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control Act provides that any person who 
knowingly makes any false statement, representation, or certification in any application, record, report, plan or other 
document filed or required to be maintained under this permit shall be subject to civil penalties specified in Part II.B.3 of 
this permit and/or criminal penalties under the authority of the Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control Act (Ark. Code 
Ann. 8-4-101 et seq.). 

 

12. Penalties for Tampering.  The Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control act provides that any person who falsifies, 
tampers with, or knowingly renders inaccurate any monitoring device or method required to be maintained under the Act 
shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to imprisonment for not more than one (1) 
year or a fine of not more than twenty five thousand dollars ($25,000) or by both such fine and imprisonment. 

 

13. Oil and Hazardous Substance Liability.  Nothing in this permit shall be construed to preclude the institution of any legal 
action or relieve the operator from any responsibilities, liabilities, or penalties to which the operator is or may be subject 
under Section 311 of the Clean Water Act or Section 106 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, 
and Liability Act (CERCLA). 

 

14. Property Rights.  The issuance of this permit does not convey any property rights of any sort or any exclusive privileges, 
nor does it authorize any injury to private property, any invasion of personal rights, or any infringement of Federal, State, or 
local laws or regulations. 

 

15. Severability.  The provisions of this permit are severable.  If any provisions of this permit or the application of any 
provision of this permit to any circumstance is held invalid, the application of such provisions to other circumstances and 
the remainder of this permit shall not be affected thereby. 

 



     Page 14 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

16. Transfers.  This permit is not transferable to any person except after notice to the Director.  A transfer form shall be 
submitted to DEQ as required by this permit. 

 

17. Proper Operation and Maintenance.  The operator shall at all times: 
 

A. Properly operate and maintain all systems of treatment and control (and related appurtenances) which are installed or 
used by the operator to achieve compliance with the conditions of this permit.   This provision requires the operation of 
backup or auxiliary facilities or similar systems which are installed by an operator only when the operation is necessary 
to achieve compliance with the conditions of the permit. 

B. Provide an adequate operating staff which is duly qualified to carry out operation, inspection, maintenance, and testing 
functions required to ensure compliance with the conditions of this permit. 

 

18. Inspection and Entry.  The operator shall allow the Director, the EPA, or an authorized representative, or, in the case of a 
construction site which discharges to a municipal separate storm sewer, an authorized representative of the municipal 
operator of the separate sewer system receiving the discharge, upon the presentation of credentials and other documents as 
may be required by law, to: 

 
A. Enter upon the operator's premises where a regulated facility or activity is located or conducted, or where records shall 

be kept under the conditions of this permit; 
B. Have access to and copy, at reasonable times, any records that shall be kept under the conditions of this permit; 
C. Inspect at reasonable times any facilities or equipment, including monitoring and control equipment and practices or 

operations regulated or required by the permit; 
D. Sample or monitor at reasonable times, for the purposes of assuring permit compliance or as otherwise authorized by 

the CWA, any substances or parameters at any location on the permitted property. 
 

19. Permit Actions.  This permit may be modified, revoked and reissued, or terminated for any cause including, but not limited 
to, the following; 

 
A. Violation of any terms or conditions of this permit;  
B. Obtaining this permit by misrepresentation or failure to fully disclose all relevant facts;  
C. A change in any conditions that requires either a temporary or permanent reduction or elimination of the authorized 

discharge;  
D. A determination that the permitted activity endangers human health or the environment and can only be regulated to 

acceptable levels by permit modification or termination; or 
E. Failure of the operator to comply with the provisions of DEQ Rule 9 (Fee Rule).  Failure to promptly remit all required 

fees shall be grounds for the Director to initiate action to terminate this permit under the provisions of 40 C.F.R. 
§122.64 and §124.5(d), as adopted by reference in DEQ Rule 6, and the provisions of DEQ Rule 8. 

 

20. Re-Opener Clause. 

 
A. If there is evidence indicating potential or realized impacts on water quality due to any stormwater discharge associated 

with industrial activity covered by this permit, the operator of such discharge may be required to obtain an individual 
permit or an alternative general permit in accordance with Part I.B.24 of this permit, or the permit may be modified to 
include different limitations and/or requirements. 

 
B. Permit modification or revocation will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of 40 C.F.R. §122.62, §122.63, 

§122.64 and §124.5, as adopted by reference in DEQ Rule 6. 
 

21. Local Requirements.  All dischargers shall comply with the lawful requirements of municipalities, counties, drainage 
districts, and other local agencies regarding any discharges of stormwater to storm drain systems or other water sources 
under their jurisdiction, including applicable requirements in municipal stormwater management programs developed to 



     Page 15 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

comply with the DEQ permits.  Dischargers shall comply with local stormwater management requirements, policies, or 
guidelines including erosion and sediment control.   

 
22. Applicable Federal, State, or local Requirements. Permittees are responsible for compliance with all applicable terms 

and conditions of this permit.  Receipt of this permit does not relieve any operator of the responsibility to comply with any 
other applicable federal, state or local statute, ordinance policy, or regulation. Nothing in this permit shall be construed to 
preclude the institution of any legal action or enforcement actions or relieve the permittee from any responsibilities, 
liabilities, or penalties established pursuant to any applicable local state, or federal law or regulation. 

 





INSPECTION REPORT
DATE:   /    /
BUTLER CENTER

COMMENTOUTLET DETENTION PIPE



NEW FACILITY FOR: 

BUTLER CENTER 

CITY OF BRYANT, AR 
DRAINAGE CALCULATIONS – SUMMARY 

3/2/2023 

DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT 

Butler center is an approximately 1.51 Acre development located in the City of Bryant, Arkansas 

approximately a mile south of Reynolds Road. There are three drainage basins on the site. Eastern and 

Southern basins are small and will not be detained. The large basin will be detained in a pipe network 

storage located in the western end of the site. The detention for the storage network will be 

underground in 30” HDPE pipe.  

Stormwater Calculations were prepared with the intent to comply with the City of Bryant’s Drainage 
Code. The primary intent of this analysis is to produce a drainage system adequately sized to convey 

post development runoff while attenuating post development discharge levels equal to or less than pre 

development flows. 

Hydraulic calculations were made using the Rational Method. Design frequencies were analyzed for 2, 5, 

10, 25, 50, and 100 year return periods. 

These calculations are divided into the following sections: 

Summary of Drainage Basins 

Summary of Inlets 

Summary of Pipes 

Pipe Network Storage Summary 

Appendices 

Exhibit A – Pre-Development Drainage Basins 

Exhibit B – Post-Development Drainage Basins 

  



NEW FACILITY FOR: 

BUTLER CENTER 

CITY OF BRYANT, AR 
DRAINAGE CALCULATIONS – SUMMARY 

3/2/2023 

SUMMARY OF DRAINAGE BASINS 

PRE-DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS 

There are three drainage basins on the site. Basin 1 drains to east side and Basin 3 drains to south side 

of the site. This discharge will not be captured. Basin 2 is developed. This discharge will be captured. The 

existing site is a mixture of gravel, grass and a building.  

POST-DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS 

As previously described, this site is being developed into a commercial facility. Slopes range from 1% to 

8%.  Runoff drains from the developed areas to underground detention in the south western section of 

the development.   

SUMMARY OF INLETS 

On the drainage plan you will see labels for all of the inlets for these calculations.  The flows shown are 

for the 10-year return storm. The distance from the face of the curb to the center of the street is 15 

feet.  

SUMMARY OF PIPES 

All pipes used in this project are HDPE and RCP.  Therefore, a manning’s of 0.012 was used on all pipes in 

the analysis.   

PIPE NETWORK STORAGE SUMMARY 

The pipe network storage in these calculations detains flows from all of the runoff of the site. The pipe 

network storage is located in the south western portion of the property. Water collected in the storm 

water system is discharged into the pipe network via curb inlets. The pipe network storage is made of 

263 linear feet of 30” HDPE and RCP pipe and has a volume of 1,289 cf.  A concrete control structure is 

constructed on the southern end of the pipe network storage. This control structure uses a slotted weir 

to limit the discharge through the structure to that of the 2, 10, 25, 50, and 100-year pre-development 

flow. The pipe network storage is designed to hold the 100-year storm event. 

 



SSMH
RIM=432.16'
8' MP OUT (N)=427.91'
8' MP IN (S)=427.97'

SDMH
RIM=436.18'
18" RCP (OUT)=432.90'

SDMH
RIM=436.13'
18" RCP (IN)=432.00'

FFE
=440.95'

H
IG

H
W

A
Y #183/REYN

O
LD

S RO
A

D

(80' R/W
)43

2

43
4

43
6

440
32'

60.3'

TPOST
TPOST

3.4E/8" TREE

3.4N/14" HACKBERRY TREE
3-6" SPLIT TREES

16" HACKBERRY TREES

4N/24" HACKBERRY TREE

2.8S/16" TREE

4N/12" WATER OAK TREE

5N/26" CEDAR TREE

8" MIMOSA TREE

8" ELM TREE

2.8S/10" HACKBERRY TREE

30" SPLIT TREE

4S/26" SWEETGUM TREE4.3S/22" SWEETGUM TREE

5.7N/40" HACKBERRY TREE

3.8N/26" SWEETGUM TREE
6" HACKBERRY TREE

6" TREE

6" TREE
6" TREE

6" TREE6" TREE

6.5N/30" SWEETGUM TREE

4.2N/14" TREE

6.5S/24" TREE

16"&12" TREE

6.1S/38" PINE TREE

6S/32" PINE TREE

8.2S/38" PINE TREE

12" PEAR TREE

3.5N/18" SPLIT MAGNOLIA TREE 3.4N/20" HACKBERRY TREE

De
sig

nin
g o

ur 
cli

en
t's

 su
cce

ss
GN

E gar
nat

eng
ine

eri
ng

@g
ma

il.c
om

Br
ya

nt,
 A

R 
72

02
2

38
25

 M
t C

arm
el 

Rd

Ph
 (5

01
) 4

08
-4

65
0

P.
O.

 B
ox

 11
6

Be
nto

n, 
AR

 72
01

8

Ga
rN

at
 En

gin
ee

rin
g, 

LL
C

22203

FEB 2023

NE
W 

FA
CIL

ITY
 FO

R:
BU

TL
ER

 CE
NT

ER
CIT

Y O
F B

RY
AN

T, 
AR

1.0

PRE
RA A E

P A

BASIN 2
C=0.49
I=10.00 IN/HR
A=1.18 ACRES
Q100=5.79 CFS

BASIN 3
C=0.47
I=10.00 IN/HR
A=0.16 ACRES
Q100=0.75 CFS

BASIN 1
C=0.73
I=10.00 IN/HR
A=0.17 ACRES
Q100=1.25 CFS



SSMH
RIM=432.16'
8' MP OUT (N)=427.91'
8' MP IN (S)=427.97'

SDMH
RIM=436.18'
18" RCP (OUT)=432.90'

SDMH
RIM=436.13'
18" RCP (IN)=432.00'

H
IG

H
W

A
Y #183/REYN

O
LD

S RO
A

D

(80' R/W
)43

2

43
4

43
6

440

De
sig

nin
g o

ur 
cli

en
t's

 su
cce

ss
GN

E gar
nat

eng
ine

eri
ng

@g
ma

il.c
om

Br
ya

nt,
 A

R 
72

02
2

38
25

 M
t C

arm
el 

Rd

Ph
 (5

01
) 4

08
-4

65
0

P.
O.

 B
ox

 11
6

Be
nto

n, 
AR

 72
01

8

Ga
rN

at
 En

gin
ee

rin
g, 

LL
C

22203

FEB 2023

NE
W 

FA
CIL

ITY
 FO

R:
BU

TL
ER

 CE
NT

ER
CIT

Y O
F B

RY
AN

T, 
AR

2.0

PO
RA A E

P A

BASIN 2
C=0.94
I=10.00 IN/HR
A=0.95 ACRES
Q100=8.96 CFS

BASIN 3
C=0.46
I=10.00 IN/HR
A=0.34 ACRES
Q100=1.56 CFS

BASIN 1
C=0.46
I=10.00 IN/HR
A=0.13 ACRES
Q100=0.60 CFS



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center

Using Rational Method

Pre-development

Calculated Tc values - Drainage Basin 1 & 3

Tc = 56 * L^.6 * n^.6 seconds

i^.4 * S^.3

L1 = 100 feet

n1 = 0.03

S1 = 0.032 ft/ft

Iassumed = 8.40 inches

Tccalculated 130 seconds

Tccalculated 2.16 minutes

Tc = 2.16 minutes Tc for 25-yr Storm from Exhibit 400-1 of Bryant Drainage Manual

I = 8.40 inches i for 25-yr Storm from Exhibit 400-1 of Bryant Drainage Manual

Use Tc = 5.00 minutes I100 = 10 Inches I10 = 7.2 Inches

I50 = 9.2 Inches I5 = 6.5 Inches

I25 = 8.40 Inches I2 = 5.6 Inches

Calculated Tc values - Drainage Basin 2

Tc = 56 * L^.6 * n^.6 seconds

i^.4 * S^.3

L1 = 320 feet

n1 = 0.03

S1 = 0.032 ft/ft

Iassumed = 8.40 inches

Tccalculated 261 seconds

Tccalculated 4.35 minutes

Tc = 4.35 minutes Tc for 25-yr Storm from Exhibit 400-1 of Bryant Drainage Manual

I = 8.40 inches i for 25-yr Storm from Exhibit 400-1 of Bryant Drainage Manual

Use Tc = 5.00 minutes I100 = 10 Inches I10 = 7.2 Inches

I50 = 9.2 Inches I5 = 6.5 Inches

I25 = 8.40 Inches I2 = 5.6 Inches



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center

Using Rational Method

Post-development

Calculated Tc values - Drainage Basin 1, 2 & 3

Tc = 56 * L^.6 * n^.6 seconds

i^.4 * S^.3

L1 = 320 feet

n1 = 0.013

S1 = 0.035 ft/ft

Iassumed = 8.40 inches

Tccalculated 154 seconds

Tccalculated 2.56 minutes

Tc = 2.56 minutes Tc for 25-yr Storm from Exhibit 400-1 of Bryant Drainage Manual

I = 8.40 inches i for 25-yr Storm from Exhibit 400-1 of Bryant Drainage Manual

Use Tc = 5.00 minutes I100 = 10 Inches I10 = 7.2 Inches

I50 = 9.2 Inches I5 = 6.5 Inches

I25 = 8.40 Inches I2 = 5.6 Inches



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center

using Rational Method

Pre-development

Calculated C values - Drainage Basin 1

Area C100 C50 C25 C10 C5 C2

(C values taken from Table 400-2 of City of Bryant Drainage Manual)

Greenspace 0.08 0.47 0.43 0.4 0.36 0.34 0.31 Flat, 0-2%

Driveway 0.09 0.97 0.92 0.88 0.83 0.8 0.75 Road

Total Area = 0.17 0.73 0.69 0.65 0.61 0.58 0.54

Calculated C values - Drainage Basin 2

Area C100 C50 C25 C10 C5 C2

(C values taken from Table 400-2 of City of Bryant Drainage Manual)

Greenspace 1.09 0.47 0.43 0.4 0.36 0.34 0.31 Flat, 0-2%

Gravel 0.07 0.65 0.55 0.5 0.35 0.3 0.25 Gravel

Roof 0.02 0.97 0.92 0.88 0.83 0.8 0.75 Roof

Total Area = 1.18 0.49 0.45 0.42 0.37 0.35 0.32

Calculated C values - Drainage Basin 3

Area C100 C50 C25 C10 C5 C2

(C values taken from Table 400-2 of City of Bryant Drainage Manual)

Greenspace 0.16 0.47 0.43 0.4 0.36 0.34 0.31 Flat, 0-2%

Total Area = 0.16 0.47 0.43 0.40 0.36 0.34 0.31



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center

using Rational Method

Post-development

Calculated C values - Drainage Basin 1

Area C100 C50 C25 C10 C5 C2

(C values taken from Table 400-2 of City of Bryant Drainage Manual)

Greenspace 0.13 0.46 0.42 0.39 0.35 0.32 0.29 Good Condition,  Average 2-7%

Total Area = 0.13 0.46 0.42 0.39 0.35 0.32 0.29

Calculated C values - Drainage Basin 2

Area C100 C50 C25 C10 C5 C2

(C values taken from Table 400-2 of City of Bryant Drainage Manual)

Greenspace 0.05 0.46 0.42 0.39 0.35 0.32 0.29 Good Condition,  Average 2-7%

Roof/Pavement 0.90 0.97 0.92 0.88 0.83 0.8 0.75 Road

Total Area = 0.95 0.94 0.89 0.85 0.80 0.77 0.73

Calculated C values - Drainage Basin 3

Area C100 C50 C25 C10 C5 C2

(C values taken from Table 400-2 of City of Bryant Drainage Manual)

Greenspace 0.34 0.46 0.42 0.39 0.35 0.32 0.29 Good Condition,  Average 2-7%

Total Area = 0.34 0.46 0.42 0.39 0.35 0.32 0.29



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center

using Rational Method

Pre-development

 Drainage Basin 1

Q100 = 1.25 CFS Q50= 1.08 CFS Q25 = 0.93 CFS Q10 = 0.75 CFS Q5 = 0.64 CFS Q2 = 0.52 CFS

c = 0.73 c = 0.69 c = 0.65 c = 0.61 c = 0.58 c = 0.54

i= 10.00 in/hr i= 9.20 in/hr i= 8.40 in/hr i= 7.20 in/hr i= 6.50 in/hr i= 5.60 in/hr

A= 0.17 acres A= 0.17 acres A= 0.17 acres A= 0.17 acres A= 0.17 acres A= 0.17 acres

 Drainage Basin 2

Q100 = 5.79 CFS Q50= 4.85 CFS Q25 = 4.12 CFS Q10 = 3.13 CFS Q5 = 2.66 CFS Q2 = 2.08 CFS

c = 0.49 c = 0.45 c = 0.42 c = 0.37 c = 0.35 c = 0.32

i= 10.00 in/hr i= 9.20 in/hr i= 8.40 in/hr i= 7.20 in/hr i= 6.50 in/hr i= 5.60 in/hr

A= 1.18 acres A= 1.18 acres A= 1.18 acres A= 1.18 acres A= 1.18 acres A= 1.18 acres

 Drainage Basin 3

Q100 = 0.75 CFS Q50= 0.63 CFS Q25 = 0.54 CFS Q10 = 0.41 CFS Q5 = 0.35 CFS Q2 = 0.28 CFS

c = 0.47 c = 0.43 c = 0.40 c = 0.36 c = 0.34 c = 0.31

i= 10.00 in/hr i= 9.20 in/hr i= 8.40 in/hr i= 7.20 in/hr i= 6.50 in/hr i= 5.60 in/hr

A= 0.16 acres A= 0.16 acres A= 0.16 acres A= 0.16 acres A= 0.16 acres A= 0.16 acres

Post-development

Drainage Basin 1

Q100 = 0.60 CFS Q50= 0.50 CFS Q25 = 0.43 CFS Q10 = 0.33 CFS Q5 = 0.27 CFS Q2 = 0.21 CFS

c = 0.46 c = 0.42 c = 0.39 c = 0.35 c = 0.32 c = 0.29

i= 10.00 in/hr i= 9.20 in/hr i= 8.40 in/hr i= 7.20 in/hr i= 6.50 in/hr i= 5.60 in/hr

A= 0.13 acres A= 0.13 acres A= 0.13 acres A= 0.13 acres A= 0.13 acres A= 0.13 acres

Drainage Basin 2

Q100 = 8.96 CFS Q50= 7.81 CFS Q25 = 6.82 CFS Q10 = 5.50 CFS Q5 = 4.78 CFS Q2 = 3.86 CFS

c = 0.94 c = 0.89 c = 0.85 c = 0.80 c = 0.77 c = 0.73

i= 10.00 in/hr i= 9.20 in/hr i= 8.40 in/hr i= 7.20 in/hr i= 6.50 in/hr i= 5.60 in/hr

A= 0.95 acres A= 0.95 acres A= 0.95 acres A= 0.95 acres A= 0.95 acres A= 0.95 acres

Drainage Basin 3

Q100 = 1.56 CFS Q50= 1.31 CFS Q25 = 1.11 CFS Q10 = 0.86 CFS Q5 = 0.71 CFS Q2 = 0.55 CFS

c = 0.46 c = 0.42 c = 0.39 c = 0.35 c = 0.32 c = 0.29

i= 10.00 in/hr i= 9.20 in/hr i= 8.40 in/hr i= 7.20 in/hr i= 6.50 in/hr i= 5.60 in/hr

A= 0.34 acres A= 0.34 acres A= 0.34 acres A= 0.34 acres A= 0.34 acres A= 0.34 acres

Detention Volume 

Pond-1

for Q100

Cundev= 0.49

Iundev= 10.00 in/hr

Cdev= 0.94 R= (Cdev*Idev)-(Cundev*Iundev)

Idev= 10.00 in/hr Detention Volume= R*A*Tc*60

R= 4.52

A= 0.95 acres

Tc= 5.00 minutes

60 sec/min

Detention Volume= 1,289        cubic feet



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center

using Rational Method

Weir & Detention Pond Sizing

Storm Event Flow (cfs)

Q2 - Pre Basin 2 2.08

Q10 - Pre Basin 2 3.13

Q25 - Pre Basin 2 4.12

Q50 - Pre Basin 2 4.85

Q100 - Pre Basin 2 5.79

Q10 - Post Basin 2 5.50

Q25 - Post Basin 2 6.82

Q100 - Post Basin 2 8.96

Rectangular Weir

Q2 Q10 Q25 Q50 Q100

Q (cfs) CLH^1.5 Q (cfs) CLH^1.5 Q (cfs) CLH^1.5 Q (cfs) CLH^1.5 Q (cfs) CLH^1.5

C 2.5 C 2.5 C 2.5 C 2.5 C 2.5

L 0.5 6" L 0.5 6" L 0.5 6" L 0.5 6" L 0.5 6"

H 1.33 H 1.75 H 2.17 H 2.33 H 2.5

Q (cfs) 1.92 Q (cfs) 2.89 Q (cfs) 4.00 Q (cfs) 4.45 Q (cfs) 4.94

Pond Volume

Volume Required 1289 CF

Use 36" Pipe

Dia = 30.00

A = 4.91 SF

L (required) = 262.61 FT



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center

Detention Culverts

PIPE NAME DIAMETER (IN) LENGTH (FT) AREA (SF) VOLUME (CF)

PIPE 141 30.00 117 4.91 574.47

PIPE 139 30.00 121 4.91 594.11

PIPE 140 30.00 46 4.91 225.86

TOTAL 284 1394.44



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center

Outlet Pipe Capacity

OUTLET CULVERT

Pipe From To Design Flow (cfs): Slope (ft/ft): Diameter (inches) No. Pipes Manning's Area Full (sf) Wetted Perimeter Full (ft) Hydraulic Radius Full (ft) Flow Capacity (cfs) % Capacity

18" HDPE East West 5.79 0.0050 18 1 0.012 1.77 4.712 0.375 8.05 72%



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center

 Ditch Capacity

Mannings equation for ditch 

n= 0.022 based on n for open channel earth with short grass, few weeds

Depth Bottom Top area rH slope Velocity Q

(ft) (ft) (ft) (ft^2) (ft/ft) (ft/s) (cfs)

0.75 0.00 4.50 1.69 0.36 1.000% 3.40 5.74

Width



SSMH
RIM=432.16'
8' MP OUT (N)=427.91'
8' MP IN (S)=427.97'

SDMH
RIM=436.18'
18" RCP (OUT)=432.90'

SDMH
RIM=436.13'
18" RCP (IN)=432.00'

H
IG

H
W

A
Y #183/REYN

O
LD

S RO
A

D

(80' R/W
)43

2

43
4

43
6

440

TPOST
TPOST

3.4E/8" TREE

16" HACKBERRY TREES

2.8S/16" TREE

5N/26" CEDAR TREE

8" ELM TREE

2.8S/10" HACKBERRY TREE

30" SPLIT TREE

4S/26" SWEETGUM TREE4.3S/22" SWEETGUM TREE
3.8N/26" SWEETGUM TREE

6" HACKBERRY TREE
JB-3 5' X 5' ARDOT TYPE E

CI-2 5'X5' ARDOT TYPE C

PIPE - (139) 121' L.F. OF 30" HDPE @ 0.058%

CI-1 6' X 5' ARDOT TYPE C & OUTLET STRUCTURE

PIPE - (140) 46' L.F. OF 30" RCP @ 0.058%

CI-4 5' X 5' ARDOT TYPE C

PIPE - (141) 117' L.F. OF 30" HDPE @ 0.058%

PIPE - (142) 6' L.F. OF 18" HDPE @ 0.5%

0+00

1+00

2+
00

2+91

G
REASE
TRAP

GREASE
TRAP

De
sig

nin
g o

ur 
cli

en
t's

 su
cce

ss
GN

E gar
nat

eng
ine

eri
ng

@g
ma

il.c
om

Br
ya

nt,
 A

R 
72

02
2

38
25

 M
t C

arm
el 

Rd

Ph
 (5

01
) 4

08
-4

65
0

P.
O.

 B
ox

 11
6

Be
nto

n, 
AR

 72
01

8

Ga
rN

at
 En

gin
ee

rin
g, 

LL
C

22203

FEB 2023

NE
W 

FA
CIL

ITY
 FO

R:
BU

TL
ER

 CE
NT

ER
CIT

Y O
F B

RY
AN

T, 
AR

3.0

E  BA
P A

CI-4
C=0.83
I=7.20 IN/HR
A=0.29 ACRES
Q10=1.73 CFS

CI-1
C=0.83
I=7.20 IN/HR
A=0.41 ACRES
Q10=2.45 CFS

CI-2
C=0.83
I=7.20 IN/HR
A=0.09 ACRES
Q10=0.54 CFS



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center

Using Rational Method

Post-development Basin

Calculated Tc values - Drainage Basin CI-1

Tc = 56 * L^.6 * n^.6 seconds

i^.4 * S^.3

L1 = 700 feet

n1 = 0.013 Smooth Concrete/Asphalt

S1 = 0.031 ft/ft

Iassumed = 7.20 inches

Tccalculated 271 seconds

Tccalculated 4.52 minutes

Tc = 4.52 minutes

I = 7.20 inches

Use Tc = 5.00 minutes



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center

using Rational Method

POST-DEV C VALUES

CI-1

Area C10 C25 C100 (C values taken from Table 400-2 of City of Bryant Drainage Manual)

0.41 0.83 0.88 0.97 Asphalt/Roof

Total Area = 0.41 0.83 0.88 0.97

CI-2

Area C10 C25 C100 (C values taken from Table 400-2 of City of Bryant Drainage Manual)

0.09 0.83 0.88 0.97 Asphalt/Roof

Total Area = 0.09 0.83 0.88 0.97

CI-4

Area C10 C25 C100 (C values taken from Table 400-2 of City of Bryant Drainage Manual)

0.29 0.83 0.88 0.97 Asphalt/Roof

Total Area = 0.29 0.83 0.88 0.97



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center

using Rational Method

 Post Development Flowrates

CI-1

Q10 = 2.45 CFS

c = 0.83

i= 7.20 in/hr

A= 0.41 acres

CI-2

Q10 = 0.54 CFS

c = 0.83

i= 7.20 in/hr

A= 0.09 acres

CI-4

Q10 = 1.73 CFS

c = 0.83

i= 7.20 in/hr

A= 0.29 acres



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center GUTTER SPREAD 10-YR STORM

CI-1

T=         Q* n    

ku* Sx^1.67*SL^0.5 Q= Flowrate(cfs)

Q 2.45 cfs n=manning's number

n 0.012 k=0.56

ku 0.56 Sx= cross slope

Sx 0.028 SL= longitudinal slope

SL 0.031 T= Gutter Spread

T 5.96 ft

CI-2

T=         Q* n    

ku* Sx^1.67*SL^0.5

Q 0.54 cfs

n 0.012

ku 0.56

Sx 0.03

SL 0.017

T 3.62 ft

CI-4

T=         Q* n    

ku* Sx^1.67*SL^0.5

Q 1.73 cfs

n 0.012

ku 0.56

Sx 0.028

SL 0.03

T 5.34 ft

( )^.375

( )^.375

( )^.375



Stormwater Calcs - Butler Center - CURB INLETS
10-YEAR STORM Weir

Q Q=3.0LY^1.5 Required Actual

Area # Area I C (cfs) Q (cfs) Y (ft) L (ft) L (ft)

CI-1 0.41 7.20 0.83 2.45 2.45 0.49 2.38 5 5' box

CI-2 0.09 7.20 0.83 0.54 0.54 0.49 0.52 5 5' box

CI-4 0.29 7.20 0.83 1.73 1.73 0.49 1.68 5 5' box



  
 

PH: (501)408-4650 FX: (888) 900-3068 www.garnatengineering.com 

P.O. Box 116  

Benton, AR 72018 

GNE 
3825 Mt Carmel Rd. 

Bryant, AR 72022 GarNat Engineering, LLC 

March 8, 2023 

 

Mr. Truett Smith 

Bryant Planning Coordinator/Planning Commission Secretary 

210 SW 3rd Street 

Bryant, AR  72022 

 

Re: Large Scale Development Commercial Building – Butler Center 

 

Dear Mr. Smith: 

 

Please allow this letter and following list of enclosures to serve as my application for approval of the referenced 

large scale development.  It is my desire that this matter be included on the agenda for your May 2023 City of 

Bryant Planning Commission Meeting.  

 

List of Enclosures 

 2 Full Set Plans 

 Affidavit 

 8 copies of Site Plan 

 Drainage Study 

 Bryant Large Development Checklist 

 ADA/ABA Form 

 

If you have questions or need any additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

 

Sincerely, 

GarNat Engineering, LLC 

 
Vernon J. Williams, P.E., President 





L1.1

LA CAP
O  

A L

J:\
Pr

oje
cts

\2
02

2 P
roj

ec
ts\

22
14

0 V
ern

ia 
Of

fic
e P

ark
\D

raw
ing

s\S
ur

ve
y\2

21
40

-Jo
hn

-E
ck

art
-S

po
rts

-E
VA

-G
ym

-0
31

62
3-

R4
.dw

g

De
sig

nin
g o

ur 
cli

en
t's

 su
cce

ss
GN

E gar
nat

eng
ine

eri
ng

@g
ma

il.c
om

Br
ya

nt,
 A

R 
72

02
2

38
25

 M
t C

arm
el 

Rd

Ph
 (5

01
) 4

08
-4

65
0

P.
O.

 B
ox

 11
6

Be
nto

n, 
AR

 72
01

8

Ga
rN

at
 En

gin
ee

rin
g, 

LL
C

22140

MARCH 13, 2023

A N
EW

 EL
ITE

 VO
LL

EY
BA

LL
 AC

AD
EM

Y
GY

M 
FO

R J
OH

N 
EC

KA
RT

VE
RN

IA
 O

FF
ICE

 PA
RK

16
01

 CH
RIS

TY
 LA

NE
AL

EX
AN

DE
R, 

AR
KA

NS
AS

  7
20

02

1. REPORT ANY DISCREPANCIES FOUND IN THE PLANS.  IT IS THE
RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO ADVISE THE DESIGNER OF
ANY CONDITION FOUND ON THE SITE WHICH PROHIBITS INSTALLATION
AS SHOWN ON THESE DRAWINGS.

2. THE NUMBER OF PLANTS OR INTENDED COVERAGE AREAS SHOWN
SHALL SUPERSEDE NOTED QUANTITIES.  TREE LOCATIONS ARE
DIAGRAMMATIC.

3. ALL PLANT MATERIALS MUST BE APPROVED PRIOR TO
INSTALLATION.  SUBSTITUTIONS OF SIZE OR TYPE OF MATERIAL ARE
NOT PERMITTED WITHOUT WRITTEN APPROVAL PRIOR TO DELIVERY OR
INSTALLATION.

4. ALL PLANT MATERIALS SHALL BE MAINTAINED IN A HEALTHY AND
GROWING CONDITION.  REPLACE ANY DAMAGED, DESTROYED, OR
REMOVED PLANT MATERIALS WITH THE SAME VARIETY AND SIZE PRIOR
TO FINAL ACCEPTANCE.

5. PLANT STORAGE TO BE LOCATED OUT OF VEHICULAR USE AREAS
AND NEAR A WATERING SYSTEM TO OPTIMIZE SURVIVAL.

6. ALL PLANTING BEDS SHALL BE IRRIGATED BY AN AUTOMATIC
UNDERGROUND IRRIGATION SYSTEM.

7. ALL PLANTING BEDS SHALL BE MULCHED WITH 3-INCHES
SHREDDED HARDWOOD OR CYPRESS MUCH.

8. ALL SHRUBS AND TREES SHALL RECEIVE PLANTING BACKFILL OF
2/3 TOPSOIL AND 1/3 COMPOST BY VOLUME AND 2 POUNDS OF
14-14-14 TIMED-RELEASE FERTILIZER PER CUBIC YARD OF BACKFILL.

9. ALL BEDS INSIDE LAWN AREAS TO BE EDGED WITH 4” PAINTED
STEEL EDGING.

10. ALL TREES AND SHRUBS SHALL BE THOROUGHLY WATERED
IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING.

11. TREES SHALL NOT BE TOPPED AT ANY TIME.  PROPER TREE
PRUNING TECHNIQUES AS ESTABLISHED BY THE LATEST EDITION OF
ANSI A300 STANDARDS FOR TREE CARE SHALL BE UTILIZED FOR
MAINTENANCE PURPOSES.

12. COORDINATE ALL INSTALLATION ACTIVITIES WITH IRRIGATION
WORK AND IMMEDIATELY REPAIR DAMAGES TO FINISH GRADES, SOD,
AND PLANT MATERIALS UNTIL FINAL ACCEPTANCE.

13. SEE GRADING AND DRAINAGE PLAN FOR PROPOSED SLOPES,
SWALES, BERMS, AND WATER FEATURES.  MAINTAIN PROPER FINISH
GRADES IN ALL AREAS AS INDICATED.

14. LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR FINE
GRADING, REMOVAL OF MISCELLANEOUS DEBRIS AND ANY
ADDITIONAL FILL REQUIRED TO PROVIDE MINIMUM TOPSOIL DEPTHS
AND CREATE A SMOOTH CONDITION PRIOR TO PLANTING IN ALL
AREAS.

15. TOPSOIL SHALL BE FREE OF STONES, ROOTS, CLODS, AND ANY
OTHER FOREIGN MATERIAL THAT IS NOT BENEFICIAL FROM PLANT
GROWTH.

16. LANDSCAPE AND OPEN AREAS SHALL BE KEPT FREE OF TRASH,
LITTER, AND WEEDS AT ALL TIMES DURING CONSTRUCTION.

17. IDENTIFICATION LABELS MUST BE ATTACHED TO ALL PLANT
MATERIALS AND SHALL REMAIN INTACT UNTIL FINAL ACCEPTANCE OF
THE WORK.  REMOVE ALL TAGS AND LABELS FOLLOWING FINAL
ACCEPTANCE.

18. CALIPER OF TREES TO BE MEASURED 6-INCHES ABOVE GROUND
LEVEL FOR TREES UP TO 4-INCH CALIPER SIZE.

19. GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE 6-INCH DIAMETER
MINIMUM SCHEDULE 40 PVC SLEEVING FOR IRRIGATION TO ALL CURB
ISLANDS AND UNDER ALL DRIVE ISLE CROSSINGS.

20. CONTRACTOR TO REFER TO THE UTILITY PLAN SHEET FOR RECENT
FIRE FLOW INFORMATION.

PLACE TIES ABOVE LOWEST
SCAFFOLD BRANCHES

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

NOTE: PROVIDE FERTILOME FOOD
STIMULATOR IN EACH TREE PIT.

BREAK SUBSOIL WITH  PICK AX

LAYER OF MIXED SUBSOIL WITH
PLANTING MEDIUM

NOTE; PLACE ALL PVC LATERIALS
OUSTSIDE OF ROOTBALL

NOTE: PLANTS SHALL BE SET 

TO ALLOW FOR SETTLING &
POSITIVE DRAINAGE.

FROM BASE OF TRUNKTR
EE

 H
EI

G
H
T 

TY
P.

A
LL

 T
R
EE

S

MIN.

MIN.

MIN.

MIN.

1 L1 TREE PLANTING DETAIL
No Scale

12" COMPACTED BACKFILL

SLIGHTLY HIGHER THAN GRADE

NO. 10 GALV. WIRE THRU

MULCH MIN. 3" PULL MULCH BACK 2"

PREPARED BACKFILL
PROVIDE HOMOGENOUS MIXTURE AS SPECIFIED
OF 3:1:1 RATIO OF TOPSOIL, PEATMOSS
AND SAND OR OTHER APPROVED

REMOVE BURLAP FROM TOP OF ROOTBALL
AND_REMOVE ALL TIES.  FOLD BACK BURLAP

TREE STAKE, MIN. 3 REQUIRED AT 120

6'-0" GREEN STEEL PREPAINTED T-POST

DEGREES AROUND TREE

2 PER STAKE
ANCHOR WIRE TO STAKE. MIN.
1/2" RUBBER HOSE. TWIST OR

AGRIFORM TABLET AS PER
SPECIFICATIONS MAX. 6" BELOW SURFACE

SLASH BURLAP THREE TIMES

WATER RETENTION SAUCER (TEMPORARY)

AT TOP OF BALL.  WHEN PRESENT, REMOVE
ALL SYNTHETIC BURLAP.

COMMERCIAL TREE WRAP.  NEATLY
WRAP SPIRALLY FROM BOTTOM.  TIE
WITH SUITABLE CORD.  PROVIDE WHEN
SPECIFIED.

6" SURVEYORS TAPE ON ALL GUY WIRES (TYP.)

WITH 6" FLUORESCENT WHITE/SILVER TOP

SOIL AMENDMENTS.

1'-0"

1 1/2 THE BALL SIZE

1'-0"

18"

12"

MIN. MIN.

MIN.

MIN.

2 L1 SHRUB PLANTING DETAIL
No Scale

18" MIN. FOR PLANTS UP TO

WHEN PRESENT, REMOVE BURLAP
FROM TOP 1/3 OF ROOTBALL
AND REMOVE TIES

6" MIN. FOR PLANTS UP TO

GROUND LINE TO BE SAME AS
AT THE NURSERY

PROVIDE MIN. 2" DEPTH OF
HARDWOOD MULCH AND AS

BREAK SUBSOIL WITH PICK AX

4'-0" HIGH

6" 6"

18"

S
H
R
U
B
 H

EI
G

H
T

M
IN

.

6"

TOPSOIL TO PEATMOSS AND/OR OTHER APPROVED SOIL AMENDMENTS.

TREATMENT ON ALL SHRUB AND GROUNDCOVER BEDS.
6. APPLY BALAN PREEMERGENT WEED CONTROL OR APPROVED EQUAL
5. PROVIDE FERTILOME ROOT STIMULATOR OR APPROVED EQUAL IN PITS.

4. PROVIDE HOMOGENOUS BACKFILL PLANTING MIXTURE OF 3:1 RATIO
3. PROVIDE AGRIFORM TABLETS AS PER MANUFACTURERS RECOMMENDATIONS.

COMPLY WITH SEASONAL CONDITIONS AND THE GROWING PERIOD.
2. WEED CONTROL AND FERTILIZER MAY BE APPLIED AT A LATER DATE TO
1. PROVIDE WEED CONTROL AND/OR FERTILIZER AS SPECIFIED BELOW.
NOTES:

4'-0" HIGH

REQUIRED BY ORDINANCE.

LANDSCAPING NOTES:

QUANTITY: COMMON NAME / BOTANICAL NAME: SIZE:

5

46

44

CONTRACTOR
TO MEASURE

REMARKS:

October Glory Red Maple
Acer rubrum ' October
Glory'

Compacta Holly
Ilex crentata 'Compacta'

Stella D'Oro Daylily
Hemerocallis x Stella D'oro

Bermuda Tifway 419
Cynodon Dactylon var.
Tifway 419

2" caliper

3 gallon

1 gallon

SOD

Specimen with positive upright form and
symmetrical. Well branched canopies.

Full well branched shrub with uniform
shape.

Plant 18" o.c.

Solid sod, all areas indicated with close
knit joints

LEGEND:

PLAN QUANTITIES:

SODDING OF DISTURBED AREAS
AREAS AND LIMITS OF SODDING ARE INDICATED BASED ON ANTICIPATED DISTURBANCE BY
GRADING OPERATIONS.  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE ADDITIONAL SODDING IN ANY OTHER
AREAS DISTURBED BY WORK UNDER THIS CONTRACT.   EXCAVATE AND REMOVE ANY
REMAINING TURF AND SOIL TO A 4-INCH MINIMUM DEPTH WITHIN NEW SOD AREAS.  HAND
EXCAVATION REQUIRED WITHIN DRIP LINES OF TREE AREAS TO AVOID DAMAGE TO EXISTING
ROOTS.CONTRACTOR TO INSTALL MINIMUM OF 3" OF TOPSOIL TO ALL AREAS TO BE
SODDED OR SEEDED. FINE GRADE THE TOPSOIL TO ENSURE POSITIVE DRAINAGE AND A
SMOOTH SURFACE FOR SOD INSTALLATION.

MAINTENANCE AND WARRANTY
CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE FULL MAINTENANCE OF INSTALLED LANDSCAPE AND IRRIGATION
UNTIL DATE OF FINAL ACCEPTANCE.  ADDITIONALLY, CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE ONE YEAR
WARRANTY FOR ALL LANDSCAPE AND IRRIGATION WORK FROM THE DATE OF FINAL
ACCEPTANCE.

IRRIGATION SYSTEM
CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE AUTOMATIC IRRIGATION SYSTEM FOR ALL NEW LANDSCAPE AND
TURF AREAS SHOWN ON THE PLANS.  SYSTEM WILL REQUIRE PROVIDING BACKFLOW
PREVENTER, PERMITTING, POWER CONNECTION, CONTROLLER, AND ALL OTHER WORK
REQUIRED FOR A COMPLETE AND FUNCTIONING SYSTEM THAT PROVIDES 100% COVERAGE.
COORDINATE LOCATION OF CONTROLLER WITH OWNER, GENERAL CONTRACTOR, AND
ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR.  COORDINATE LOCATION OF IRRIGATION SLEEVES WITH GENERAL
CONTRACTOR PRIOR TO FULLY MOBILIZING TO SITE.  CONTRACTOR TO REFER TO THE
UTILITY PLAN SHEET FOR CURRENT FIRE FLOW INFORMATION.

3-
31

-2
3

RE
VI

SE
D 

PE
R 

CI
TY

 O
F 

BR
YA

NT
G

PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTENTS:

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY



FND 5/8" RBR

FND 1/2" RBR

cu
rb

 in
let

 rim
 7.

5 I
nv

#1
56

9

RI
M 

EL
EV

=4
08

.61

7.0
2 I

nv
 cu

rb
 in

let
 rim

#1
57

1

RI
M 

EL
EV

=4
08

.34

W W

sd
mh

 rim
 4.

68
 In

v
#2

35
0

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
89

.02
sd

mh
 rim

 5.
88

 In
v

#2
35

1

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
88

.79

Ss
mh

 9.
10

 IN
V

#6
20

5

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
97

.59

BIKE/WALK PATH

SID
EW

AL
K

8''
SS

8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

W

SS
MH

 FL
 EL

EV
: 3

90
.36

#2
38

8

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
94

.62SS
MH

 FL
 EL

EV
: 3

85
.46

#2
38

9

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
90

.28

X X X X X X X

L1.0

LA CAP
PLA

J:\
Pr

oje
cts

\2
02

2 P
roj

ec
ts\

22
14

0 V
ern

ia 
Of

fic
e P

ark
\D

raw
ing

s\S
ur

ve
y\2

21
40

-Jo
hn

-E
ck

art
-S

po
rts

-E
VA

-G
ym

-0
31

62
3-

R4
.dw

g

De
sig

nin
g o

ur 
cli

en
t's

 su
cce

ss
GN

E gar
nat

eng
ine

eri
ng

@g
ma

il.c
om

Br
ya

nt,
 A

R 
72

02
2

38
25

 M
t C

arm
el 

Rd

Ph
 (5

01
) 4

08
-4

65
0

P.
O.

 B
ox

 11
6

Be
nto

n, 
AR

 72
01

8

Ga
rN

at
 En

gin
ee

rin
g, 

LL
C

22140

MARCH 13, 2023

A N
EW

 EL
ITE

 VO
LL

EY
BA

LL
 AC

AD
EM

Y
GY

M 
FO

R J
OH

N 
EC

KA
RT

VE
RN

IA
 O

FF
ICE

 PA
RK

16
01

 CH
RIS

TY
 LA

NE
AL

EX
AN

DE
R, 

AR
KA

NS
AS

  7
20

02

ELECTRIC BOX

(23) COMPACTA HOLLY

BUILDING FINISH FLOOR = 400
21,225 SQUARE FEET

(5) OCTOBER GLORY RED MAPLE

RETAIN EXISTING TREES (SEE PHOTO BELOW)

HENRY AVENUE

CHRISTY LANE

SOD

(23) COMPACTA HOLLY

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

(22) STELLA D'ORO DAYLILY - 50 SQ. FT.

STEEL EDGING (TYP.)

(22) STELLA D'ORO DAYLILY - 50 SQ. FT.

STEEL EDGING (TYP.)

3-
31

-2
3

RE
VI

SE
D 

PE
R 

CI
TY

 O
F 

BR
YA

NT
G

PW

VOLLEYBALL
NETTING SYSTEM

INSTALL FENCE ON WEST SIDE OF
PROPERTY LINE OR AS CLOSE AS
POSSIBLE TO EXISTING TREES.OPAQUE WOOD FENCE (6' TALL)

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTENTS:

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY



FND 5/8" RBR

FND 1/2" RBR

cu
rb

 in
let

 rim
 7.

5 I
nv

#1
56

9

RI
M 

EL
EV

=4
08

.61

7.0
2 I

nv
 cu

rb
 in

let
 rim

#1
57

1

RI
M 

EL
EV

=4
08

.34

W W

sd
mh

 rim
 4.

68
 In

v
#2

35
0

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
89

.02
sd

mh
 rim

 5.
88

 In
v

#2
35

1

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
88

.79

Ss
mh

 9.
10

 IN
V

#6
20

5

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
97

.59

BIKE/WALK PATH

SID
EW

AL
K

8''
SS

8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

W

SS
MH

 FL
 EL

EV
: 3

90
.36

#2
38

8

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
94

.62SS
MH

 FL
 EL

EV
: 3

85
.46

#2
38

9

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
90

.28

X X X X X X X

C1.0

 P A

J:\
Pr

oje
cts

\2
02

2 P
roj

ec
ts\

22
14

0 V
ern

ia 
Of

fic
e P

ark
\D

raw
ing

s\S
ur

ve
y\2

21
40

-Jo
hn

-E
ck

art
-S

po
rts

-E
VA

-G
ym

-0
31

62
3-

R4
.dw

g

De
sig

nin
g o

ur 
cli

en
t's

 su
cce

ss
GN

E gar
nat

eng
ine

eri
ng

@g
ma

il.c
om

Br
ya

nt,
 A

R 
72

02
2

38
25

 M
t C

arm
el 

Rd

Ph
 (5

01
) 4

08
-4

65
0

P.
O.

 B
ox

 11
6

Be
nto

n, 
AR

 72
01

8

Ga
rN

at
 En

gin
ee

rin
g, 

LL
C

22140

MARCH 13, 2023

A N
EW

 EL
ITE

 VO
LL

EY
BA

LL
 AC

AD
EM

Y
GY

M 
FO

R J
OH

N 
EC

KA
RT

VE
RN

IA
 O

FF
ICE

 PA
RK

16
01

 CH
RIS

TY
 LA

NE
AL

EX
AN

DE
R, 

AR
KA

NS
AS

  7
20

02

70' DETENTION
AREA ESMT.

25' SETBACK - UTILITY -
DRAINAGE EASEMENT

ELECTRIC BOX

PARKING SPACES:
2 HANDICAP SPACES
90 CUSTOMER SPACES
92 PARKING SPACES TOTAL

SIGN TO DESIGNATE SPOT
AS HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE
(2 TOTAL)

CURB & ASPH.
FLUSH

CURB 6" TURN DOWNCURB & ASPH.
FLUSH

CURB 6" TURN DOWN

BUILDING FINISH FLOOR = 400
21,225 SQUARE FEET

CURB STOP (TYP.)
(4 TOTAL)

EXISTING PATH

VOLLEYBALL
NETTING SYSTEM

9'

18'

PARKING
SPACE (TYP.)

REMOVE 5' OF PATH TO INSTALL
STORM DRAIN THEN REBUILD AND
CONSTRUCT REST OF PATH TO
INTERSECTION.

INSTALL 48 LF OF
MODIFIED CURB

STORM DRAIN BOX (TYP.)
SEE SHEET C3.0

HENRY AVENUE

CHRISTY LANE

24'

24'

24'

24'

ARDOT STANDARD
TYPE A CURB

5' WIDE STAIR
WITH RAILING

(7 STEPS)

6.5' WIDE WALK

7' WIDE WALK

6.5' WIDE WALK

PROPOSED CONCRETE

PROPOSED ASPHALT

EXISTING CONCRETE

LEGEND:

NOTES:

1. SITE PAVEMENT MARKINGS SHALL BE 4" WIDE WHITE
PAINT (PER ARDOT STANDARD SPECIFICATION
SECTION 718)

25' SETBACK

15' SETBACK /
EASEMENT

15' SETBACK / EASEMENT

15' SETBACK / EASEMENT

15' WATER LINE
EASEMENT

20' SEWER / DRAINAGE
EASEMENT

15' WATER LINE
EASEMENT

5' SIDEWALK
6" INTEGRAL CURB

9' CURB TRANSITION

DETECTABLE
WARNING

DEVICE

WHEELCHAIR RAMP
(SEE ARDOT DWG WR-1)

**

** BUILDING CONSTRUCTION / FACADE WILL
COMPLY WITH CITY OF BRYANT COMMERCIAL
BUILDING CODE REQUIREMENTS.

BUILDING WILL BE LESS THAN 40 FEET TALL.

BUILDING WILL HAVE KNOX BOX AND FIRE
DEPARTMENT CONNECTION PER CITY OF
BRYANT REQUIREMENTS.

NEW FENCE

3-
31

-2
3

RE
VI

SE
D 

PE
R 

CI
TY

 O
F 

BR
YA

NT
G

PW

EXISTING TREES

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTENTS:

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY





INSPECTION REPORT
DATE:   /    /
ELITE VOLLEYBALL ACADEMY

COMMENTOUTLET DETENTION PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N







Table of Contents 

Elite Volleyball Academy Gym 

Alexander, Arkansas 72002 

 

SWPPP for Construction Activity for Small Construction Sites 

 Appendix A- ARR150000 Inspection Form 

SWPPP Figures 

Elite Volleyball Academy Gym Erosion Control Plan 

AHTD Standard Drawings: 

TEC-1 – Temporary Erosion Control Devices 

 TEC-4 – Temporary Erosion Control Devices 

NPDES ARR150000 

















ARR150000 Inspection Form                  Appendix A 

Revised date: 10/20/2016 

Inspector Name:        Date of Inspection:     

Inspector Title:         

 

Date of Rainfall:       Duration of Rainfall:       

Days Since Last Rain Event:     days  Rainfall Since Last Rain Event:    inches  

 

Description of any Discharges During Inspection:           

Location of Discharges of Sediment/Other Pollutant (specify pollutant & location):      

                

 

Locations in Need of Additional BMPs:             

 

Information on Location of Construction Activities 

 

Information on BMPs in Need of Maintenance 

Location  In Working 

Order? 

Maintenance Scheduled 

Date 

Maintenance Completed 

Date 

Maintenance to be 

Performed By 

     

     

     

     

 

Changes required to the SWPPP:    

       

        

Reasons for changes:      

       

        

SWPPP changes completed (date):     

 

"I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments such as Inspection Form were prepared under my 

direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to ensure that qualified personnel properly gather and evaluate 

the information submitted.  Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly 

responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, 

and complete.  I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine 

and imprisonment for knowing violations." 

 

Signature of Responsible or Cognizant Official:            Date:    

 

Title:         

  

Location Activity 

Begin Date 

Activity 

Occuring 

Now (y/n)? 

Activity 

Ceased 

Date 

Stabilization 

Initiated Date 

Stabilization 

Complete 

Date 

      

      

      

      



EL
EV

=4
03

.02
EL

EV
=4

02
.54

EL
EV

=4
05

.55

EL
EV

=4
05

.96

EL
EV

=4
07

.11
EL

EV
=4

06
.97

EL
EV

=4
07

.64
EL

EV
=4

07
.20

cu
rb

 in
let

 rim
 7.

5 I
nv

#1
56

9

RI
M 

EL
EV

=4
08

.61EL
EV

=4
07

.32
7.0

2 I
nv

 cu
rb

 in
let

 rim
#1

57
1

RI
M 

EL
EV

=4
08

.34

EL
EV

=4
07

.84

W W

EL
EV

=4
07

.33
EL

EV
=4

06
.72

EL
EV

=4
05

.37
EL

EV
=4

02
.20

EL
EV

=3
99

.74
EL

EV
=3

98
.58EL

EV
=3

98
.20

EL
EV

=3
95

.24
EL

EV
=3

94
.40

EL
EV

=3
93

.42

EL
EV

=3
93

.84
EL

EV
=3

91
.86

EL
EV

=3
95

.78
EL

EV
=4

00
.14

EL
EV

=3
96

.48
EL

EV
=3

96
.14

EL
EV

=3
96

.56

EL
EV

=3
99

.44

EL
EV

=3
98

.65

EL
EV

=3
99

.78

EL
EV

=4
00

.16
EL

EV
=4

02
.24

EL
EV

=4
01

.98

EL
EV

=4
02

.72
EL

EV
=4

05
.27

EL
EV

=4
05

.68
EL

EV
=4

05
.79

EL
EV

=4
05

.78

EL
EV

=4
03

.34
EL

EV
=4

04
.44

EL
EV

=4
06

.18
EL

EV
=4

06
.78 EL

EV
=4

06
.47

EL
EV

=4
03

.64
EL

EV
=4

00
.32

EL
EV

=3
97

.68
EL

EV
=3

95
.77

EL
EV

=3
94

.28

EL
EV

=3
96

.30
EL

EV
=3

97
.30

EL
EV

=3
98

.75
EL

EV
=4

01
.18

EL
EV

=4
04

.27
EL

EV
=4

07
.24

EL
EV

=4
06

.79
EL

EV
=4

04
.36

EL
EV

=3
98

.70
EL

EV
=4

00
.18

EL
EV

=4
00

.18
EL

EV
=4

01
.22

EL
EV

=4
02

.54
EL

EV
=4

03
.34

EL
EV

=4
03

.77
EL

EV
=4

03
.13

EL
EV

=4
02

.08
EL

EV
=4

02
.78

EL
EV

=4
02

.23
EL

EV
=4

01
.03

EL
EV

=3
99

.61
EL

EV
=3

98
.30EL
EV

=3
97

.88

EL
EV

=3
96

.45

EL
EV

=3
93

.80
EL

EV
=3

93
.92

EL
EV

=4
00

.04

EL
EV

=3
89

.92

EL
EV

=3
91

.13

sd
mh

 rim
 4.

68
 In

v
#2

35
0

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
89

.02
sd

mh
 rim

 5.
88

 In
v

#2
35

1

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
88

.79

EL
EV

=3
88

.28

EL
EV

=3
95

.25
EL

EV
=3

95
.87E

LE
V=

39
6.0

7
EL

EV
=3

95
.18

EL
EV

=3
94

.72
EL

EV
=3

94
.42

EL
EV

=3
93

.24
EL

EV
=3

92
.08

EL
EV

=3
93

.16
EL

EV
=3

95
.82

EL
EV

=3
96

.22
EL

EV
=3

97
.69

EL
EV

=3
98

.09
EL

EV
=3

97
.16

EL
EV

=3
96

.01

EL
EV

=3
88

.14

EL
EV

=3
87

.96

EL
EV

=3
96

.01
EL

EV
=3

89
.87

EL
EV

=3
88

.74
EL

EV
=3

89
.86

EL
EV

=3
99

.11

EL
EV

=3
94

.28

EL
EV

=3
96

.82

Ss
mh

 9.
10

 IN
V

#6
20

5

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
97

.59

EL
EV

=3
98

.60
EL

EV
=3

97
.22

EL
EV

=3
98

.07

EL
EV

=3
97

.80

EL
EV

=3
96

.11

EL
EV

=3
93

.64

EL
EV

=4
00

.09
EL

EV
=3

98
.86

EL
EV

=3
99

.68

8''
SS

8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS

HE
NR

Y A
VE

 (R
.O

.W
. V

AR
IES

)

DALEY RD

Fnd flagged ip

NE
 C

OR
 N

E 4 N
W 4

SE
C. 

14
, T

-1
-S

, R
-1

4-
W

P.O
.B.

Fnd
 r4

W
W

W
W

W
WW

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

TR
AC

T 2
Ar

ea
 : 

71
01

9.5
7

SS
MH

 FL
 EL

EV
: 3

90
.36

#2
38

8

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
94

.62

SS
MH

 FL
 EL

EV
: 3

85
.46

#2
38

9

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
90

.28

TR
AC

T 2
Ar

ea
 : 

21
72

9.5
9

C4.0

ERO O
CO TRO  P A

BMP NOTES:

1. ALL WASH WATER (CONCRETE TRUCKS, VEHICLE CLEANING, EQUIPMENT
CLEANING, ETC.) SHALL BE DETAINED AND PROPERLY TREATED OR
DISPOSED.

2. DUST ON THE SITE SHALL BE CONTROLLED.  THE USE OF MOTOR OILS
AND OTHER PETROLEUM BASED OR TOXIC LIQUIDS FOR DUST
SUPPRESSION OPERATIONS IS PROHIBITED.

3. RUBBISH, TRASH, GARBAGE, LITTER, OR OTHER SUCH MATERIALS SHALL
BE DEPOSITED INTO SEALED CONTAINERS.  MATERIAL SHALL BE
PREVENTED FROM LEAVING THE PREMISES THROUGH THE ACTION OF
WIND OR STORMWATER DISCHARGE INTO DRAINAGE DITCHES OR
WATERS OF THE STATE.

4. DISTURBED PORTIONS OF THE SITE WHERE CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY HAS
STOPPED FOR AT LEAST 14 DAYS, SHALL BE TEMPORARILY SEEDED.
THESE AREAS SHALL BE SEEDED NO LATER THAN 14 DAYS FROM THE
LAST CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY OCCURRING IN THESE AREAS.

5. DISTURBED PORTIONS OF THE SITE WHERE CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY HAS
PERMANENTLY STOPPED SHALL BE PERMANENTLY SEEDED.  THESE
AREAS SHALL BE SEEDED NO LATER THAN 14 DAYS AFTER THE LAST
CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY OCCURRING IN THESE AREAS.  REFER TO THE
GRADING PLAN AND/OR LANDSCAPE PLAN.

6. IF THE ACTION OF VEHICLES TRAVELING OVER THE SITE IS NOT
SUFFICIENT TO REMOVE THE MAJORITY OF DIRT OR MUD, THEN THE
TIRES MUST BE WASHED BEFORE THE VEHICLES ENTER A PUBLIC ROAD.
IF WASHING IS USED, PROVISIONS MUST BE MADE TO INTERCEPT THE
WASH WATER AND TRAP THE SEDIMENT BEFORE IT IS CARRIED OFF OF
THE SITE.

7. ALL MATERIALS SPILLED, DROPPED, WASHED OR TRACKED FROM
VEHICLES ONTO ROADWAYS OR INTO STORM DRAINS MUST BE REMOVED
IMMEDIATELY.

8. CONTRACTORS OR SUBCONTRACTORS WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR
REMOVING SEDIMENT IN THE DETENTION POND AND ANY SEDIMENT THAT
MAY HAVE COLLECTED IN THE STORM SEWER DRAINAGE SYSTEMS IN
CONJUNCTION WITH THE STABILIZATION OF THE SITE.

9. ON-SITE & OFF SITE SOIL STOCKPILE AND BORROW AREAS SHALL BE
PROTECTED FROM EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION THROUGH
IMPLEMENTATION OF BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES.  STOCKPILE AND
BORROW AREA LOCATIONS SHALL BE NOTED ON THE SITE MAP AND
PERMITTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GENERAL PERMIT REQUIREMENTS.

10. ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE STABILIZED AT THE END OF EACH
WORKING DAY, THIS INCLUDES BACKFILLING OF TRENCHES FOR UTILITY
CONSTRUCTION AND PLACEMENT OF GRAVEL OR BITUMINOUS PAVING
FOR ROAD CONSTRUCTION.

TOTAL SITE:  2.13 ACRES (INCLUDES R-0-W)

TOTAL DISTURBED AREA:  2.13 ACRES (INCLUDES R-O-W)

STABILIZED ENTRANCE

CONCRETE
WASHOUT

AREA

PORTABLE
TOILET

De
sig

nin
g o

ur 
cli

en
t's

 su
cce

ss
GN

E gar
nat

eng
ine

eri
ng

@g
ma

il.c
om

Br
ya

nt,
 A

R 
72

02
2

38
25

 M
t C

arm
el 

Rd

Ph
 (5

01
) 4

08
-4

65
0

P.
O.

 B
ox

 11
6

Be
nto

n, 
AR

 72
01

8

Ga
rN

at
 En

gin
ee

rin
g, 

LL
C

22140

DATE

A N
EW

 EL
ITE

 VO
LL

EY
BA

LL
 AC

AD
EM

Y
GY

M 
FO

R J
OH

N 
EC

KA
RT

VE
RN

IA
 O

FF
ICE

 PA
RK

16
01

 CH
RIS

TY
 LA

NE
AL

EX
AN

DE
R, 

AR
KA

NS
AS

 72
00

2

J HOOK (TYP.)

J HOOK (TYP.)

J HOOK (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FO

AutoCAD SHX Text
FO

AutoCAD SHX Text
FO

AutoCAD SHX Text
FO

AutoCAD SHX Text
338

AutoCAD SHX Text
377.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
80

AutoCAD SHX Text
318.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
UGFO SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
77

AutoCAD SHX Text
317.81

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS FNC NW SE

AutoCAD SHX Text
339

AutoCAD SHX Text
377.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
336

AutoCAD SHX Text
377.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
53

AutoCAD SHX Text
318.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2" REBAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
52

AutoCAD SHX Text
318.43

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2" REBAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
318.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
UGFO SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
49

AutoCAD SHX Text
317.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
FC E W NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
337

AutoCAD SHX Text
377.45

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
210

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER7

AutoCAD SHX Text
133

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.68

AutoCAD SHX Text
ICV

AutoCAD SHX Text
227

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER8

AutoCAD SHX Text
226

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC8 EA4 GUTTER8

AutoCAD SHX Text
225

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.19

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC8

AutoCAD SHX Text
224

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.12

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC7

AutoCAD SHX Text
223

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER7 EA4

AutoCAD SHX Text
209

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC7

AutoCAD SHX Text
132

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
ICV

AutoCAD SHX Text
131

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.71

AutoCAD SHX Text
ICV

AutoCAD SHX Text
216

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC7

AutoCAD SHX Text
215

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.99

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER7

AutoCAD SHX Text
220

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC7

AutoCAD SHX Text
219

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER7

AutoCAD SHX Text
218

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.02

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER7

AutoCAD SHX Text
217

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.55

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC7

AutoCAD SHX Text
235

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.84

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC9

AutoCAD SHX Text
234

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.81

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC9

AutoCAD SHX Text
254

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.67

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC9

AutoCAD SHX Text
253

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER9

AutoCAD SHX Text
236

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.31

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER9

AutoCAD SHX Text
233

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.27

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER9

AutoCAD SHX Text
232

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER9

AutoCAD SHX Text
231

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.73

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC9

AutoCAD SHX Text
252

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER9

AutoCAD SHX Text
251

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC9

AutoCAD SHX Text
250

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC9

AutoCAD SHX Text
249

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.16

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER9

AutoCAD SHX Text
214

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER7

AutoCAD SHX Text
213

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.43

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC7

AutoCAD SHX Text
222

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.94

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER7

AutoCAD SHX Text
221

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.45

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC7

AutoCAD SHX Text
212

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC7

AutoCAD SHX Text
211

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.84

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER7

AutoCAD SHX Text
246

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.82

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC9

AutoCAD SHX Text
243

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC9

AutoCAD SHX Text
242

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.96

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC9

AutoCAD SHX Text
239

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC9

AutoCAD SHX Text
244

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER9

AutoCAD SHX Text
241

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER9

AutoCAD SHX Text
248

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER9

AutoCAD SHX Text
247

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.79

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC9

AutoCAD SHX Text
245

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER9

AutoCAD SHX Text
344

AutoCAD SHX Text
305.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
FL 15" CMP S

AutoCAD SHX Text
287

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
286

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLDI

AutoCAD SHX Text
301

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC5

AutoCAD SHX Text
300

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.81

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER5

AutoCAD SHX Text
299

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.15

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
288

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.42

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLDI

AutoCAD SHX Text
292

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.39

AutoCAD SHX Text
EC3

AutoCAD SHX Text
340

AutoCAD SHX Text
304.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
FL 18" CMP E W 15" CMP N

AutoCAD SHX Text
295

AutoCAD SHX Text
307.38

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER1 THROAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
294

AutoCAD SHX Text
307.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER1 THROAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
293

AutoCAD SHX Text
307.74

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER1

AutoCAD SHX Text
289

AutoCAD SHX Text
307.96

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC1 EC3

AutoCAD SHX Text
128

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.57

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATT VAULT

AutoCAD SHX Text
124

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC LP BASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
123

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC LP BASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
122

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC LP BASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
121

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC LP BASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
120

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC LP BASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
127

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATT VAULT

AutoCAD SHX Text
125

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
UGFO SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
230

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.29

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
296

AutoCAD SHX Text
307.74

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER1

AutoCAD SHX Text
291

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.45

AutoCAD SHX Text
EC3

AutoCAD SHX Text
290

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.06

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC1 EC3

AutoCAD SHX Text
229

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC8

AutoCAD SHX Text
228

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.43

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER8

AutoCAD SHX Text
130

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATT VAULT

AutoCAD SHX Text
129

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATT VAULT

AutoCAD SHX Text
126

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.67

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELECTRIC BOX .5'X.5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.55

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
298

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.64

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER1

AutoCAD SHX Text
297

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.94

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC1

AutoCAD SHX Text
153

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
CP

AutoCAD SHX Text
119

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.68

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.68

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
285

AutoCAD SHX Text
307.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC5

AutoCAD SHX Text
284

AutoCAD SHX Text
307.64

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER5

AutoCAD SHX Text
283

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.04

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
282

AutoCAD SHX Text
307.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER1

AutoCAD SHX Text
281

AutoCAD SHX Text
307.81

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC1

AutoCAD SHX Text
240

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER9

AutoCAD SHX Text
238

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC9

AutoCAD SHX Text
237

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.45

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER9

AutoCAD SHX Text
55

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.24

AutoCAD SHX Text
EA1 FNC E W

AutoCAD SHX Text
54

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.65

AutoCAD SHX Text
EA1 FNC E W

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.54

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
312.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
316.09

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
314.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
314.98

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS FNC E W

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
316.99

AutoCAD SHX Text
FC SW E

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
316.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2" REBAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
316.76

AutoCAD SHX Text
FC S NW NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
317.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC RW MON

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
317.19

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
304

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.88

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
303

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER5

AutoCAD SHX Text
302

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.83

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC5

AutoCAD SHX Text
311

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.51

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC5

AutoCAD SHX Text
310

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.37

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER5

AutoCAD SHX Text
309

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.65

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
308

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.38

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER1

AutoCAD SHX Text
307

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.52

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC1

AutoCAD SHX Text
118

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
OHE NW SE

AutoCAD SHX Text
333

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.11

AutoCAD SHX Text
BE FH

AutoCAD SHX Text
322

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.13

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC1 EC4

AutoCAD SHX Text
315

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER1

AutoCAD SHX Text
313

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
345

AutoCAD SHX Text
307.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
FL 15" CMP N FL 18" CMP E

AutoCAD SHX Text
321

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC1 EC4

AutoCAD SHX Text
317

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER1 THROAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
316

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.64

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER1 THROAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
314

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.81

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER1

AutoCAD SHX Text
346

AutoCAD SHX Text
308.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
FL 15" CMP S

AutoCAD SHX Text
312

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLDI

AutoCAD SHX Text
117

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.71

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
116

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.59

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUY WIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
115

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.98

AutoCAD SHX Text
METER POLE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
114

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.81

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP E W NW SE

AutoCAD SHX Text
113

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.96

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELEPED

AutoCAD SHX Text
112

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
110

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.40

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
109

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.51

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2" REBAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
111

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
108

AutoCAD SHX Text
310.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
320

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
EC4

AutoCAD SHX Text
319

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.26

AutoCAD SHX Text
EC4

AutoCAD SHX Text
107

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.13

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
106

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.34

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
105

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
335

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.38

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLSSMH INV 7.59 N W 8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
318

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLDI

AutoCAD SHX Text
306

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.69

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC1

AutoCAD SHX Text
305

AutoCAD SHX Text
309.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER1

AutoCAD SHX Text
327

AutoCAD SHX Text
312.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC5

AutoCAD SHX Text
326

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.95

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER5

AutoCAD SHX Text
325

AutoCAD SHX Text
312.13

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
324

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.96

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER1

AutoCAD SHX Text
323

AutoCAD SHX Text
312.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC1

AutoCAD SHX Text
332

AutoCAD SHX Text
312.94

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC1

AutoCAD SHX Text
331

AutoCAD SHX Text
312.79

AutoCAD SHX Text
FGUTTER1

AutoCAD SHX Text
330

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.15

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
329

AutoCAD SHX Text
312.83

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUTTER5

AutoCAD SHX Text
328

AutoCAD SHX Text
312.94

AutoCAD SHX Text
TBC5

AutoCAD SHX Text
104

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.86

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
103

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.64

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
102

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.94

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
101

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.12

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATT VAULT

AutoCAD SHX Text
99

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATT VAULT

AutoCAD SHX Text
98

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATT VAULT

AutoCAD SHX Text
97

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.41

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATT VAULT

AutoCAD SHX Text
96

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
UGFO SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
95

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.67

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP E W

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
314.73

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET MAG NAIL IN EDGE OF VAULT

AutoCAD SHX Text
94

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
93

AutoCAD SHX Text
312.68

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
92

AutoCAD SHX Text
314.45

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
91

AutoCAD SHX Text
314.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
FC S W

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
314.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
4" PVC SO

AutoCAD SHX Text
89

AutoCAD SHX Text
314.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
312.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
87

AutoCAD SHX Text
315.64

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
69

AutoCAD SHX Text
314.56

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
312.64

AutoCAD SHX Text
FC S E

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
311.88

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
312.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
76

AutoCAD SHX Text
316.52

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
73

AutoCAD SHX Text
317.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS FNC SE NW

AutoCAD SHX Text
72

AutoCAD SHX Text
315.76

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
70

AutoCAD SHX Text
314.51

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
314.57

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
71

AutoCAD SHX Text
315.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
88

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.88

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
85

AutoCAD SHX Text
315.13

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
84

AutoCAD SHX Text
315.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
83

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.42

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
82

AutoCAD SHX Text
314.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
313.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
86

AutoCAD SHX Text
316.15

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
81

AutoCAD SHX Text
316.17

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
79

AutoCAD SHX Text
316.88

AutoCAD SHX Text
METERLOOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
78

AutoCAD SHX Text
316.74

AutoCAD SHX Text
CL 36" METAL BILLBOARD SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
316.34

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
JCOMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
JCOMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
75

AutoCAD SHX Text
317.64

AutoCAD SHX Text
UGFO SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
74

AutoCAD SHX Text
317.78

AutoCAD SHX Text
UGFO SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
317.64

AutoCAD SHX Text
GS

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
317.64

AutoCAD SHX Text
FC NW SE NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
317.46

AutoCAD SHX Text
UGFO SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONTOURS

AutoCAD SHX Text
500

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILT FENCING

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIRECTION OF OVERLAND FLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NO:

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTENTS:

AutoCAD SHX Text
J:\Projects\2021 Projects\21169 Genesis Conway\Drawings\Design\21169 Genesis Conwway Site Details & ERC.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILTER FABRIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"(MIN.) TO 6"(MAX.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGGREGATE 12" THICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
(AS NEEDED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEMPORARY PIPE CULVERT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIDTH AS REQ'D.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO ACCOMODATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANTICIPATED TRAFFIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'-0" MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OR FOUR TIMES THE CIRCUMFERENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF THE LARGEST CONSTRUCTION VEHICLE TIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHICHEVER IS GREATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY



EMBED 12’’ MIN.

3’MAX. SPACING

WOOD POSTS

2’’X4’’ NOMINAL

(TYPE 3)

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

EMBED 12’’ MIN.

3’MAX. SPACING

WOOD POSTS

2’’X4’’ NOMINAL

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC; APPROX.8’’ BURIED IN TRENCH

DROP INLET SILT FENCE (E-7)

WITH SECTION 625

(TYPE 3) IN ACCORDANCE

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

WITH SECTION 625

(TYPE 4) IN ACCORDANCE

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

WITH SECTION 625

(TYPE 3) IN ACCORDANCE

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

DATE REVISION FILMED

8-2-76 ISSUED R.D.M. 298-7-28-76

ARKANSAS STATE HIGHWAY COMMISSION

STANDARD DRAWING TEC-1

TEMPORARY EROSION

CONTROL DEVICES

WITH ON-SITE CONDITIONS.

AND ARRANGEMENT VARIABLE

NUMBER OF SAND BAGS

SAND BAGS SAND BAGS

FLOW LINE OF DITCH

CHECK

DITCH

LIMITS OF PAYMENT

R/W FENCE

ELEVATION

SLOPE 
OF 

FI
LL

R/W FENCE

30’’
RUNOFF

(TIE TO FENCE)

GROUND L
INE

  

10-1-92 REDRAWN

SAND BAG DITCH CHECK (E-5)

WATER LEVEL

IN AREA OF OVERFLOW

AT BASE OF DITCH CHECK

PLACE SAND BAGS

SECTION B-BSECTION A-A

SECTION B-BSECTION A-A

FLOW LINE OF DITCH

WATER LEVEL

ROCK DITCH CHECK (E-6)

ROCK FILTER

IN AREA OF OVERFLOW

OF DITCH CHECK

PLACE ROCK AT BASE

APPROX. 2:1 SLOPE

D.I.

PLAN

CC

SECTION C-C

FLOW

D.I.

6’’ MIN.6’’ MIN.

18’’ TO 24’’ NORMAL

VARIABLE

6’’ MIN.6’’ MIN.

18’’ TO 24’’ NORMAL

VARIABLE

WOOD FRAME

2’’X4’’ NOMINAL

CLOTH; COMPACT THOROUGHLY.

FILL TRENCH TO ANCHOR BOTTOM OF

TRENCH APPROX. 4’’ DEEP X 4’’ WIDE;

WOOD FRAME

2’’X4’’ NOMINAL

WOOD FRAME

2’’X4’’ NOMINAL

18’’ MAX.

15’’ MIN.

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

BACKFILL

EARTH

COMPACTED

COMPACTED EARTH

BACKFILL

RUNOFF

4-1-93 REDRAWN

8’’

SILT FENCE ON R/W FENCE (E-4)

POST (EMBED 2’ MIN.)

6’ MAX.

30"

8"

SILT FENCE (E-11)

6’’ MIN.

2’ MIN.

2’+
-

2’+-

END OF FABRIC

6’’ MIN. BURIED

END OF FABRIC

6" MIN. BURIED

EMBANK.

EMBANK.

CONSTR.
TRAFFIC

24’ MIN. (2 LANES)

BALED STRAW

STAKE (2 PER BALE)

GENERAL NOTES

1. STRAW BALES SHALL BE INSTALLED SO THAT THE BINDINGS ARE

2. NO GAPS SHALL BE LEFT BETWEEN BALES.

(E-2)

FILTER BARRIER

BALED STRAW

3. BALED STRAW FILTER BARRIERS COMPLETED AND ACCEPTED

WILL BE MEASURED BY THE BALE IN PLACE AS AUTHORIZED

BY THE ENGINEER AND WILL BE PAID FOR AT THE CONTRACT

UNIT PRICE BID PER BALE FOR BALED STRAW DITCH CHECKS.

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SHALL BE SPLICED TOGETHER WITH A SEWN SEAM

ONLY AT A SUPPORT POST, OR TWO SECTIONS OF FENCE MAY BE

OVERLAPPED INSTEAD.  PAYMENT OF ADDITIONAL MATERIAL FOR OVERLAP

WILL NOT BE MADE.

GENERAL NOTES

GENERAL NOTES

ORIENTED AROUND THE SIDES RATHER THAN ALONG THE TOPS

AND BOTTOMS OF THE BALES. THE BALES SHALL BE A MINIMUM

OF 30 INCHES IN LENGTH. 

6-2-94

7-15-94

7-20-95

7-02-98

11-18-98

12-15-11

REVISED E-1,4.7 & 11; DELETED E-2 & 3

REV. E-4 & E-11 MIN. 13" BURIED END OF FABRIC

REVISED SILT FENCE E-4 AND E-11

ADDED BALED STRAW FILTER BARRIER (E-2)

ADDED NOTES

DELETED BALED STRAW DITCH CHECK & ADDED WATTLE DITCH CHECK

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SHALL BE SPLICED TOGETHER WITH A SEWN SEAM

ONLY AT A SUPPORT POST OR TWO SECTIONS OF FENCE MAY BE

OVERLAPPED INSTEAD.  PAYMENT OF ADDITIONAL MATERIAL FOR OVERLAP

WILL NOT BE MADE.

6-2-94

7-20-95

STAKES

2’  DOWNSLOPE

STAKES

2’  UPSLOPE

GENERAL NOTES

STAKES

2’  DOWNSLOPE

STAKES

2’  UPSLOPE

INSTALL A MINIMUM OF 2 UPSLOPE STAKES AND 4 DOWNSLOPE STAKES

AT AN ANGLE TO WEDGE WATTLE TO BOTTOM OF DITCH.

WATTLE DITCH CHECK (E-1)

NATURAL GROUND

FLAT BOTTOM

DITCH

A

A

B

B

(FLAT-BOTTOM TYPE)

ROADSIDE DITCHES

SECTION B-B

2’ MAX.

DITCH CHECK

WATTLE

DITCH CHECK

WATTLE

(V-TYPE)

ROADSIDE DITCHES

SECTION A-A

2’ MAX.

2 IN.

andre
Text Box
PER CITY OF BRYANT REQUIREMENTS, REQUIRES WIRED BACK FENCE.







      Page 1 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

PART I 

PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

 

Information in Part I is organized as follows: 
 

Section A:  Definitions with Included Commentary 

Section B:  Coverage Under this Permit: 
1. Permitted Area 
2. Eligibility 
3. Responsibilities of the Operator 
4. Where to Submit 
5. Requirements for Qualifying Local Program (QLP) 
6. Requirements for Coverage 

7. Notice of Intent (NOI) Requirements 

8. Posting Notice of Coverage (NOC) 
9. Applicable Federal, State or Local Requirements 

10. Allowable Non-Stormwater Discharges 

11. Limitations on Coverage (Exclusions) 
12. Short Term Activity Authorization (STAA) 
13. Effluent Limitation Guidelines (ELG) 
14. Natural Buffer Zones 

15. Waivers from Permit Coverage 

16. Notice of Termination (NOT) 
17. Responsibilities of the Operator of a Larger Common Plan of Development for a Subdivision 

18. Change in Operator 
19. Late Notifications 

20. Failure to Notify 

21. Maintenance 

22. Releases in Excess of Reportable Quantities 

23. Attainment of Water Quality Standards 

24. Requiring an Individual Permit 
 
 
 

 
 



      Page 2 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

SECTION A: DEFINITIONS WITH INCLUDED COMMENTARY 
 

 

1. "Arkansas Pollution Control and Ecology Commission" shall be referred to as APC&EC throughout this permit. 
 

2. "Automatic Coverage" is a term used to define the method of coverage for a small construction site. 

 

3. "Best Management Practices (BMPs)" schedules of activities, prohibitions of practices, maintenance procedures, and 
other management practices to prevent or reduce the discharge of pollutants to waters of the State.  BMPs also include treatment 
requirements, operating procedures, and practices to control construction site runoff, spillage or leaks, sludge or waste disposal, 
or drainage from raw material storage.  According to the EPA BMP manual, the use of hay-bales in concentrated flow areas is 
not recommended as a BMP. 

 

4. "Cognizant Official" is a duly authorized representative, as defined in Part II.B.9.B. 
 

5. "Commencement of Construction" is the initial disturbance of soils (or breaking ground) associated with clearing, 
grading, or excavating activities or other construction-related activities (e.g., stockpiling of fill material; placement of raw 
materials at the site). 

 

6. "Contaminated" is a substance the entry of which into the MS4, waters of the State, or Waters of the United States may 
cause or contribute to a violation of Arkansas water quality standards.  

 

7. "Control Measure" as used in this permit, refers to any Best Management Practice or other method used to prevent or 
reduce the discharge of pollutants to waters of the State. 
 

8. "Construction Activity" earth-disturbing activities, such as the clearing, grading, and excavation of land, and other 
construction–related activities (e.g., stockpiling of fill material; placement of raw materials at the site) that could lead to the 
generation of pollutants. 

 

9. "Construction Site" is an area upon which one or more land disturbing construction activities occur that in total will 
disturb one acre or more of land, including areas that are part of a larger common plan of development or sale that may be less 
than one acre where multiple separate and distinct land disturbing construction activities may be taking place at different times 
on different schedules but under one plan such that the total disturbed area is one acre or more. 
 

10. "Construction Support Activity"  a construction-related activity that specifically supports the construction activity and 
involves earth disturbance of pollutant-generating activities of its own, and can include, but not limited to, activities associated 
with concrete or asphalt batch plants, equipment staging yards, materials storage areas, excavated material disposal areas, and 
burrow areas. 

 

11. "CWA" is the Clean Water Act or the Federal Water Pollution Control Act. 
  

12. "Department" is referencing the Department of Energy and Environment. 

 

13. "DEQ" or "Division" is referencing the Division of Environmental Quality.  The Division is the governing authority for 
the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System program in the state of Arkansas. 
 



      Page 3 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

14. "Detention Basin" is an area where excess stormwater is stored or held temporarily and then slowly drains when water 
levels in the receiving channel recede. In essence, the water in a detention basin is temporarily detained until additional room 
becomes available in the receiving channel. 
 

15. "Director" is the Director of the Division of Environmental Quality, or a designated representative. 
 

16. "Discharge" is when used without qualification means the “discharge of a pollutant”. 
 

17. "Disturbed area" is the total area of the site where any construction activity is expected to disturb the ground surface. 
This includes any activity that could increase the rate of erosion, including, but not limited to, clearing, grubbing, grading, 
excavation, demolition activities, haul roads, and areas used for staging. Also included are stockpiles of topsoil, fill material and 
any other stockpiles with a potential to create additional runoff. 
 

18. “Drainageway” is an open linear depression, whether constructed or natural, that functions for the collection and 
drainage of surface water. 

 

19. “Duly Authorized Representative” is a representative of the Responsible Official meeting the requirements specified in 
Part II.B.9.B. 

 

20. "Eligible" refers to being qualified for authorization to discharge stormwater under this general permit. 
 

21. "Erosion" is the process by which the land’s surface is worn away by the action of wind, water, ice or gravity. 
 

22. "ERW" Extraordinary Resource Water, in accordance with Rule 2. 
 

23. "ESW" Ecologically Sensitive Waterbodies, in accordance with Rule 2. 

 

24. "Facility" or "Activity" is any NPDES “point source” or any other facility or activity (including land or appurtenances 
thereto) that is subject to regulation under the NPDES program. 
 

25. "Final Stabilization":  
 

A. All soil disturbing activities at the site have been completed and either of the two following criteria are met: 
 

1) A uniform (e.g., evenly distributed, without large bare areas) perennial vegetative cover with a density of 80% 
or more of the native background vegetative cover for the area has been established on all unpaved areas and 
areas not covered by permanent structures, or 

2) Equivalent permanent stabilization measures (such as the use of riprap, gabions, or geotextiles) have been 
employed. 

 
B. When background native vegetation will cover less than 100% of the ground (e.g., arid areas, beaches), the 80% 

coverage criteria is adjusted as follows: if the native vegetation covers 50% of the ground, 80% of 50% (0.80 x 0.50 = 
0.40) would require 40% total cover for final stabilization.  On a beach with no natural vegetation, no stabilization is 
required.  

 
C. For individual lots in residential construction, final stabilization means that either: 

 
1) The homebuilder has completed final stabilization as specified above, or 



      Page 4 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

2) The homebuilder has established temporary stabilization including perimeter controls for an individual lot 
prior to occupation of the home by the homeowner and informing the homeowner of the need for, and 
benefits of, final stabilization. 

 
D. For construction projects on land used for agricultural purposes (e.g., pipelines across crop or range land, staging areas 

for highway construction, etc.), final stabilization may be accomplished by returning the disturbed land to its pre-
construction agricultural use.  Areas disturbed that were not previously used for agricultural activities, such as buffer 
strips immediately adjacent to “waters of the State”, and areas which are not being returned to their pre-construction 

agricultural use shall meet the final stabilization criteria in A, B, or C above. 
 

26. "Grading Activities" as used in this permit are those actions that disturb the surface layer of the ground to change the 
contouring, surface drainage pattern, or any other slope characteristics of the land without significantly adding or removing on-
site rock, soil, and other materials.  This can include demolition, excavation, and filling. 
 

27. "Impaired Water" is a waterbody listed in the current, approved Arkansas 303(d) list. 

28. "Infrastructure" refers to streets, drainage, curbs, utilities, etc. 
 

29. "Landscaping" is improving the natural beauty of a piece of land (i.e. entrance of subdivision) through plantings or 
altering the contours of the ground.   
 

30. "Large Construction Site" is a construction site in which construction activity including clearing, grading and 
excavation. Construction activity also includes the disturbance of less than five acres of total land area that is a part of a larger 
common plan of development or sale if the larger common plan will ultimately disturb five acres or greater. (Please see Part 
I.B.15 for partial waivers.) 
 

31. "Larger Common Plan of Development or Sale" is a contiguous (sharing a boundary or edge; adjacent; touching) area 
where multiple and distinct construction activities may be taking place at different times on different schedules under one plan.  
Such a plan might consist of many small projects (e.g. a common plan of development for a residential subdivision might lay out 
the streets, house lots, and areas for parks, schools and commercial development that the developer plans to build or sell to 
others for development).  All these areas would remain part of the common plan of development or sale.  The following items 
can be used as guidance for deciding what might or might not be considered a “Common Plan of Development or Sale.”  The 
‘‘plan’’ in a common plan of development or sale is broadly defined as any announcement or piece of documentation (including 
a sign, public notice or hearing, sales pitch, advertisement, drawing, permit application, zoning request, computer design, etc.) 
or physical demarcation (including boundary signs, lot stakes, surveyor markings, etc.) indicating construction activities may 
occur on a specific plot.  The applicant shall still meet the definition of operator in order to be required to get permit coverage, 
regardless of the acreage that is personally disturbed. 
 
If a smaller project (i.e., less than 1 acre) is part of a larger common plan of development or sale (e.g., you are building a 
residential home on a ½ acre lot in a 40 acre subdivision or are putting in a fast food restaurant on a ¾ acre pad that is part of a 
20 acre retail center), permit coverage is required.   
 

32. “Losing Stream Segment” a stream segment which, beginning at the point of existing or proposed discharge and 
extending two (2) miles downstream, contribute thirty percent (30%) or more of its flow at a 7Q10 flow or one (1) cfs, 
whichever is greater, through natural processes such as permeable subsoil or cavernous bedrock into an aquifer. 
 

33. “Natural Buffer” for purposes of this permit, an area of undisturbed natural cover surrounding waters of the State.  
Natural cover includes vegetation, exposed rock, or barren ground that exists prior to commencement of construction activities 



      Page 5 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

at the site. 
 

34. "NOC" Notice of Coverage. 
 

35. "NOI" Notice of Intent to be covered by this permit. 
 

36. "NOT" Notice of Termination. 
 

37. "NSW" Natural and Scenic Waterways, in accordance with Rule 2. 

 

38. "Operator"/“Permittee” for the purpose of this permit and in the context of stormwater associated with construction 
activity, means any person(s),an individual, association, partnership, corporation, municipality, state or federal agency, 
associated with a construction project that has financial and operational control over construction plans and specifications, 
including the ability to make modifications to those plans and specifications; additionally, the Division may require any 
person(s), an individual, association, partnership, corporation, municipality, state or federal agency, associated with a 
construction project that has day-to-day operational control of those activities at a project that are necessary to ensure 
compliance with the permit conditions can be named as a co-permittee. 

 

In addition, for purposes of this permit and determining who is an operator, ‘‘owner’’ refers to the party that owns the structure 
being built.  Ownership of the land where construction is occurring does not necessarily imply the property owner is an operator 
(e.g., a landowner whose property is being disturbed by construction of a gas pipeline or a landowner who allows a mining 
company to remove dirt, shale, clay, sand, gravel, etc. from a portion of his property).  Likewise, if the erection of a structure has 
been contracted for, but possession of the title or lease to the land or structure is not to occur until after construction, the would-
be owner may not be considered an operator (e.g., having a house built by a residential homebuilder). 
 

39. "Outfall" a point source where stormwater leaves the construction site. 
 

40. "Owner" refers to the owner or operator of any “facility or activity” subject to regulation under the NPDES program.  In 
addition, for purposes of this permit and determining who is an operator, ‘‘owner’’ refers to the party that owns the structure 
being built.  Ownership of the land where construction is occurring does not necessarily imply the property owner is an operator 
(e.g., a landowner whose property is being disturbed by construction of a gas pipeline).  Likewise, if the erection of a structure 
has been contracted for, but possession of the title or lease to the land or structure is not to occur until after construction, the 
would-be owner may not be considered an operator (e.g. having a house built by a residential homebuilder). 
 

41. "Physically Interconnected" means that one municipal separate storm sewer system is connected to a second municipal 
separate storm sewer system in such a way that it allows for direct discharges into the second system. 
 

42. "Point Source" is any discernible, confined, and discrete conveyance, including but not limited to, any pipe, ditch, 
channel, tunnel, conduit, well, discrete fissure, container, rolling stock, concentrated animal feeding operation, landfill leachate 
collection system, vessel or other floating craft from which pollutants are or may be discharged.  This term does not include 
return flows from irrigated agriculture or agricultural stormwater runoff. 
 

43. "Qualified Local Program" is a municipal program for stormwater discharges associated with construction sites that has 
been formally approved by DEQ. 
 

44. "Qualified personnel" a person knowledgeable in the principles and practice of erosion and sediment controls who 
possesses the skills to assess conditions at the construction site that could impact stormwater quality and to assess the 
effectiveness of any sediment and erosion control measures selected to control the quality of stormwater discharges from the 



      Page 6 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

construction activity.  
 

45. "Regulated Small Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System" are all municipal separate storm sewer systems that are 
either: 
 

A. Located within the boundaries of an “urbanized area” with a population of 50,000 or more as determined by the latest 
Decennial Census by the Bureau of Census; or 

B. Owned or operated by a municipality other than those described in paragraph A and that serve a jurisdiction with a 
population of at least 10,000 and a population density of at least 1,000 people per square mile; or 

C. Owned or operated by a municipality other than those described in paragraphs A and B and that contributes 
substantially to the pollutant loadings of a “physically interconnected” municipal separate storm sewer system. 

 

46. "Responsible Official" is the authorized representative, as defined in Part II.B.9.A. 
 

47. "Retention Basin" a basin that is designed to hold the stormwater from a rain event and allow the water to infiltrate 
through the bottom of the basin.  A retention basin also stores stormwater, but the storage of the stormwater would be on a more 
permanent basis. In fact, water often remains in a retention basin indefinitely, with the exception of the volume lost to 
evaporation and the volume absorbed into the soils. This differs greatly from a detention basin, which typically drains after the 
peak of the storm flow has passed, sometimes while it is still raining. 
 

48. "Runoff Coefficient" is the fraction of total rainfall that will appear at the conveyance as runoff. 
 

49. "Sediment" is material that settles to the bottom of a liquid. 
 

50. "Sediment Basin" is a basin that is designed to maintain a 10 year-24 hour storm event for a minimum of 24-hours in 
order to allow sediment to settle out of the water. 
 

51. "Small Construction Site" is a construction site in which construction activities including clearing, grading, and 
excavating that result in land disturbance of equal to or greater than one acre and less than five acres. Small construction activity 
also includes the disturbance of less than one acre of total land area that is part of a larger common plan of development or sale 
if the larger common plan will ultimately disturb equal to or greater than one and less than five acres. Small construction activity 
does not include routine maintenance that is performed to maintain the original line and grade, hydraulic capacity, or original 
purpose of the facility. 
 

52. "Stormwater" is stormwater runoff from rainfall, snow melt runoff, and surface runoff and drainage. 
 

53. "Stormwater Discharge Associated with Construction Activity" refers to the discharge of runoff from any conveyance 
which is used for collecting and conveying stormwater and which is directly related to construction activity.   
 

54. "Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP or SWP3)" is a plan that includes site map(s), an identification of 
construction/contractor, activities that could cause pollutants in the stormwater, and a description of measures or practices to 
control these pollutants.  
 

55. "Temporary Sediment Controls" are controls that are installed to control sediment runoff from the site during 
construction activity.  These could be silt fencing, rock check dams, etc. 
 

56. "Total Maximum Daily Load" or "TMDL" is the sum of the individual wasteload allocations (WLAs) for point 
sources and load allocations (LAs) for non-point sources and natural background.  If the receiving water has only one point 



      Page 7 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

source discharger, the TMDL is the sum of that point source WLA plus the LAs for any non-point sources of pollution and 
natural background sources, tributaries, or adjacent segments.  TMDLs can be expressed in terms of mass per time, toxicity, or 
other appropriate measure. 
 

57. "Uncontaminated" means that the water will not exceed the water quality standards as set forth in APC&EC Rule 2; 
also not containing a harmful quantity of any substance. 
 

58. “Urbanized Area” means the areas of urban population density delineated by the Bureau of the Census for statistical 
purposes and generally consisting of the land area comprising one or more central place(s) and the adjacent densely settled 
surrounding area that together have a residential population of at least 50,000 and an overall population density of at least 1,000 
people per square mile as determined by the latest Decennial Census by the Bureau of Census. 

 

59. "Waters of the State" waters of the State means all streams, lakes, marshes, ponds, watercourses, waterways, wells, 
springs, irrigation systems, drainage systems, and all other bodies or accumulations of water, surface and underground, natural 
or artificial, public or private, which are contained within, flow through, or border upon this state or any portion of the state. 

 
 



      Page 8 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

SECTION B:  COVERAGE UNDER THIS PERMIT 

 

Introduction 

 
This Construction General Permit (CGP) authorizes stormwater discharges from large and small construction activities that 
result in a total land disturbance of equal to or greater than one acre or less than one acre of total land area that is part of a larger 
common plan of development or sale if the larger common plan will ultimately disturb equal to or greater than one acre. This 
permit also authorizes stormwater discharges from any other construction activity designated by DEQ where DEQ makes that 
designation based on the potential for contribution to an excursion of a water quality standard or for significant contribution of 
pollutants to waters of the State. This permit replaces the permit issued in 2016. The goal of this permit is to minimize the 
discharge of stormwater pollutants from construction activity into waters of the State.  The operator shall read and understand 
the conditions of the permit. A copy of the CGP is available on the DEQ web site at 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/. A hard copy may be obtained by contacting the DEQ’s General 
Permits Section at (501) 682-0623. 
 

1. Permitted Area.  If a large or small construction activity is located within the State of Arkansas, the operator may be 
eligible to obtain coverage under this permit.  

 

2. Eligibility.  Permit eligibility is limited to discharges from “large” and “small” construction activity, or as otherwise 
designated by DEQ. This general permit contains eligibility restrictions, as well as permit conditions and requirements. 
Operators shall meet the requirements of Part I.B.6.A or Part I.B.6.B to be eligible for coverage under this permit. In such 
cases, operators shall continue to satisfy those eligibility provisions to maintain permit authorization. If operators do not 
meet the requirements that are a pre-condition to eligibility, then resulting discharges constitute unpermitted discharges. By 
contrast, if operators are eligible for coverage under this permit and do not comply with the requirements of the general 
permit, they may be in violation of the general permit for otherwise eligible discharges.   

 
A. This general permit authorizes discharges from construction activities as defined in 40 C.F.R. §122.26(a), 40 C.F.R. 

§122.26(b)(14)(x), 40 C.F.R. §122.26(b)(15)(i)-(ii) and 40 C.F.R. §450. 
 
B. This permit also authorizes stormwater discharges from support activities (e.g., concrete or asphalt batch plants, concrete 

truck washout, fueling, equipment staging yards, materials storage areas, excavated material disposal areas, stockpiles 
of top soil, borrow areas) provided: 

 
1) The support activity is directly related to a specific construction site that is required to have NPDES permit 

coverage for discharges of stormwater associated with the construction activity;  
2) The support activity is not a commercial operation, nor does it serve multiple unrelated construction projects; and 

does not continue to operate beyond the completion of the construction activity at the project it supports;  
3) Pollutant discharges from support activity areas are minimized in compliance with conditions of this permit; and  
4) Discharges from the support activity areas shall be identified in a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) 

stating appropriate controls and measures for the areas off the construction site. 
 

C. Other activities may be considered for this permit at the discretion of the Director as defined in 40 C.F.R. 
§122.26(b)(15)(ii). 
 

https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/


      Page 9 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

3. Responsibilities of the Operator.  Permittees with operational control are responsible for compliance with all applicable 
terms and conditions of this permit as it relates to their activities on the construction site including construction support 
activities off site, including protection of endangered species and implementation of BMPs and other controls required by 
the SWPPP.  Receipt of this general permit does not relieve any operator of the responsibility to comply with any other 
applicable federal, state or local statute, ordinance or regulation. 

 

4. Where to Submit.  The operator shall submit a complete and signed Notice of Intent (NOI) and SWPPP to DEQ through 
ePortal, unless the operator receives a waiver from DEQ, which can be found on the following website:  

 
https://eportal.adeq.state.ar.us/  

  
A. The operator shall submit the application fee to DEQ through ePortal (when available), submit an email requesting an 

invoice to be created to pay online, or mail in invoice from ePortal with a check (listing the invoice number on the 
check) to the follow address: 

 
Division of Environmental Quality 
ATTN: Fiscal  
5301 Northshore Drive 
North Little Rock, AR 72118-5317 
 

 NOTE: Notice of Coverage (NOC) will NOT be issued until payment has been received by DEQ. 
 
B. Waivers from electronic reporting may be granted based on one of the following conditions: 

 
1) If the operational headquarters is physically located in a geographic area (i.e. Zip code or census tract) that is 

identified as under-served for broadcast internet access in the most recent report from the Federal Communications 
Commission;   

2) If available computer access or computer capability is limited; or 
3) If the operator is a religious community that choose not to use certain modern technologies pursuant to 40 C.F.R. 

§127.15(c)(1). 
 

C. In order to apply for a waiver from the electronic reporting, the operator must submit the required information outlined 
in 40 C.F.R. §127.15(b)(2). 

 

D. If DEQ grants a waiver approval to use a paper NOI, and operator elects to use it, the operator must use the approved 
form developed by DEQ.  

 

5. Requirements for Qualifying Local Program (QLP). DEQ reviews and approves the QLPs to ensure that they meet or 
supersede both state and federal requirements outlined in this permit and 40 C.F.R. §122.44(s).  DEQ will review the QLP 
at least every 5 years for recertification.  If DEQ approves a QLP, then the QLP requirements shall at the minimum meet the 
DEQ’s requirements.  This includes all templates and forms.  This permit may be modified to add new QLPs or modify 
existing QLPs at DEQ’s discretion.  All public notice and other applicable costs incurred by the modification of the permit 
for the addition or modification of a QLP will be paid by the QLP. 

 
If a small construction site is within the jurisdiction of a QLP, the operator of the small construction site is authorized to 
discharge stormwater associated with construction activity under QLP permit requirements only.      

 
At the time of issuance of this permit, only the City of Hot Springs is meeting the DEQ minimum requirements.  

https://eportal.adeq.state.ar.us/


      Page 10 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

  

6. Requirements for Coverage. 

 
A. Small Construction Sites. An operator of a small construction site will be considered to have automatic coverage under 

this general permit and may discharge without submitting a NOI, SWPPP or fee if the following conditions are met:  
 
1) A completed Notice of Coverage (NOC) must be posted at the site prior to commencing construction and remain 

posted until final stabilization is completed;   
2) A Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan must be prepared in accordance with good engineering practice as 

described in Rule 6.203(B), completed prior to posting the NOC, implemented upon commencement of 
construction activities, and the latest copy must be maintained at the construction site; 

3) All permit conditions set forth in this general permit must be followed; and 
4) The operator is responsible for ensuring that the site is in compliance with any changes or updates of this 

general permit, by either contacting DEQ or reviewing the DEQ website:  
 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/ 

 
B. Large Construction Sites. An operator of a large construction site discharging under this general permit shall submit the 

following items at least ten (10) business days prior to the commencement of construction activities: 
 

1) A complete NOI in accordance with the requirements of Part I.B.7 of this permit. 

2) A complete SWPPP in accordance with the requirements of Part II.A of this permit. 

3) An initial permit fee shall accompany the NOI under the provisions of APC&EC Rule 9.  Subsequent annual fees 
will be billed by DEQ until the operator has requested a termination of coverage by submitting a Notice of 
Termination (NOT).  Failure to remit the required initial permit fee shall be grounds for the Director to deny 
coverage under this general permit.  Failure to remit the required annual fees shall be grounds for the Director to 
revoke coverage under this permit. 

 
C. Modification of Permit Coverage to Include Additional Acreage. Any request to increase the total acreage of a 

construction site shall be accompanied by a $200 permit modification fee and an updated SWPPP. Any request to only 
increase the disturbed acreage without changing the total acreage shall be accompanied by an updated SWPPP.  A $200 
permit modification fee is not required with an increase in disturbed acreage.  The operator shall submit a complete and 
signed Additional Acreage Request Form to DEQ through ePortal, which can be found on the following website: 
 

https://eportal.adeq.state.ar.us/  
 

7. Notice of Intent (NOI) Requirements.  

 
A. NOI Form.  Large construction site operators who intend to seek coverage for a stormwater discharge under this general 

permit shall submit a complete and accurate DEQ NOI form through the ePortal system (at 
https://eportal.adeq.state.ar.us/) at least ten (10) business days prior to the date coverage under this permit is desired, 

unless granted a waiver in accordance with Part I.B.4.D. The NOI form completed must be the current version obtained 
from ePortal. 

 
If the NOI is deemed incomplete, DEQ will notify the applicant with regard to the deficiencies by a letter, email, or 
phone within ten (10) business days of the receipt of the NOI.  If the operator does not receive a notification of 
deficiencies from DEQ’s receipt of the NOI, the NOI is deemed complete.  If the applicant does not provide DEQ with 
the requested deficiencies within the deadline set by DEQ, then DEQ will return the NOI, fee and SWPPP back to the 

https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/
https://eportal.adeq.state.ar.us/
https://eportal.adeq.state.ar.us/


      Page 11 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

applicant.   
 

B. Contents of the NOI.  The NOI form contains, at a minimum, the following information: 
 

1) Operator (Permittee) information (name, mailing address, telephone, and E-mail address) 
2) Whether the operator is a federal, state, private, public, corporation, or other entity 
3) Invoice mailing information (name, address, and telephone and fax numbers) 
4) Project Construction site information (name, county, address, contact person, directions to the site, latitude and 

longitude for the entrance of the site or the endpoints for linear project (in degrees, minutes, and seconds), 
estimated construction start date and completion date through site final stabilization, the total project acreage and 
the acreage to be disturbed by the operator submitting the NOI, type of the project (subdivision, school, etc), 
whether the project is part of a larger common plan of development or sale.)  

5) Discharge information (name of the receiving stream, ultimate receiving stream, name of municipal storm sewer 
system) 

6) List of current permits  
7) The Certification statement and signature of a qualified signatory person in accordance with 40 CFR 122.22, as 

adopted by reference in APC&EC Rule 6 
8) The certification of the facility corporation 
9) Other information (location of the SWPPP) 
10) And the SIC Code. 
 

C. Notice of Coverage (NOC).  Unless notified by the Director to the contrary, operators who submit a complete NOI and 
SWPPP in accordance with the requirements of this permit are authorized to discharge stormwater from the 
construction sites under the terms and conditions of this permit ten (10) business days after the date the NOI is deemed 
complete (which may not be the original submission date if revisions or additions were necessary) by DEQ.    If the 
NOC has not been received by the permittee ten (10) business days after the date the NOI is deemed complete by DEQ, 
the NOI may be posted until the NOC is received.  Upon review of the NOI and other available information, the 
Director may deny coverage under this permit and require submittal of an application for an individual NPDES permit. 

 

8. Posting Notice of Coverage (NOC).   

 

A. Automatic Coverage Sites.  The NOC for small sites, as defined in Part I.A.51, shall be obtained from the DEQ’s 
Stormwater website: 

 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/ .   

 

The NOC must be posted at the site prior to commencing construction.  In addition, a copy of the latest signed and 
certified SWPPP must be available at the construction site in accordance with Part II.A.2.B and D prior to commencing 
construction. 

 

B. Large Sites: NOC Posting for Large Construction Sites.  The posting for large construction sites shall be obtained from 
DEQ only after the permittee has submitted the required NOI, permit fee and complete SWPPP to DEQ for the 
coverage. 

 

C. Linear Projects.  If the construction project is a linear construction project (e.g., pipeline, highway, etc.), the notice 
shall be placed in a publicly accessible location near where construction is actively underway and moved as necessary. 

 

Please note, this permit does not provide the public with any right to trespass on a construction site for any reason, including 
inspection of a site; nor does this permit require that the permittee allow members of the public access to a construction site. 

https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/


      Page 12 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

9. Applicable Federal, State or Local Requirements.  The operator shall ensure that the stormwater controls implemented at 
the site are consistent with all applicable federal, state, or local requirements.  Additionally, an operator who is operating 
under approved local erosion and sediment plans, grading plans, local stormwater permits, or stormwater management plans 
shall submit signed copies of the NOI to the local agency (or authority) upon the local agency’s request. 

 

10. Allowable Non-Stormwater Discharges.   
 

A. The following non-stormwater discharges as part of the construction activity may be authorized by this permit through 
appropriate controls.  Non-stormwater discharges shall be addressed in the stormwater pollution prevention plan and 
measures to minimize or eliminate non-stormwater discharge should be taken if reasonably possible. 
1) Fire-fighting activities; 
2) Fire hydrant flushings; 
3) Water used to wash vehicles and equipment (where detergents, soaps, solvents or other chemicals are not used) or 

to control dust in accordance with Part II.A.4.J.2;  
4) Potable water sources including uncontaminated waterline flushings; 
5) Uncontaminated landscape irrigation; 
6) Uncontaminated routine external building wash down which does not use detergents, soaps, solvents or other 

chemicals; 
7) Uncontaminated pavement wash waters where spills or leaks of toxic or hazardous materials have not occurred 

(unless all spilled materials have been removed) and where detergents, soaps. solvents or other chemicals are not 
used); 

8) Uncontaminated air conditioning compressor condensate (See Part I.B.13.C of this permit); 
9) Uncontaminated springs, excavation dewatering and uncontaminated groundwater (See Part I.B.13.C of this 

permit); 
10) Foundation or footing drains where flows are not contaminated with process materials such as solvents or 

contaminated groundwater (See Part I.B.13.C of this permit). 
 

11. Limitations on Coverage (Exclusions).  The following stormwater discharges associated with construction activity are not 
covered by this permit: 

 

A. Post Construction Discharge.  Stormwater discharges associated with construction activities that originate from the site, 
as well as construction support activities located off site, after construction activities have been completed, the site has 
undergone final stabilization, and the permit has been terminated. 

 
B. Discharges Mixed with Non-Stormwater.  Stormwater discharges that are mixed with sources of non-stormwater other 

than those identified in Part I.B.10.   
 

C. Discharges Covered by another Permit.  Stormwater discharges associated with construction activity that are covered 
under an individual or an alternative general permit may be authorized by this permit after an existing permit expires, 
provided the expired permit did not establish numeric effluent limitations for such discharges. 

 
D. Discharges into Receiving Waters with an Approved TMDL.  Discharges from a site into receiving waters for which 

there is an established total maximum daily load (TMDL) allocation 
(https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/planning/integrated/tmdl/) are not eligible for coverage under this permit unless the 
permittee develops and certifies a SWPPP that is consistent with the assumptions and requirements in the EPA 
approved TMDL.  To be eligible for coverage under this general permit, operators shall incorporate into their SWPPP 
all conditions applicable to their discharges necessary for consistency with the assumptions and requirements of the 
TMDL within the timeframes established in the TMDL.  If a specific numeric allocation has been established that 

https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/planning/integrated/tmdl/


      Page 13 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

applies to the project’s discharges, the operator shall incorporate that allocation into its SWPPP and implement 
necessary steps to meet that allocation. If a numeric limit has been assigned to the facility, quarterly monitoring shall be 
submitted to DEQ demonstrating compliance with the assigned Waste Load Allocation established in the TMDL.  
Please note that DEQ will be reviewing this information.  If it is determined that the project will discharge into a 
receiving stream with a TMDL, then DEQ may require additional BMPs. 

 
E. Discharges into Impaired Receiving Waters (303(d) List).  If stormwater discharges from a construction site enters the 

receiving water listed as impaired under Section 303(d) of the Clean Water Act 
(https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/planning/integrated/), the permittee shall incorporate into the SWPPP the additional 
BMPs needed to sufficiently protect water quality.  Please note that DEQ will be reviewing this information.  If it is 
determined that the project will discharge to an impaired water body, then DEQ may require additional BMPs. 
 

F. Discharges into an Extraordinary Resource Water (ERW), Natural and Scenic Waterway (NSW), or Ecologically 

Sensitive Waterbody (ESW).  Discharges from a construction site located within the watershed of any water body or 
waterway designated as an Outstanding Resource Water as defined in the APC&EC Rule 2.203, including ERWs, 
NSWs, or ESWs are not eligible for coverage under this permit unless the permittee develops and certifies a SWPPP 
that includes additional BMPs needed to prevent to the maximum extent possible exposure to precipitation and to 
stormwater of pollutants that could potentially impact water quality.  For the purposes of this permit, the watershed of 
an Outstanding Resource Water will be identified by the United States Geological Survey’s twelve (12) digit 
Hydrological Unit Code (HUC).  Please note that DEQ will be reviewing this information.  If the site will discharge to 
an ERW, NSW, or ESW, then DEQ may determine that additional requirements are necessary. 
 

G. Discharges into an area of the state which includes potential losing stream and/or sensitive aquatic species native to 

these areas. Discharges from a construction site located within the watershed of any potential losing stream and/or 
sensitive aquatic species native to the area are not eligible for coverage under this permit unless the permittee develops 
and certifies a SWPPP that includes additional BMPs needed to prevent to the maximum extent possible exposure to 
precipitation and to stormwater of pollutants that could potentially impact water quality.  In accordance with Part I.B.3, 
it is the responsibility of the permittee to prevent activity which may take or otherwise risk harm to endangered species. 
Please note that DEQ will be reviewing this information.  If the site will discharge to an area of the state which includes 
potential losing stream and/or sensitive aquatic species native to these areas, then DEQ may determine that additional 
requirements are necessary. 

 

12. Short Term Activity Authorization (STAA).  Any work being conducted in waters of the State will require a STAA from 
DEQ in accordance with Rule 2.305.  An STAA is necessary for any in-stream activity that has the potential to exceed the 
water quality standards, including, but not limited to: gravel removal, bridge or crossing repair/maintenance, bank 
stabilization, debris removal, culvert replacement, flood control projects, and stream relocation.  Any work being conducted 
in Waters of the United States may require a Section 404 permit from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.  This permit does 
not authorize any activity under an STAA, Individual 401 Certification, or Section 404 permit. The necessary forms to 
apply for coverage under an STAA or Individual 401 Certification can be found on the following website: 
 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/planning/instream/ 
 
The SWPPP shall be updated to include a copy of the STAA letter (and Individual 401 Certification if needed) upon 
receipt. Re-submittal of the SWPPP is not required unless specifically requested by DEQ. 
 

13. Effluent Limitation Guidelines (ELG). All permittees shall comply with the following effluent limits: 
 
A. Erosion and Sediment Controls. Design, install, and maintain effective erosion controls and sediment controls to 

minimize the discharge of pollutants. At a minimum, such controls shall be designed, installed and maintained to: 

https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/planning/integrated/
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/planning/instream/


      Page 14 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 
1) Control stormwater volume and velocity to minimize soil erosion in order to minimize pollutant discharges; 
2) Control stormwater discharges, including both peak flowrates and total stormwater volume, to minimize channel 

and streambank erosion and scour in the immediate vicinity of discharge points; 
3) Minimize the amount of soil exposed during construction activity; 
4) Minimize the disturbance of steep slopes; 
5) Minimize sediment discharges from the site. The design, installation and maintenance of erosion and sediment 

controls shall address factors such as the amount, frequency, intensity and duration of precipitation, the nature of 
resulting stormwater runoff, and soil characteristics, including the range of soil particle sizes expected to be present 
on the site; 

6) Provide and maintain natural buffers around waters of the State, direct stormwater to vegetated areas and maximize 
stormwater infiltration to reduce pollutant discharges, unless infeasible; 

7) Minimize soil compaction.  Minimizing soil compaction is not required where the intended function of a specific 
area of the site dictates that it be compacted; and   

8) Unless infeasible, preserve topsoil.  Preserving topsoil is not required where the intended function of a specific area 
of the site dictates that the topsoil be disturbed or removed. 

 
B. Soil Stabilization. Stabilization of disturbed areas must, at a minimum, be initiated immediately (unless weather 

conditions do not allow immediate initiation) whenever any clearing, grading, excavating or other earth disturbing 
activities have permanently ceased on any portion of the site, or temporarily ceased on any portion of the site and will 
not resume for a period exceeding fourteen (14) calendar days. In arid, semiarid, and drought-stricken areas where 
initiating vegetative stabilization measures immediately is infeasible, alternative stabilization measures must be 
employed as specified by the permitting authority. Stabilization must be completed within fourteen (14) calendar days. 
In limited circumstances, stabilization may not be required if the intended function of a specific area of the site 
necessitates that it remain disturbed. 

 
C. Dewatering. Discharges from dewatering activities, including discharges from dewatering of trenches and excavations, 

are prohibited unless managed by appropriate controls. There shall be no turbid discharges to waters of the State 
resulting from dewatering activities. If trench or ground waters contain sediment, it shall pass through a sediment 
settling pond or other equally effective sediment control device, prior to being discharged from the construction site. 
Alternatively, sediment may be removed by settling in place or by dewatering into a sump pit, filter bag, or comparable 
practice. Ground water dewatering which does not contain sediment or other pollutants is not required to be treated 
prior to discharge. However, care shall be taken when discharging ground water to ensure that it does not become 
pollutant-laden by traversing over disturbed soils or other pollutant sources. 

 
D. Pollution Prevention Measures. Design, install, implement, and maintain effective pollution prevention measures to 

minimize the discharge of pollutants. At a minimum, such measures shall be designed, installed, implemented and 
maintained to: 

 
1) Minimize the discharge of pollutants from equipment and vehicle washing, wheel wash water, and other wash 

waters. Wash waters shall be treated in a sediment basin or BMP control that provides equivalent or better 
treatment prior to discharge; 

2) Minimize the exposure of building materials, building products, construction wastes, trash, landscape materials, 
fertilizers, pesticides, herbicides, detergents, sanitary waste and other materials present on the site to precipitation 
and to stormwater.  Minimization of exposure is not required in cases where the exposure to precipitation and to 
stormwater will not result in a discharge of pollutants, or where exposure of a specific material or product poses 
little risk of stormwater contamination (such as final products and materials intended for outdoor use); and 

3) Minimize the discharge of pollutants from spills and leaks and implement chemical spill and leak prevention and 
response procedures. 



      Page 15 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 
E. Prohibited discharges. The following discharges are prohibited: 
 

1) Wastewater from washout of concrete, unless managed by an appropriate control; 
2) Wastewater from washout and cleanout of stucco, paint, form release oils, curing compounds and other 

construction materials; 
3) Fuels, oils, or other pollutants used in vehicle and equipment operation and maintenance; and 
4) Soaps, solvents, or detergents used in vehicle, equipment washing, or external building washdown. 
5) Toxic or hazardous substances from a spill or release. 

 
F. Surface Outlets. When discharging from basins and impoundments, utilize outlet structures that withdraw water from 

the surface, unless infeasible. 
 

14. Natural Buffer Zones. A natural buffer zone as stated below shall be maintained at all times and direct stormwater to 
vegetated areas and maximize stormwater infiltration to reduce pollutant discharges, unless infeasible.  Exceptions from this 
requirement for areas such as water crossings, limited water access, and restoration of the buffer are allowed if the permittee 
fully documents in the SWPPP the circumstances and reasons for the buffer zone encroachment. Additionally, 
this requirement is not intended to interfere with any other ordinance, rule or regulation, statute or other provision of law.   
 
A. For construction projects where construction activities or construction support activities occur, the SWPPP shall 

provide at least twenty-five (25) feet of natural buffer zone, as measured horizontally from the top of the bank to the 
disturbed area, from any waters of the State. 

 
B. DEQ will require at least fifty (50) feet of natural buffer zone, as measured horizontally from the top of the bank to the 

disturbed area, from established TMDL water bodies, streams listed on the 303(d) list, an Extraordinary Resource 
Water (ERW), Ecologically Sensitive Waterbody (ESW), Natural and Scenic Waterway (NSW), or any other uses at the 
discretion of the Director.   

 
C. Linear projects will be evaluated individually by DEQ to determine natural buffer zone setbacks. 

 
15. Waivers from Permit Coverage. The Director may waive the otherwise applicable requirements of this general permit for 

stormwater discharges from construction activities under the terms and conditions described in this section. 
 

A. Waiver Applicability and Coverage.  Based upon 40 C.F.R. §122.26.b.15.i.A, operators of small construction activities 
may apply for and receive a waiver from the requirements to obtain this permit. 

 

B. No Stormwater Leaving the Site.  If all of the stormwater from the construction activity is captured on-site under any 
size storm event and allowed to evaporate, soak into the ground on-site, or is used for irrigation, a permit is not needed. 

 

C. TMDL Waivers. This waiver is available for sites with automatic coverage if the DEQ has established or approved a 
TMDL that addresses the pollutant(s) of concern and has determined that controls on stormwater discharges from small 
construction activity are not needed to protect water quality. The pollutant(s) of concern include sediment (such as total 
suspended solids, turbidity or siltation) and any other pollutant that has been identified as a cause of impairment of any 
water body that will receive a discharge from the construction activity. The operator must certify to the Director that 
construction activity will take place, and storm water discharges will occur within the drainage area addressed by the 
TMDL or equivalent analysis. Information on approved TMDLs is available on DEQ’s website: 
 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/planning/integrated/tmdl/. 

https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/planning/integrated/tmdl/


      Page 16 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

16. Notice of Termination (NOT).  When all construction activities that disturbed soil are complete, the site has reached final 
stabilization (100% stabilization with 80% density or greater, or as defined in Part I.A.25.B for sites where background 
native vegetation will cover less than 100% of the ground), all stormwater discharges from construction activities authorized 
by this permit are eliminated and all temporary sediment controls are removed and properly disposed, the operator of the 
facility may submit a complete Notice of Termination (NOT) to the Director.  Along with the NOT, pictures that represent 
the entire site shall be submitted for review. Final stabilization is not required if the land is returned to its pre-construction 
agriculture use. Operators of small construction sites are not required to submit NOTs for their construction sites.  However, 
final stabilization is required on all sites. If a NOT is not submitted when the project is completed, the operator will be 
responsible for annual fees. 

 

17. Responsibilities of the Operator of a Larger Common Plan of Development or Sale. 

 

A. The operator is ultimately responsible for the runoff from the perimeter of the entire development. Regardless of the 
reason for the runoff, the operator is responsible for ensuring sufficient overall controls of the development. 

 

B. The operator shall not terminate the permit coverage until the following conditions have been met: 
 
1) After all construction activities including landscaping and lot development has been completed; and 
2) All lots are sold and developed.   

 
The following exceptions to this requirement may apply: 

 
a. Less than 100% sold and developed at the discretion of the Director, or 
b. Separation of the larger common plan if twenty-four (24) months have passed with no construction activity, or 
c. All lots are developed and there are no temporary common controls for subdivision outfalls, i.e. sediment 

basins, large sediment traps, check dams, etc. 
 

3) If lots are sold and then re-sold to a third party, permit coverage shall be obtained by each of the operators while 
they have ownership of the lots.  The second owner is responsible for obtaining the same certification from the 
third owner (i.e. the certification shall pass from owner to owner). 
 

C. The operator shall not terminate permit coverage until the operators of all of the individual lots within the larger 
common plan of development or sale are notified of their permitting requirements under this general permit. In this 
case, the signed certification statements from each operator of individual lots shall be maintained in the stormwater 
pollution prevention plan for the larger common plan of development or sale. A copy of the signed certifications shall 
be submitted to DEQ with the NOT. The certification shall be as follows: 
 
“I, ________________________________, operator of an individual lot #______, block #_______ of 
________________ subdivision, certify under penalty of law that I was notified by the operator of the larger common 
plan of the stormwater permitting requirements for my construction site(s). I understand prior to commencement of any 
construction activity I have to prepare and comply with a SWPPP and post the Construction Site Notice . I understand 
that prior to the sale of this lot to another party; I must notify the new owner of DEQ requirements and obtain this 
certification from the new owner.” 

 
Signature ______________________________________ 

 
D. The following examples are provided as clarification:  



      Page 17 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 
1) If a small portion of the original common plan of development remains undeveloped and there has been a period of 

time (i.e., more than 24 months) where there are no ongoing construction activities (i.e., all areas are either 
undisturbed or have been finally stabilized), operators may re-evaluate the original project based on the acreage 
remaining from the original “larger common plan of development or sale.”  If less than five (5) but more than one 
(1) acre remains to build out the original “common plan”, coverage under the large permit may not be required.  
However, operators will need to comply with the terms and conditions for Small Construction Sites in the 
Construction General Permit.  If less than one acre remains of the original common plan, the individual project may 
be treated as a part of a less than one acre development and no permit would be required. 

2) If operators have a long-range master plan of development or sale where some portions of the master plan are 
conceptual rather than a specific plan of future development and the future construction activities would, if they 
occur at all, happen over an extended period of time (i.e., more than 24 months), operators may consider the 
“conceptual” phases of development to be separate “common plans” provided the periods of construction for the 
physically interconnected phases will not overlap. 

3) Where discrete construction projects within a larger common plan of development or sale are located ¼ mile or 
more apart and the area between the projects is not being disturbed, each individual project can be treated as a 
separate plan of development or sale provided any interconnecting road, pipeline or utility project that is part of the 
same “common plan” is not concurrently being disturbed. For example, if an interconnecting access road or 
pipeline were under construction at the same time, they would generally be considered as a part of a single 
“common plan” for permitting purposes. 

4) If the operator sells all the lots in the subdivision to one or more multi-lot homebuilder(s), provisions shall be made 
to obtain stormwater permit coverage by one of the following options: 
a. The permit may be transferred from the first “operator” to the new/second “operator”. 
b. A new, separate permit coverage may be obtained by the second “operator”. 

NOTE: If a new permit coverage is to be obtained, then it shall be obtained before the first/original permit is 
terminated. 

5) If the operator retains ownership of any lots in the subdivision, the operator shall maintain permit coverage for 
those lots under the original permit coverage.  The operator shall modify the SWPPP by stating which lots are 
owned and marking the lots on the site map.  If there are one (1) or two (2) lots remaining and the total acreage is 
less than five (5) acres, the original permit coverage could be terminated and those lots could be covered as a small 
site. 

 

18. Change in Operator.  For stormwater discharges from large construction sites where the operator changes, including 
instances where an operator is added after the initial NOI has been submitted, the new operator shall ensure that a permit 
transfer form is received by DEQ at least two (2) weeks prior to the new operator beginning work at the site. 

 

19. Late Notifications.  A discharger is not precluded from submitting an NOI in accordance with the requirements of this part 
after the dates provided in Part I.B.7 of this permit.  In such instances, the Director may bring an enforcement action for 
failure to submit an NOI in a timely manner or for any unauthorized discharges of stormwater associated with construction 
activity that have occurred on or after the dates specified in this permit. 

 

20. Failure to Notify.  The operator of a construction site who fails to notify the Director of their intent to be covered under 
this permit, and who potentially discharges pollutants (sediment, debris, etc.) to waters of the State without an NPDES 
permit, is in violation of the Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control Act.  

 

21. Maintenance.  Determination of the acreage of disturbance does not typically include disturbance for routine maintenance 
activities on existing roads where the original line and grade, hydraulic capacity, or original purpose of the road is not being 
altered, nor does it include the paving of existing roads.  Maintenance activities (returning to original conditions) are not 



      Page 18 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

regulated under this permit unless one or more acres of underlying or surrounding soil are cleared, graded, or excavated as 
part of the operation.   

 

22. Releases in Excess of Reportable Quantities. 

 

A. The discharge of hazardous substances or oil in the stormwater discharge(s) from a facility shall be prevented or 
minimized in accordance with the applicable stormwater pollution prevention plan for the facility.  This permit does not 
relieve the operator of the reporting requirements of 40 C.F.R. §110, §117 and §302.  Where a release containing a 
hazardous substance or oil in an amount equal to or in excess of a reporting quantity established under either 40 C.F.R. 
§110, 40 C.F.R. §117, or 40 C.F.R. §302, occurs during a twenty-four (24) hour period, the following action shall be 
taken: 

 
1) Any person in charge of the facility is required to notify the National Response Center (NRC) (800-424-8802) in 

accordance with the requirements of 40 C.F.R. §110, 40 C.F.R. §117, or 40 C.F.R. §302 as soon as he/she has 
knowledge of the discharge; 

2) The operator shall submit within five (5) calendar days of knowledge of the release a written description of the 
release (including the type and estimate of the amount of material released), the date that such release occurred, and 
the circumstances leading to the release, and steps to be taken in accordance with Part II.B.17 of this permit to the 
DEQ. 

3) The SWPPP described in Part II.A of this permit shall be modified within fourteen (14) calendar days of 
knowledge of the release to: 

 
a. Provide a description of the release and the circumstances leading to the release; and 
b. The date of the release; 

 
4) Additionally, the SWPPP shall be reviewed to identify measures to prevent the reoccurrence of such releases and to 

respond to such releases, and the plan shall be modified where appropriate. 
 

B. Spills.  This permit does not authorize the discharge of hazardous substances or oil resulting from an on-site spill. 
 

23.  Attainment of Water Quality Standards.  

 

The operator shall select, install, implement, and maintain control measures at the construction site and construction support 
activities off site that minimize the discharge of pollutants for which a stream is impaired at the discretion of the Director as 
necessary to protect water quality.  In general, except in situations explained below, the stormwater controls developed, 
implemented, and updated to be considered stringent enough to ensure that discharges do not cause, have the reasonable 
potential to cause, or contribute to an excursion above any applicable water quality standard.  
 
At any time after authorization, DEQ may determine that the stormwater discharges may cause, have reasonable potential to 
cause, or contribute to an excursion above any applicable water quality standard.  If such a determination is made, DEQ will 
require the permittee to:  

 
A. Develop a supplemental BMP action plan describing SWPPP modifications to address adequately the identified water 

quality concerns and submit valid and verifiable data and information that are representative of ambient conditions and 
indicate that the receiving water is attaining water quality standards; or 

 
B. Cease discharges of pollutants from construction activity and submit an individual permit application. 

 



      Page 19 of Part I 
Permit No. ARR150000 

All written responses required under this part shall include a signed certification consistent with Part II.B.9. 
 

24. Requiring an Individual Permit 

 

The Director may require any person eligible for coverage under the general permit to apply for and obtain an individual 
permit. In addition, any interested person(s) may submit an application for an individual permit.  The Director may consider 
the issuance of individual permits according to the criteria in 40 C.F.R. §122.28(b)(3).  

 
Coverage of the facility under this general permit is may be terminated by DEQ if the operator fails to submit or respond to 
the permitting process or requests for information in a timely manner. 
 
Any operator covered under this general permit may request to be excluded from the coverage of this permit by applying for 
an APC&EC Rule 6 individual permit. The operator shall submit an application for an individual permit with the reasons 
supporting the application to DEQ.  If a final, individual NPDES permit is issued to an operator otherwise subject to this 
general permit, the operator is required to submit a NOT. Coverage under this general permit will then be  terminated no 
earlier than the effective date of the individual NPDES permit. Otherwise, the applicability of this general permit to the 
facility remains in full force and effect. 



     Page 1 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

 

PART II 

STANDARD CONDITIONS 

 

Information in Part II is organized as follows: 
 

Section A:  Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plans (SWPPP): 

     1. Deadlines for Plan Preparation and Compliance 
     2. Signature, SWPPP, Inspection Reports, and Notice of Coverage (NOC)  
     3. Keeping SWPPP Current 
     4. Contents of the Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 
     5. Plan Certification 
 

Section B:  Standard Permit Conditions: 
1. Retention of Records 
2. Duty to Comply 
3. Penalties for Violations of Permit Conditions 
4. Continuance of the General Permit 
5. Need to Halt or Reduce Activity Not a Defense 
6. Duty to Mitigate 
7. Duty to Provide Information 
8. Other Information 
9. Signatory Requirements 
10. Certification 
11. Penalties for Falsification of Reports 
12. Penalties for Tampering 
13. Oil and Hazardous Substance Liability 
14. Property Rights 
15. Severability 
16. Transfers 
17. Proper Operation and Maintenance 
18. Inspection and Entry 
19. Permit Actions 
20. Re-Opener Clause 
21. Local Requirements  
22. Applicable Federal, State Requirements  
 

 
 

 



     Page 2 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

SECTION A:  STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLANS (SWPPP) 
 
The operator shall prepare a SWPPP before permit coverage. The SWPPP shall follow the order outlined in Part II.A.4 & 5 
below. This basic DEQ format is available through DEQ’s website 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/.  Other formats may be used at the discretion of the Director if the 
format has been approved by DEQ prior to use.  The operator shall implement the SWPPP as written from initial 
commencement of construction activity until final stabilization is complete, with changes being made as deemed necessary by 
the permittee, local, state or federal officials.  The plan shall be prepared in accordance with good engineering practices, by 
qualified personnel and shall: 

 

• Identify potential sources of pollution which may reasonably be expected to affect the quality of stormwater 
discharges from the construction site and construction support activities off site; 

• Identify, describe and ensure the implementation of BMPs, with emphasis on initial site stabilization, which are to 
be used to reduce pollutants in stormwater discharges from the construction site and construction support activities 
off site; 

• Be site specific to what is taking place on a particular construction site; 

• Ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of this permit; and 

• Identify the responsible party for on-site SWPPP implementation. 
 

1. Deadlines for Plan Preparation and Compliance.   
 

A. Automatic Coverage Sites. 

 
The plan shall be completed prior to obtaining permit coverage and commencement of construction activities and 
updated as appropriate.  Submittal of the NOI, permit fee and SWPPP is not required. All conditions set forth in Part 
II.A must be followed, and the NOC must be posted at the site prior to commencing construction activities.  In addition, 
a copy of the SWPPP must be available at the construction site in accordance with Part II.A.2.B and D prior to 
commencing construction. 
 

B. Large Construction Sites. 

 
The plan shall be completed and submitted for review, along with an NOI and initial permit fee ten (10) business days 
prior to the commencement of construction activities.  Submittals of updates to the plan during the construction process 
are required in accordance with Part I.B.6.C or if requested by the Director. 
 

C. Existing Permittees. 

 
Existing permittees that were permitted prior to the issuance of this renewal permit are required to update their plan as 
appropriate to come into compliance with the requirements contained in Part II.A.4 by the effective date of this permit. 

 

2. Signature, SWPPP, Inspection Reports and Notice of Coverage (NOC). 

 
A. The SWPPP and inspection reports shall be signed by the operator (or cognizant official) in accordance with Part II.B.9 

and be retained at the construction site during normal business hours (8:00 A.M. – 5:00 P.M.). The inspections 
frequency shall be conducted in accordance with Part II.A.4.N.1.    

 
B. The operator shall make SWPPP and inspection reports available, upon request, to the Director, the EPA, or a State or 

local agency reviewing sediment and erosion plans, grading plans, or stormwater management plans, or, in the case of a 
stormwater discharge associated with construction activity which discharges through a municipal separate storm sewer 
system with an NPDES permit, to the municipal operator of the system. 

 

https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/


     Page 3 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

C. The Director, or authorized representative, may notify the operator at any time that the plan does not meet one or more 
of the minimum requirements of this Part.  Within seven (7) business days of such notification from the Director (or as 
otherwise provided by the Director) or authorized representative, the operator shall make the required changes to the 
plan and submit to the Director a written certification that the requested changes have been made.  DEQ may request re-
submittal of the SWPPP to confirm that all deficiencies have been adequately addressed.  DEQ may also take 
appropriate enforcement action for the period of time the operator was operating under SWPPP that did not meet the 
minimum requirements of this permit. 

 
D. The operator shall post the NOC near the main entrance of the construction site and visible to the public.  The NOC 

shall indicate the location of the SWPPP.  If the SWPPP location is changed from the initial location, the NOC shall be 
updated to reflect the correct location of the SWPPP. 

 

3. Keeping SWPPP Current.  The operator shall amend the SWPPP within seven (7) business days or whenever there is a 
change in design, construction, operation, or maintenance at the construction site which has or could have a significant 
effect on the potential for the discharge of pollutants to the waters of the State that has not been previously addressed in the 
SWPPP.  The SWPPP shall also be modified if a determination has been made through inspections, monitoring (if 

required), or investigation by the operator, local, state, or federal officials that the discharges are causing or contributing to 
water quality violation or the plan proves to be ineffective in eliminating or significantly minimizing pollutants from sources 
identified in stormwater discharges from the construction site. 
 

4. Contents of the SWPPP.  The SWPPP shall include the following items: 
 

A. Site Description.  SWPPP shall provide a description of the following: 
 

1) A description of the nature of the construction activity and its intended use after the NOI is filed (i.e., residential 
subdivision, shopping mall, etc.); 

2) A description of the intended sequence of major activities which disturb soils for major portions of the site (e.g. 
grubbing, excavation, grading, infrastructure installation, etc.); 

3) Estimates of the total area of the site including off-site borrow and fill areas and the total area of the site that is 
expected to be disturbed by excavation, grading or other activities; and 

4) An estimate of the runoff coefficient of the site for pre- and post-construction activities and existing data describing 
the soil or the quality of any discharge from the site. 
 

B. Responsible Parties.  The SWPPP shall identify (as soon as this information is known) all parties (i.e., General 
Contractors, Landscapers, Project Designers, and Inspectors) responsible for particular construction activities and 
services they provide to the operator to comply with the requirements of the SWPPP for the project site and 
construction support activities off site, and areas over which each party has control.  If these parties change over the life 
of the permit, or new parties are added, the SWPPP shall be updated to reflect these changes. 
 

C. Receiving Waters.  The SWPPP shall include a clear description of the nearest receiving water(s), or if the discharge is 
to a MS4, the name of the operator of the municipal system, and the ultimate receiving water(s). 
 

D. Documentation of Permit Eligibility Related to the 303(d) list and Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDL).  The SWPPP 
shall include information on whether or not the stormwater discharges from the site enter a waterbody that is on the 
most recent 303(d) list or with an approved TMDL.  If the stormwater discharge does enter a waterbody that is on the 
most recent 303(d) list or with an approved TMDL, then the SWPPP shall address the following items: 

 
1) Identification of the pollutants that the 303(d) list or TMDL addresses, specifically whether the 303(d) list or 

TMDL addresses sediment or a parameter that addresses sediment (such as total suspended solids, turbidity, or 
siltation);  

2) Identification of whether the operator’s discharge is identified, either specifically or generally, on the 303(d) list or 



     Page 4 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

any associated assumptions and allocations identified in the TMDL for the discharge; and 
3) Measures taken by the operator to ensure that its discharge of pollutants from the site is consistent with the 

assumptions and allocations of the TMDL. 
 

If DEQ determines during the review process that the proposed project will be discharging to a receiving water that is 
on the most recent 303(d) list or with an approved TMDL, then DEQ may notify the applicant to include additional 
Best Management Practices in the SWPPP.    

 
E. Documentation of Permit Eligibility Related to Discharges into an ERW, NSW, or ESW.  The SWPPP shall include 

information whether or not the construction site located within a watershed of an ERW, ESW, or NSW. If the 
construction site is located within a watershed of an ERW, ESW, or NSW, then the SWPPP should consider using 
additional BMPs for these areas. The practices shall be considered during the progression of site activities and updates 
to the construction site SWPPP for continued protection of underground water resources. 
 

F. Documentation of Permit Eligibility related to potential losing stream and/or sensitive aquatic species native to these 

areas. The SWPPP shall include information whether or not the construction site located within a watershed of a 
potential losing stream, and/or sensitive aquatic species native to these areas. If the construction site is located within a 
watershed of a potential losing stream and/or sensitive aquatic species native to these areas, then the SWPPP shall 
consider using BMPs for losing stream areas. The practices should be considered during the progression of site 
activities and updates to the facility SWPPP for continued protection of underground water resources. 
 

G. Attainment of Water Quality Standards After Authorization. 
 
1) The permittee shall select, install, implement, and maintain BMPs at the construction site and at the construction 

support activities off site that minimize pollutants in the discharge as necessary to meet applicable water quality 
standards.  In general, except in situations explained below, the SWPPP shall be developed, implemented, and 
updated to be considered as stringent as necessary to ensure that the discharges do not cause, have the reasonable 
potential to cause, or contribute to an excursion above any applicable water quality standard. 

 
2) At any time after authorization, DEQ may determine that the stormwater discharges may cause, have reasonable 

potential to cause, or contribute to an excursion above any applicable water quality standard.  If such a 
determination is made, DEQ will require the permittee to: 

 
a. Develop a supplemental BMP action plan describing SWPPP modifications to adequately address the 

identified water quality concerns and submit valid and verifiable data and information that are representative of 
ambient conditions and indicate that the receiving water is attaining water quality standards; or 

 
b. Cease discharges of pollutants from construction activity and submit an individual permit application. 

 
3) All written responses required under this part shall include a signed certification (Part II.B.9). 
 

H. Site Map.  The SWPPP shall contain a legible site map (or multiple maps, if necessary) complete to scale, showing the 
entire site, that identifies, at a minimum, the following: 
 
1) Pre-construction topographic view; 
2) Direction of stormwater flow (i.e., use arrows to show which direction stormwater will flow) and approximate 

slopes anticipated after grading activities; 
3) Delineate on the site map areas of soil disturbance and areas that will not be disturbed with regards to the 

construction activities and construction support activities off site under the coverage of this permit; 
4) Location of major structural and nonstructural controls identified in the plan; 
5) Location of main construction entrance and exit; 



     Page 5 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

6) Location where stabilization practices are expected to occur; 
7) Locations of all construction support activities off-site (i.e. materials, waste, borrow area, or equipment storage 

areas); 
8) Location of areas used for concrete wash-out; 
9) Location of all waters of the State with associated natural buffer boundary lines.  Identify floodplain and floodway 

boundaries, if available; 
10) Locations where stormwater is discharged to waters of the State or a municipal separate storm sewer system if 

applicable, 
11) Locations where stormwater is discharged off-site (shall be continuously updated); 
12) Areas where final stabilization has been accomplished and no further construction phase permit requirements 

apply; 
13) A legend that clearly specifies any erosion and sediment control measure symbols/labels used in the site map and/or 

detail sheet; and 
14) Locations of any storm drain inlets on the site and in the immediate vicinity of the site. 
 

I. Stormwater Controls.  Each plan shall include a description of appropriate controls and measures that will be installed 
and implemented at the construction site.  The plan shall clearly describe each construction activity identified in the 
project description control measures associated with the construction activity and the schedule during the construction 
process that the measures will be implemented.  Perimeter controls for the site shall be installed after the clearing and 
grubbing necessary for installation of the measure, but before the clearing and grubbing for the remaining portions of 
the site.  Perimeter controls shall be actively maintained until final stabilization of those portions of the site upward of 
the perimeter control.  Temporary controls shall be removed and properly disposed of after final stabilization.  The 
description and implementation of controls shall address the following minimum components: 
 

1) Initial Site Stabilization, Erosion, and Sediment Controls and Best Management Practices.  Design, install, 
implement, and maintain effective erosion and sediment controls to minimize the discharge of pollutants. At a 
minimum the following controls and BMPs shall be designed, installed, implemented, and maintained.  Therefore, 
the SWPPP shall address, at a minimum, the following: 

 
a. For larger common plans of development or sale, only streets, drainage, utility areas, areas needed for initial 

construction of streets (e.g., borrow pits, parking areas, etc.) and areas needed for stormwater structures may be 
disturbed initially.  Upon stabilization of the initial areas, additional areas may be disturbed. 

b. The construction-phase erosion (such as site stabilization) and sediment controls (such as check dams) shall be 
designed to retain sediment on-site to the extent practicable. 

c. All control measures shall be properly selected, installed, and maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s specifications, good engineering, and construction practices.  If periodic inspections or other 
information indicates a control has been used inappropriately or incorrectly, the permittee shall replace or 
modify the control for site situations. 

d. If sediment escapes the construction site, off site accumulations of sediment shall be removed before the next 
business day to minimize off-site impacts (e.g., to prevent fugitive sediment in a street could be washed into 
storm sewers by the next rain or pose a safety hazard to users of public streets).  This permit does not give the 
authority to trespass onto other property; therefore this condition should be carried out along with the 
permission of neighboring land owners to remove sediment. 

e. Sediment shall be removed from sediment traps (if used, please specify what type) or sedimentation ponds 
when design capacity has been reduced by 50%. 

f. Litter, construction debris, and construction chemicals exposed to precipitation and to stormwater shall be 
prevented from becoming a pollutant source for stormwater discharges (e.g., screening outfalls picked up 
daily). 

g. Construction support activities off site (i.e. material storage areas, overburden and stockpiles of dirt, borrow 
areas, etc.) used solely by the permitted project are considered a part of the project and shall be addressed in 
the SWPPP. 



     Page 6 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

 
2) Stabilization practices.  The SWPPP shall include, at a minimum, the following information: 

 
a. Description and Schedule:  A description of initial, interim, and permanent stabilization practices, including 

site-specific scheduling of the implementation of the practices.  Site plans shall ensure that existing vegetation 
is preserved where attainable and that disturbed areas are stabilized.  Stabilization practices may include, but 
not limited to: mulching, temporary seeding, permanent seeding, geotextiles, sod stabilization, natural buffer 
strips, protection of trees, and preservation of mature vegetation and other appropriate measures. 

 
b. Description of natural buffer areas:  DEQ requires that a natural buffer zone be established between the top of 

stream bank and the disturbed area.  The SWPPP shall contain a description of how the site will maintain 
natural buffer zones.  For construction projects where clearing and grading activities will occur, SWPPP shall 
provide at least twenty-five (25) feet of natural buffer zone from any named or unnamed streams, creeks, rivers, 
lakes or other water bodies.  The plan shall also provide at least fifty (50) feet of natural buffer zone from 
established TMDL waterbodies, waterbodies listed on the 303(d) list, an ERW, ESW, NSW, or other uses at 
the discretion of the Director.  If the site will be disturbed within the recommended buffer zone, then the buffer 
zone area shall be stabilized as soon as possible.  Exceptions from this requirement for areas such as water 
crossings, limited water access, and restoration of the buffer are allowed if the permittee fully documents in the 
SWPPP the circumstances and reasons for the buffer zone encroachment.  Additionally, this requirement is not 
intended to interfere with any other ordinance, rule or regulation, statute or other provision of law.  Please note 
that above-grade clearing that does not disturb the soil in the buffer zone area does not have to comply with 
buffer zone requirements.  

 
c. Records of Stabilization:  A record of the dates when grading activities occur, when construction activities 

temporarily or permanently cease on a portion of the site, and when stabilization measures are initiated shall be 
included in the plan. 

 
d. Deadlines for Stabilization After Construction Activity Temporarily Ceases:  Stabilization measures shall be 

initiated as soon as practicable in portions of the site where construction activities have temporarily ceased, but 
in no case more than fourteen (14) calendar days after the construction activity in that portion of the site has 
temporarily ceased, except: 

 
(1) Where the initiation of stabilization measures by the fourteenth (14th) calendar day after construction 

activity temporarily ceases is precluded by snow cover, stabilization measures shall be initiated as soon as 
practicable. 
 

(2) In arid, semiarid, and drought-stricken areas where initiating vegetative stabilization measures immediately 
is infeasible, alternative stabilization measures shall be employed as specified by the permitting authority. 

 
e. Deadline for Stabilization After Construction Activity Permanently Ceases:  Stabilization measures shall be 

initiated immediately in portions of the site where construction activities have permanently ceased, except: 
 

(1) Where the initiation of stabilization measures immediately after construction activity permanently ceases is 
precluded by snow cover, stabilization measures shall be initiated as soon as practicable. 
 

(2) In arid, semiarid, and drought-stricken areas where initiating vegetative stabilization measures immediately 
is infeasible, alternative stabilization measures shall be employed as specified by the permitting authority. 

 
3) Structural Practices.  A description of structural practices to divert flows from exposed soils, store flows, or 

otherwise limit runoff and the discharge of pollutants from exposed areas of the site to the degree attainable.  
Structural practices should be placed on upland soils to the degree attainable.  The installation of these devices may 



     Page 7 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

be subject to Section 404 of the Clean Water Act.  Such practices may include but are not limited to: 
 

- silt fences (installed and maintained); 
- earthen dikes to prevent run-on; 
- drainage swales to prevent run-on; 
- check dams; 
- subsurface drains; 
- pipe slope drains; 
- storm drain inlet protection; 
- rock outlet protection; 
- sediment traps; 
- reinforced soil retaining systems; 
- gabions; 
- temporary or permanent sediment basins. 

 
A combination of erosion and sediment control measures is encouraged to achieve maximum pollutant removal.  
Adequate spillway cross-sectional area and re-enforcement shall be provided for check dams, sediment traps, and 
sediment basins. 

 
a. Sediment Basins: 

 
(1) For common drainage locations that serve an area with ten (10) or more acres (including run-on from other 

areas) draining to a common point, a temporary or permanent sediment basin that provides storage based 
on either the smaller of 3600 cubic feet per acre, or a size based on the runoff volume of a 10 year, 24 hour 
storm, shall be provided where attainable (so as not to adversely impact water quality) until final 
stabilization of the site. In determining whether installing a sediment basin is attainable, the operator may 
consider factors such as site soils, slope, available area on site, etc. Proper hydraulic design of the outlet is 
critical to achieving the desired performance of the basin. The outlet should be designed to drain the basin 
within twenty-four (24) to seventy-two (72) hours. (A rule of thumb is one square foot per acre for a 
spillway design.) The 24-hour limit is specified to provide adequate settling time; the seventy-two (72) 
hour limit is specified to mitigate vector control concerns. If a pipe outlet design is chosen for the outfall, 
then an emergency spillway is required. If “non-attainability” is claimed, then an explanation of non-

attainability shall be included in the SWPPP. Where a sediment basin is not attainable, smaller sediment 
basins or sediment traps shall be used. Where a sediment basin is un-attainable, natural buffer strips or 
other suitable controls which are effective are required for all side slopes and down slope boundaries of the 
construction area. The plans for removal or final usage of the sediment basin shall be included with the 
description of the basin in the SWPPP. 

 
(2) For drainage locations serving an area less than ten (10) acres, sediment traps, silt fences, or equivalent 

sediment controls are required for all side slope and down slope boundaries of the construction area unless 
a sediment basin providing storage based on either the smaller of 3600 cubic feet per acre, or a size based 
on the run off volume of a 10 year, 24 hour storm is provided.  The outlet should be designed to drain the 
basin within twenty-four (24) to seventy-two (72) hours. (A rule of thumb is one square foot per acre for a 
spillway design.) The 24-hour limit is specified to provide adequate settling time; the seventy-two (72) 
hour limit is specified to mitigate vector control concerns. If a pipe outlet design is chosen for the outfall, 
then an emergency spillway is required.  However, in order to protect the waters of the State, the Director, 
at their discretion, may require a sediment basin for any drainage areas draining to a common point. 

 
b. Velocity Dissipation Devices: 
 

Velocity dissipation devices shall be placed at discharge locations, within concentrated flow areas serving two 



     Page 8 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

or more acres, and along the length of any outfall channel to provide a non-erosive flow velocity from the 
structure to a water course so that the natural physical and biological characteristics and functions are 
maintained and protected (i.e., no significant changes in the hydrological regime of the receiving water).  
Please note that the use of hay-bales is not recommended in areas of concentrated flow. 
 

J. Other Controls. 
 

1) No solid materials identified in Part I.B.13.D shall be discharged to waters of the State or offsite. 
2) Off-site vehicle tracking of sediments and the generation of dust shall be minimized through the use of a stabilized 

construction entrance and exit or vehicle tire washing. 
3) For lots that are less than one (1) acre in size an alternative method may be used in addition to a stabilized 

construction entrance.  An example of an alternative method could be daily street sweeping.  This could allow for 
the shortening of the construction entrance. 

4) The plan shall ensure and demonstrate compliance with applicable State or local waste disposal, temporary and 
permanent sanitary sewer or septic system regulations. 

5) No liquid concrete waste shall be discharged to waters of the State.  Appropriate controls to prevent the discharge 
of concrete washout waters shall be implemented if concrete washout will occur on-site.  

6) No contaminants from fuel storage areas, hazardous waste storage and truck wash areas shall be discharged to 
waters of the State or offsite.  Methods for protecting these areas shall be identified and implemented.  These areas 
shall not be located near a waterbody, if there is a water body on or near the project. 

 
K. Non-stormwater discharges.  Sources of non-stormwater listed in Part I.B.10 of this permit that are combined with 

stormwater discharges associated with construction activity shall be identified in the plan.  This list shall be site specific 
non-stormwater discharges. 
 

L. Post-Construction Stormwater Management.  The operator is required to provide a description of measures that will be 
installed during the construction process to control pollutants in stormwater discharges that will occur after construction 
operations have been completed.  Structural measures shall be placed on upland soils to the degree attainable. The 
installation of these devices may be subject to Section 404 (Corps of Engineers) of the Clean Water Act. This permit 
only addresses the installation of stormwater management measures, and not the ultimate operation and maintenance of 
such structures after the construction activities have been completed and the site has undergone final stabilization.  
However, post-construction stormwater BMPs that discharge pollutants from a point source once construction is 
completed may need authorization under a separate DEQ NPDES permit. Such practices may include but are not 
limited to: 
 

- infiltration of runoff onsite; 
- flow attenuation by use of open vegetated swales and natural depressions; 
- stormwater retention structures; 
- stormwater detention structures (including wet ponds); 
- sequential systems, which combine several practices. 
 

A goal of at least eighty percent 80 % removal of total suspended solids from these flows which exceed predevelopment 
levels should be used in designing and installing stormwater management controls (where practicable).  Where this goal 
is not met, the operator shall provide justification for rejecting each practice listed above based on site conditions. 
 

M. Applicable State or Local Programs.  The SWPPP shall be updated as necessary to reflect any revisions to applicable 
federal, state, or local requirements that affect the stormwater controls implemented at the site. 
 

N. Inspections.  Inspections shall be conducted by qualified personnel (provided by the operator).  Inspections shall 
include all areas of the site disturbed by construction activity and construction support activities located off site that are 
exposed to precipitation and to stormwater. Inspectors shall look for evidence of, or the potential for, pollutants entering 



     Page 9 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

the stormwater conveyance system.  All stormwater control measures shall be observed to ensure proper installation, 
operation, and maintenance.  Discharge locations shall be inspected to determine whether all stormwater control 
measures are effective in preventing significant impacts to waters of the State or offsite, where accessible.  Where 
discharge locations are inaccessible, nearby downstream locations shall be inspected to the extent that such inspections 
are practicable.  Locations where vehicles enter or exit the site shall be inspected for evidence of off-site sediment 
tracking.  Inspections may not be required if the remaining lot(s) within a larger common plan of development or sale 
disturb less than one acre of land  In addition, inspections may not be required on a completed section of a linear project 
if final stabilization has been completed for that section.  Stabilized areas of the project shall be indicated in the SWPPP 
and site map and show what date they were stabilized.  The operator shall ensure that no sediment will leave the lot(s) 
that are stabilized.  These lots shall be identified within the SWPPP and show what date they were stabilized.  If the 
operator is unable to ensure this, then inspections shall continue. 

 
1) Inspection Frequency.  Inspections shall be conducted in accordance with one of the following schedules listed 

below. The schedule must be specified in the SWPPP. 
 

a. At least once every seven (7) calendar days, or 
b. At least once every fourteen (14) calendar days and within twenty-four (24) hours of the end of a storm event 

of 0.25 inches or greater (a rain gauge must be maintained on-site).  
 

2) Inspection Form.  The DEQ inspection form should be used for all inspections.  The inspection form shall include 
all stormwater controls that are being used on site as well as at construction support activities off site.  The form is 
available on DEQ’s website www.adeq.state.ar.us.  If a different form is used, it shall at a minimum contain the 
following information: 

 
a. Inspector name and title; 
b. Date of Inspection; 
c. Amount of rainfall and days since last rain event (only applicable to Part II.A.4.N.1.b); 
d. Approximate beginning and duration of the storm event; 
e. Description of any discharges during inspection; 
f. Locations of discharges of sediment/other pollutants; 
g. Locations of BMPs in need of maintenance or where maintenance was performed; 
h. If the BMPs are in working order and if maintenance is required (including when scheduled and completed); 
i. Locations that are in need of additional controls; 
j. Location and dates when major construction activities begin, occur or cease;  
k. Signature of qualified signatory official, in accordance with Part II.B.9. 

 
Additional information may be added to the inspection report at the permittee’s discretion. 
 

3) Inspection Records. Each report shall be retained as part of the SWPPP for at least three (3) years from the date the 
site is finally stabilized. Each report shall be signed and have a certification statement in accordance with Parts 
II.B.9 and 10 of this permit. 

 
4) Winter Conditions.  Inspections will not be required at construction sites nor the construction support activities 

located off site where snow cover exists over the entire site for an extended period, and melting conditions do not 
exist.  If there is any runoff from the site at any time during snow cover, melting conditions are considered to be 
existent at the site and this inspection waiver does not apply.  Regular inspections, as required by this permit, are 
required at all other times as specified in this permit.  If winter conditions prevent compliance with the permit, 
documentation of the beginning and ending date of winter conditions shall be included in the SWPPP.   

 
5) Adverse Weather Conditions. Adverse conditions are those that are dangerous or create inaccessibility for 

personnel, such as local flooding, high winds, or electrical storms, or situations that otherwise make inspections 

http://www.adeq.state.ar.us/


     Page 10 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

impractical, such as extended frozen conditions. When adverse weather conditions prevent the inspection of the 
site, an inspection shall be completed as soon as is safe and feasible.  If adverse weather conditions prevent 
compliance with the permit, documentation of the beginning and ending date of adverse weather conditions shall be 
included in the SWPPP. 

 
O. Maintenance.  A description of procedures to maintain vegetation, erosion and sediment control measures and other 

protective measures in good, effective operating condition shall be outlined in the plan.  Any repairs that are needed 
based on an inspection shall be completed, when practicable, before the next storm event, but not to exceed a period of 
three (3) business days of discovery, or as otherwise directed by state or local officials.  However, if conditions do not 
permit large equipment to be used, a longer time frame is allowed if the condition is thoroughly documented on the 
inspection form.  Maintenance for manufactured controls shall be done at a minimum of the manufacturer’s 
specifications.  Maintenance for non-manufactured controls, i.e. check dams and sediment traps, shall be done when 
50% of treatment capacity remains. 
 

P. Employee Training. The permittee/operator is responsible for training personnel, who are responsible for implementing 
activities identified in the SWPPP, on the components and requirements of the SWPPP and the requirements of the 
general permit. This includes contractors and subcontractors. Training shall be given by a knowledgeable and qualified 
trainer. The SWPPP shall identify periodic dates for such training for all personnel and records of training shall be 
maintained with the SWPPP. Training records that are maintained electronically (i.e. database, etc.) do not need to be 
maintained with the SWPPP, but shall be accessible upon request.  Formal training classes given by Universities or 
other third-party organizations are not required but recommended for qualified trainers; the permittee is responsible for 
the content of the training being adequate for personnel to implement the requirements of the permit. 
 

5. Plan Certification. The SWPPP Certification shall be signed by either the operator or the cognizant official identified on 
the NOI. All documents required by the permit and other information requested by the Director shall be signed by operator 
or by a duly authorized representative of the operator (Please see Part II.B.10 below for certification). 
 

 



     Page 11 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

SECTION B:  STANDARD PERMIT CONDITIONS 
 

1. Retention of Records. 

 
A. The operator shall retain records of all Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plans, all inspection reports required by this 

permit, and records of all data used to complete the NOI to be covered by this permit for a period of at least three (3) 
years from the date the NOT letter is signed by DEQ.  This period may be extended by request of the Director at any 
time. 

 
B. The operator shall retain a signed copy of the SWPPP and inspection reports required by this permit at the construction 

site from the date of project initiation to the date of final stabilization. 
 

2. Duty to Comply.  The operator shall comply with all conditions of this permit.  Any permit noncompliance constitutes a 
violation of the federal Clean Water Act and the Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control Act and is grounds for: 
enforcement action; permit termination, revocation and re-issuance, or modification; or denial of a permit renewal 
application. 

 

3. Penalties for Violations of Permit Conditions.  The Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control Act (Ark. Code Ann. 8-4-
101 et seq.) provides that any person who violates any provisions of a permit issued under the Act shall be guilty of a 
misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to imprisonment for not more than one (1) year, or a criminal 
penalty of not more than twenty five thousand dollars ($25,000) or by both such fine and imprisonment for each day of such 
violation.  Any person who violates any provision of a permit issued under the Act may also be subject to civil penalty in 
such amount as the court shall find appropriate, not to exceed ten thousand dollars ($10,000) for each day of such violation. 
 The fact that any such violation may constitute a misdemeanor shall not be a bar to the maintenance of such civil action. 
Any person that purposely, knowingly, or recklessly causes pollution of the water of the state in a manner not otherwise 
permitted by law and thereby places another person in imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury shall be guilty of a 
felony and shall be subject to imprisonment, a fine not more than two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000), or both 
such fine and imprisonment. 

 

4. Continuance of the General Permit.  Permittees wishing to continue coverage under this general permit shall submit a 
Renewal NOI (see Part I.B.4 for where to submit documentation) up to 180 days prior to the expiration date, but no later 
than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration date. No additional fee is required to be submitted along with the Renewal NOI. 

 
An expired general permit continues in force and effect until a new general permit is issued.  If this permit is not re-issued 
or replaced prior to the expiration date, it will be administratively continued in accordance with Ark. Code Ann. § 8-4-
203(m) and remain in force and effect.  If a permittee was granted permit coverage prior to the expiration date, the permittee 
will remain covered by the continued permit until the earliest of:  

 
A. The effective date of the re-issuance or replacement of this permit and a timely submittal of a renewal NOI by the 

operator; or 
 

B. The operator’s submittal and DEQ approval of a NOT; or 
 
C. Issuance and effectiveness of an individual permit for the project’s discharges and completion of item B of this section 

(see Part I.B.24); or 
 
D. A formal permit decision by DEQ to not re-issue this general permit, at which time operators must seek coverage under 

an alternative permit (see Part I.B.24). 
 
Small site operators are responsible for ensuring that the site is in compliance with any changes or updates of this 
general permit by reviewing DEQ’s website at:  



     Page 12 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

 
https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/ 
 
 

5. Need to Halt or Reduce Activity Not a Defense.  It shall not be a defense for an operator in an enforcement action that it 
would have been necessary to halt or reduce the permitted activity in order to maintain compliance with the conditions of 
this permit.   

 

6. Duty to Mitigate.  The operator shall take all reasonable steps to minimize or prevent any discharge or sludge use or 
disposal in violation of this permit which has reasonable likelihood of adversely affecting human health or the environment. 

 

7. Duty to Provide Information.  The operator shall furnish to the Director, an authorized representative of the Director, the 
EPA, a State or local agency reviewing sediment and erosion plans, grading plans, or stormwater management plans, or in 
the case of a stormwater discharge associated with industrial activity which discharges through a MS4 with an NPDES 
permit, to the municipal operator of the system, within a reasonable time, any information which is requested to determine 
compliance with this permit. 

 

8. Other Information.  When the operator becomes aware that he or she failed to submit any relevant facts or submitted 
incorrect information in the NOI or in any other report to the Director, he or she shall promptly submit such facts or 
information. 

 

9. Signatory Requirements.  All NOIs, reports, or information submitted to the Director shall be signed and certified by the 
operator. 

 
A. All NOI shall be signed as follows: 

 
1) For a corporation: by a responsible corporate officer.  For purposes of this section, a responsible corporate officer 

means: 
 

a. A president, treasurer, or vice-president of the corporation in charge of a principal business function, or any 
other person who performs similar policy or decision-making functions for the corporation; or 

 
b. The manager of one or more manufacturing, production, or operating facilities, provided, the manager is 

authorized to make management decisions which govern the operation of the regulated facility including 
having the explicit or implicit duty of making major capital investment recommendations, and initiating and 
directing other comprehensive measures to ensure long term environmental compliance with environmental 
laws and regulations; the manager can ensure that the necessary systems are established or actions taken to 
gather complete and accurate information for permit application requirements; and where authority to sign 
documents has been assigned or delegated to the manager in accordance with corporate procedures. 

 
2) For a partnership or sole proprietorship: by a general partner or the proprietor, respectively;  

 
3) For a municipality, State, Federal or other public agency: by either a principal executive or ranking elected official. 

 For purposes of this section, a principal executive officer of a Federal agency includes: 
 

a. The chief executive officer of the agency; or 
 

b. A senior executive officer having responsibility for the overall operations of a principal geographic unit of the 
agency. 

 
B. All reports required by the permit and other information requested by the Director shall be signed by a person described 

https://www.adeq.state.ar.us/water/permits/npdes/stormwater/


     Page 13 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

above or by a duly authorized representative of that person. A person is a duly authorized representative only if: 
 

1) The authorization is made in writing by a person described above and submitted to the Director; 
 

2) The authorization specifies either an individual or a person having responsibility for the overall operation of the 
regulated facility or activity, such as the position of plant manager, operator of a well or a well field, 
superintendent, or position of equivalent responsibility, or position of equivalent responsibility for environmental 
matters for the company (A duly authorized representative may thus be either a named individual or any individual 
occupying a named position); and 

 
3) Changes to authorization.  If an authorization under this Part is no longer accurate because a different individual or 

position has responsibility for the overall operation of the facility, a new authorization satisfying the above 
requirements shall be submitted to the Director prior to or together with any reports, information, or applications to 
be signed by an authorized representative. 

 

10. Certification.  Any person signing a document under this section shall make the following certification: 
 

"I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments such as Inspection Form were prepared under my 
direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to ensure that qualified personnel properly gather and 
evaluate the information submitted.  Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons 
directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
true, accurate, and complete.  I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the 
possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing violations." 

 

Note: For this permit only, “this document” refers to the Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan, “attachments” refers to the 
site map and inspection forms, and “system” is referencing the project site.   
 

11. Penalties for Falsification of Reports.  The Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control Act provides that any person who 
knowingly makes any false statement, representation, or certification in any application, record, report, plan or other 
document filed or required to be maintained under this permit shall be subject to civil penalties specified in Part II.B.3 of 
this permit and/or criminal penalties under the authority of the Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control Act (Ark. Code 
Ann. 8-4-101 et seq.). 

 

12. Penalties for Tampering.  The Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control act provides that any person who falsifies, 
tampers with, or knowingly renders inaccurate any monitoring device or method required to be maintained under the Act 
shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction thereof shall be subject to imprisonment for not more than one (1) 
year or a fine of not more than twenty five thousand dollars ($25,000) or by both such fine and imprisonment. 

 

13. Oil and Hazardous Substance Liability.  Nothing in this permit shall be construed to preclude the institution of any legal 
action or relieve the operator from any responsibilities, liabilities, or penalties to which the operator is or may be subject 
under Section 311 of the Clean Water Act or Section 106 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, 
and Liability Act (CERCLA). 

 

14. Property Rights.  The issuance of this permit does not convey any property rights of any sort or any exclusive privileges, 
nor does it authorize any injury to private property, any invasion of personal rights, or any infringement of Federal, State, or 
local laws or regulations. 

 

15. Severability.  The provisions of this permit are severable.  If any provisions of this permit or the application of any 
provision of this permit to any circumstance is held invalid, the application of such provisions to other circumstances and 
the remainder of this permit shall not be affected thereby. 

 



     Page 14 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

16. Transfers.  This permit is not transferable to any person except after notice to the Director.  A transfer form shall be 
submitted to DEQ as required by this permit. 

 

17. Proper Operation and Maintenance.  The operator shall at all times: 
 

A. Properly operate and maintain all systems of treatment and control (and related appurtenances) which are installed or 
used by the operator to achieve compliance with the conditions of this permit.   This provision requires the operation of 
backup or auxiliary facilities or similar systems which are installed by an operator only when the operation is necessary 
to achieve compliance with the conditions of the permit. 

B. Provide an adequate operating staff which is duly qualified to carry out operation, inspection, maintenance, and testing 
functions required to ensure compliance with the conditions of this permit. 

 

18. Inspection and Entry.  The operator shall allow the Director, the EPA, or an authorized representative, or, in the case of a 
construction site which discharges to a municipal separate storm sewer, an authorized representative of the municipal 
operator of the separate sewer system receiving the discharge, upon the presentation of credentials and other documents as 
may be required by law, to: 

 
A. Enter upon the operator's premises where a regulated facility or activity is located or conducted, or where records shall 

be kept under the conditions of this permit; 
B. Have access to and copy, at reasonable times, any records that shall be kept under the conditions of this permit; 
C. Inspect at reasonable times any facilities or equipment, including monitoring and control equipment and practices or 

operations regulated or required by the permit; 
D. Sample or monitor at reasonable times, for the purposes of assuring permit compliance or as otherwise authorized by 

the CWA, any substances or parameters at any location on the permitted property. 
 

19. Permit Actions.  This permit may be modified, revoked and reissued, or terminated for any cause including, but not limited 
to, the following; 

 
A. Violation of any terms or conditions of this permit;  
B. Obtaining this permit by misrepresentation or failure to fully disclose all relevant facts;  
C. A change in any conditions that requires either a temporary or permanent reduction or elimination of the authorized 

discharge;  
D. A determination that the permitted activity endangers human health or the environment and can only be regulated to 

acceptable levels by permit modification or termination; or 
E. Failure of the operator to comply with the provisions of DEQ Rule 9 (Fee Rule).  Failure to promptly remit all required 

fees shall be grounds for the Director to initiate action to terminate this permit under the provisions of 40 C.F.R. 
§122.64 and §124.5(d), as adopted by reference in DEQ Rule 6, and the provisions of DEQ Rule 8. 

 

20. Re-Opener Clause. 

 
A. If there is evidence indicating potential or realized impacts on water quality due to any stormwater discharge associated 

with industrial activity covered by this permit, the operator of such discharge may be required to obtain an individual 
permit or an alternative general permit in accordance with Part I.B.24 of this permit, or the permit may be modified to 
include different limitations and/or requirements. 

 
B. Permit modification or revocation will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of 40 C.F.R. §122.62, §122.63, 

§122.64 and §124.5, as adopted by reference in DEQ Rule 6. 
 

21. Local Requirements.  All dischargers shall comply with the lawful requirements of municipalities, counties, drainage 
districts, and other local agencies regarding any discharges of stormwater to storm drain systems or other water sources 
under their jurisdiction, including applicable requirements in municipal stormwater management programs developed to 



     Page 15 of Part II 
Permit No. ARR150000 

 

 

comply with the DEQ permits.  Dischargers shall comply with local stormwater management requirements, policies, or 
guidelines including erosion and sediment control.   

 
22. Applicable Federal, State, or local Requirements. Permittees are responsible for compliance with all applicable terms 

and conditions of this permit.  Receipt of this permit does not relieve any operator of the responsibility to comply with any 
other applicable federal, state or local statute, ordinance policy, or regulation. Nothing in this permit shall be construed to 
preclude the institution of any legal action or enforcement actions or relieve the permittee from any responsibilities, 
liabilities, or penalties established pursuant to any applicable local state, or federal law or regulation. 

 



cu
rb

 in
let

 rim
 7.

5 I
nv

#1
56

9

RI
M 

EL
EV

=4
08

.61

7.0
2 I

nv
 cu

rb
 in

let
 rim

#1
57

1

RI
M 

EL
EV

=4
08

.34

W W

sd
mh

 rim
 4.

68
 In

v
#2

35
0

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
89

.02
sd

mh
 rim

 5.
88

 In
v

#2
35

1

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
88

.79

Ss
mh

 9.
10

 IN
V

#6
20

5

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
97

.59

BIKE/WALK PATH

SID
EW

AL
K

8''
SS

8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS 8'' SS

Fnd flagged ip

Fnd
 r4

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

W

SS
MH

 FL
 EL

EV
: 3

90
.36

#2
38

8

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
94

.62SS
MH

 FL
 EL

EV
: 3

85
.46

#2
38

9

RI
M 

EL
EV

=3
90

.28

C1.0

 P A

J:\
Pr

oje
cts

\2
02

2 P
roj

ec
ts\

22
14

0 V
ern

ia 
Of

fic
e P

ark
\D

raw
ing

s\S
ur

ve
y\2

21
40

-Jo
hn

-E
ck

art
-S

po
rts

-E
VA

-G
ym

-0
30

82
3-

R3
A.d

wg

De
sig

nin
g o

ur 
cli

en
t's

 su
cce

ss
GN

E gar
nat

eng
ine

eri
ng

@g
ma

il.c
om

Br
ya

nt,
 A

R 
72

02
2

38
25

 M
t C

arm
el 

Rd

Ph
 (5

01
) 4

08
-4

65
0

P.
O.

 B
ox

 11
6

Be
nto

n, 
AR

 72
01

8

Ga
rN

at
 En

gin
ee

rin
g, 

LL
C

22140

MARCH 13, 2023

A N
EW

 EL
ITE

 VO
LL

EY
BA

LL
AC

AD
EM

Y G
YM

FO
R J

OH
N 

EC
KA

RT
VE

RN
IA

 O
FF

ICE
 PA

RK
BR

YA
NT

, A
RK

AN
SA

S

70' DETENTION
AREA ESMT.

25' SETBACK - UTILITY -
DRAINAGE EASEMENT

E
LE

C
TR

IC
 B

O
X

PARKING SPACES:
2 HANDICAP SPACES
90 CUSTOMER SPACES
92 PARKING SPACES TOTAL

SIGN TO DESIGNATE SPOT
AS HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE
(2 TOTAL)

CURB & ASPH.
FLUSH

CURB 6" TURN DOWN

CURB & ASPH.
FLUSH

CURB 6" TURN DOWN

BUILDING FINISH FLOOR = 400
21,225 SQUARE FEET

CURB STOP (TYP.)
(4 TOTAL)

EXISTING PATH

VOLLEYBALL
NETTING SYSTEM

9'

18'

PARKING
SPACE (TYP.)

REMOVE 5' OF PATH TO INSTALL
STORM DRAIN THEN REBUILD AND
CONSTRUCT REST OF PATH TO
INTERSECTION.

INSTALL 48 LF OF
MODIFIED CURB

STORM DRAIN BOX (TYP.)
SEE SHEET C3.0

HENRY AVENUE

CHRISTY LANE

24'

24'

24'

24'

ARDOT STANDARD
TYPE A CURB

5' WIDE STAIR
WITH RAILING

(7 STEPS)

6.5' WIDE WALK

7' WIDE WALK

6.5' WIDE WALK

PROPOSED CONCRETE

PROPOSED ASPHALT

EXISTING CONCRETE

LEGEND:

NOTES:

1. SITE PAVEMENT MARKINGS SHALL BE 4" WIDE WHITE
PAINT (PER ARDOT STANDARD SPECIFICATION
SECTION 718)

DUMPSTER NOT
SHOWN YET!!!



  
 

PH: (501)408-4650 FX: (888) 900-3068 www.garnatengineering.com 

P.O. Box 116  

Benton, AR 72018 

GNE 
3825 Mt Carmel Rd. 

Bryant, AR 72022 GarNat Engineering, LLC 

March 8, 2023 

 

Mr. Truett Smith 

Bryant Planning Coordinator/Planning Commission Secretary 

210 SW 3rd Street 

Bryant, AR 72022 

 

Re: Large Scale Development Commercial Building – A New Elite Voleyball 

 

Dear Mr. Smith: 

 

Please accept this letter and following list of enclosures to serve as my application for approval of the referenced 

large scale development. It is my desire that this matter be included on the agenda for your May 2023 City of Bryant 

Planning Commission Meeting.  

 

List of Enclosures 

 2 Full Set Plans 

 Affidavit 

 8 copies of Site Plan 

 Drainage Study 

 Bryant Large Development Checklist 

 ADA/ABA Form 

 

If you have questions or need any additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

 

Sincerely, 

GarNat Engineering, LLC 

 
Vernon J. Williams, P.E., President 




	Call to Order
	Approval of Minutes
	Announcements
	Director's Report
	DRC Report
	Public Hearing
	Old Business
	New Business
	Adjournments
	Sheets and Views
	SURVEY LANDSCAPE

	Sheets and Views
	V1.0 - FINAL PLAT

	Sheets and Views
	SURVEY GW

	Sheets and Views
	24x36 P (4)

	Sheets and Views
	Layout1

	Sheets and Views
	C1.0 SITE PLAN

	Reynolds Road Storage Maintenance Plan-1-EXECUTED.pdf
	MAINTENANCE PLAN A
	Sheets and Views
	MAINTENANCE PLAN A


	18087 Bart Ferguson - Market Place Center- ERC NOTES.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.0 - ERC NOTES


	18087 Bart Ferguson - Market Place Center- ERC.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.1 ERC


	18087 Bart Ferguson - Market Place Center- ERC NOTES.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.0 - ERC NOTES


	ERC & GRADING PLAN.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	GRADING PLAN


	7- C4.0 EROSION CONTROL PLAN.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.0 ERC


	TEC 1 and 4.pdf
	TEC-1.pdf
	84-tec-4

	7- C4.0 EROSION CONTROL PLAN.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.0 ERC


	10- C4.0 EROSION CONTROL PLAN.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.0 ERC


	8- ERC 2.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.0 ERC


	arr150000_final_permit_signed_ajy.pdf
	PART I
	PERMIT REQUIREMENTS
	SECTION A: DEFINITIONS WITH INCLUDED COMMENTARY
	SECTION B:  COVERAGE UNDER THIS PERMIT

	STANDARD CONDITIONS
	SECTION A:  STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLANS (SWPPP)
	SECTION B:  STANDARD PERMIT CONDITIONS


	Reynolds Road Storage Maintenance Plan-1-EXECUTED.pdf
	MAINTENANCE PLAN A
	Sheets and Views
	MAINTENANCE PLAN A


	Drainage Study Summary.pdf
	PRE DRAINAGE BASIN
	Sheets and Views
	PRE DRAINAGE BASIN


	POST DRAINAGE BASIN
	Sheets and Views
	POST DRAINAGE BASIN


	Basin Calc - Full Set
	Pre Tc.pdf
	Post Tc
	Pre C
	Post C
	Q
	Weir
	Detention Culverts
	Outlet Pipe Capacity
	Ditch Capacity

	INLET BASIN MAP
	Sheets and Views
	INLET BASIN MAP


	Inlet Calc - Full Set
	Inlet Tc.pdf
	Inlet C
	Inlet Q
	Inlet Gutter Spread
	Inlet Curb Inlet

	Sheets and Views
	L1.1 - LANDSCAPING NOTES & DETAILS

	Sheets and Views
	L1.0 - LANDSCAPE PLAN

	Sheets and Views
	C1.0 - SITE PLAN

	Page 1.pdf
	Maintenance Plan - Figure
	Sheets and Views
	MAINTENANCE PLAN A


	18087 Bart Ferguson - Market Place Center- ERC NOTES.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.0 - ERC NOTES


	18087 Bart Ferguson - Market Place Center- ERC.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.1 ERC


	18087 Bart Ferguson - Market Place Center- ERC NOTES.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.0 - ERC NOTES


	ERC & GRADING PLAN.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	GRADING PLAN


	7- C4.0 EROSION CONTROL PLAN.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.0 ERC


	TEC 1 and 4.pdf
	TEC-1.pdf
	84-tec-4

	7- C4.0 EROSION CONTROL PLAN.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.0 ERC


	10- C4.0 EROSION CONTROL PLAN.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.0 ERC


	8- ERC 2.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C4.0 ERC


	arr150000_final_permit_signed_ajy.pdf
	PART I
	PERMIT REQUIREMENTS
	SECTION A: DEFINITIONS WITH INCLUDED COMMENTARY
	SECTION B:  COVERAGE UNDER THIS PERMIT

	STANDARD CONDITIONS
	SECTION A:  STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLANS (SWPPP)
	SECTION B:  STANDARD PERMIT CONDITIONS


	Sheets and Views
	C1.0 - SITE PLAN


